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Letter of transmittal

Hon Jay Weatherill MP
Minister for Families and Communities
Minister for Housing
Minister for Ageing
Minister for Disability

Hon Jennifer Rankine MP
Minister for the Status of Women

Dear Ministers

I am pleased to present to you the Annual Report for the South Australian Department for Families and
Communities for the year ended 30 June 2006.

This Annual Report provides a summary of the department's key achievements for the 2005-06 financial
year, reports on progress against targets of South Australia's Strategic Plan and outlines some of our key
priorities for 2006-07. This report complies with the Public Sector Management Act 1995 and the Public
Finance and Audit Act 1987.

I would particularly like to thank our staff who have responded professionally to ongoing reform within
our department and have continued to ensure the highest quality of service is delivered to our clients.

On behalf of all staff of the Department for Families and Communities, I commend this report to you as a
fair and accurate representation of our efforts and achievements of the past year.

Ms Sue Vardon AO
Chief Executive
Department for Families and Communities

30 September 2006
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Firstly, we have developed the concept of
Connected Service Centres throughout South
Australia.  At these sites, our three service arms
will be together and the reception staff will be
trained in the whole service offer of the
department.  The first purpose-built facility is
scheduled to open in late 2007 in Mount Gambier.
We have given the responsibility of its design to
the staff in that area with some help from
specialists in Adelaide.  Second, we are building an
integrated case management system and have
been assisted in this by the Department of Human
Services in Victoria.  Third, we are building an
electronic reference suite so that all our
information is easily accessible to all of our staff.
Fourth, a whole of department customer service
strategy has been designed which will also increase
our value to the South Australian community.
We have been constantly improving our website 
to make it a channel of service and not a public
relations exercise. 

A very large part of our budget goes on
supporting the many hundreds of community
agencies who work with us in achieving the
aspirations of Connecting to the Future.

We made a lot of progress in making it easier for
them to be our strategic partners, including
reducing the complexities of tendering and
streamlining the contracts we have with them.
In areas where we jointly fund with the Australian
Government, we have sought to get shared
purposes more clearly defined.  In the next year,
we will be working on a better way to act
regionally to strengthen communities.

This department relies heavily on volunteers and so
we improved our relationships with them by
establishing a Volunteers Unit on 12 December
2005, and clarified our policies and administrative
practices with a view to being more consistent and
supportive.  Minister Weatherill and Minister
Rankine thanked the volunteers for their
contribution at a number of events of recognition.
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If we are going to look after the citizens better,
then we need to look after our staff better too.
This year saw a lot of progress here with the
establishment of a College for Learning and
Development, the creation of the Youth
Challenges, and the survey of staff to identify
those areas where we can improve.  We still have
not solved the problem of keeping our older staff
whose valuable skills we can ill afford to lose but
that is next year's challenge.  Throughout our
department, managers are getting better at
keeping staff informed of what is happening, and 
I have kept a weekly bulletin going to make sure
that if people want to know what is happening
overall, they can access this on the intranet.  The
feedback has been quite positive.  We have had
recognition ceremonies to recognise excellence in
our staff's work.

Our initiatives in opening other opportunities for
affordable housing have been extensive.  We are
finding new partners in the private and not for
profit sectors, and working on new ways to
increase the numbers of housing offers.  We work
very positively with the Land Management
Corporation and our colleagues in other
government departments in this area.

Globally, there has been an increase in human and
natural caused disasters.  South Australia has
experienced an increase too.  The impact on us has
been the need to define the whole area of
Recovery and to be ready at all times to respond
quickly.  Our Office of Recovery has established a
reputation for good practice locally and nationally.

We have a number of important reference groups
who help us: the Council for the Care of Children,
the Carers' Reference Group, the Disability
Advisory Council of South Australia, the Ministerial
Advisory Board on Ageing, and informally, a
Grandparents' group.  Every member of these
groups has given us wonderful service and advice
as we roll out our programs.

It has been a pleasure to Chair the Women's
Safety Strategy Whole of Government Reference
Group for Minister Rankine because it has been
represented by a group of committed agencies
designing new ways of tackling the important
issue of violence against women.

This department has celebrated its second year
since the division of the Department for Human
Services into two.  This has been a year of bringing
together all the disparate parts of our department
through some significant governance changes.
The need for reform was driven by the Minister's
strategic agenda, Connecting to the Future, and
the strategic challenges set for us by South
Australia's Strategic Plan.

At all times we have been concerned about
improving services to the citizens of this State.
Over the years, we had made access to various
services quite complex in spite of very good will on
the part of our people.  We are now tackling this
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complexity.  The governance reforms have created
three service arms, Families SA, Disability Services
SA and Housing SA.  This is a start.  The next
challenge is to integrate those agencies so that
citizens don't have to travel around from place to
place.  Often people who need our help have little
resources to negotiate with governments, and we
have to make ourselves more accessible to them.

In this year, we have progressed four significant
actions to increase our accessibility and become
more focused on being of greater help when
people need us.

“This has been another productive year of rolling out the Government's agenda, Connecting to the
Future, and supporting the achievements of South Australia's Strategic Plan.  I am pleased with our
progress, and our continued level of commitment, as we strive to make a difference.”

Ms Sue Vardon AO
Chief Executive
Department for Families and Communities
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Our corporate services in finance, human
resources, property, purchasing and audit are all
managed by people with a strong sense of social
purpose and supporting the direct service
providers.  They have had to work exceptional
hours this year as we have both built a new
department and dealt with the complexities of
governance reform.  They remind us of the best
standards of public service administration and I
have been very grateful for their work this year.

Our service delivery staff are dedicated and caring
people.  Sometimes the organisation is not as
useful to their problem solving as it could be.  Our
challenge is for them to say that they are well
supported in their daily business.  I will not be
satisfied until they do.

Within the Families and Communities part of the
portfolio, there are occasions when public criticism
is drawn.  At all times, we have been privileged to
work for a Minister with a clear vision and a
creative mind who understands the complexities of
our work and encourages us to do better.  The fact
that you support our people in the Parliament and
publicly is appreciated.

Ms Sue Vardon AO
Chief Executive
Department for Families and Communities
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We make things happen for our customers by
applying our values: connected, ethical, brave and
respectful. Our customers and their families are
central to our existence; we pride ourselves on
high quality customer focussed services, and we
seek continuous improvement in all that we do.
Our people are vital to our success. We care for
each other; we respect diversity and promote
inclusion and we ensure that we all have the skills,
knowledge and resources to grow, be our best and
achieve our strategic objectives.

Connected

• We respond to the needs, expectations and
aspirations of the people we serve and their families

• We place the customer at the centre of our
planning and decision making

• We galvanise the resources of the community 
to include people with disabilities

• We build relationships with our customers,
partners, other departments, governments,
volunteers and the community

• We look at the big picture as well as the detail

• Managers and staff engage together in open
consultation on matters concerning policies and
corporate issues

• We communicate at all levels in a clear,
accessible, open, timely and effective manner

• We collaborate across Department for Families
and Communities and with our partners to
achieve our strategic objectives

• We support our colleagues to perform at their best

• We emphasise teamwork across Department 
for Families and Communities 

• We share, capture and make knowledge
accessible to improve our decision making

• We promote Department for Families and
Communities as a great place to work

• We use continuous improvement principles and
tools to drive improvement in our services.

Ethical

• We go out of our way to ensure customers 
are satisfied

• We follow up on our promises to our customers

• We use fair decision making processes that
produce transparent decisions

• We are accountable for our actions, and take
responsibility for the outcomes

• We live up to our responsibilities as public
servants, particularly in respect to the Code 
of Conduct and ethical behaviour

• We act in accordance with policy and our
business delegations

• We will implement work practices and systems,
which are environmentally friendly and
contribute to a sustainable future.

Brave

• We are decisive; we get things started 
and move them to completion

• We look for innovative ways to help our
customers

• We welcome new ideas

• We adapt our programs and services to suit
changing environments

• We voice our opinions without fear

• We support people who make mistakes while
making use of the insights gained to improve
service quality.

Respectful

• We recognise good work and customer service

• We are honest, friendly and fair in our dealings
with colleagues and customers

• We respect each others' differences and
celebrate diversity within the organisation

• We uphold the principles of the Department 
for Families and Communities' Statement of
Reconciliation

• We respect contributions from each other

• We celebrate success

• We look after our own workplace safety, 
and that of our colleagues and customers

• We respect the knowledge, capabilities and
contributions of our customers

• Managers lead by example and staff model 
a positive attitude towards each other.
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Our Operating Principles

Deprived or disadvantaged people and
communities have poorer housing, poorer health,
poorer education, poorer life expectancy, fewer
job opportunities and higher crime rates - than
communities that prosper. Our efforts to build a
socially inclusive society will help to close the gap.

Our commitment

Children, young people, older South Australians
and families can expect to be safe, supported and
connected.

Access to safe, secure, affordable and appropriate
housing is central to the health and quality of life
of individuals and families.

The provision of shelter is our first obligation to
those in need or at risk of harm. Strong links, with
defined and discrete responsibilities, between
those who provide accommodation and those
who deliver services, is the key to sustaining safety
and well being.

Our services

The people we serve: individuals, families and the
community are at the centre of our planning and
decision-making. The privilege and the dignity of
choice is our guide. We recognise the differences
of ages, cultures and abilities. We listen, respond
and integrate the values, views and aspirations of
our customers into the way forward.

Our work takes us into people's lives, their
relationships and their changing life circumstances.
This requires us to act with respect, humility and
sound judgement.

Our responses

Responses that are flexible, immediate but also
sustained; that tackle the issues early and
considers the whole person, now and tomorrow,
will deliver future success. We let the facts, not
our presumptions, determine the course of action.
We anticipate and prevent problems.

We are accountable for spending public money
wisely. Resources need to be deployed effectively
to build individual capacities and strong
communities across the State. We draw on a
shared knowledge of what works well, on new
thinking and emerging evidence to achieve value
for money in matching resources to need.

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander South
Australians continue to be the most disadvantaged
citizens across all indicators. Recognising this, our
programs, responses and our efforts will target the
complex, entrenched and inter-related
circumstances that are impediments to Aboriginal
and Torres Strait Islander people moving forward.

Our partners

We continue to build our relationships with our
partners in other sectors, other governments,
volunteers and the community. A commitment to
a shared and common purpose is the foundation
for agreement. We collaborate actively in our joint
endeavours.

Our people

Valued and well supported employees who know
what is expected of them are critical to business
success. The community benefits from the
contributions of our people as workers, leaders,
volunteers and carers.

Our communication

We are committed to communication that is clear
and accessible. It is open, timely and effective.

In 2005-06, we successfully implemented a series
of new initiatives and advanced the priorities of
the department, as identified in Connecting to the
Future: the strategic agenda for the Department
for Families and Communities 2005-08. 
During 2005-06 we:

Objective 1
Affordable housing choices and 
communities that prosper

• established the Affordable Housing Innovations
Unit, in September 2005, to pursue private,
community and government partnerships for
the supply of new affordable housing outcomes

• established the Affordable Housing Innovations
Fund for investment in new affordable and high
need projects

• commenced development of the first Connected
Service Centre in Mount Gambier

• achieved a significant landmark of 50 000
HomeStart loan settlements

• introduced the HomeStart skilled migrant
initiative to improve access to home finance for
new, permanent, skilled migrants

• implemented the Private Rental Liaison Officers
project in seven South Australian Housing 
Trust offices, including metropolitan and 
country areas

• provided national leadership in the development
and implementation of a three-year Framework
for National Action on Affordable Housing,
which was signed in August 2005 by State,
Territory and Australian Government Ministers
for Housing, Planning and Local Government.

Objective 2
High need housing

• successfully negotiated the fifth Supported
Accommodation Assistance Program (SAAP)
Agreement with the Australian Government

• launched Street to Home, an inner city service
which works intensively with rough sleepers 
in the city

Major highlights for 2005-2006

• allocated $2.5 million to fund personal 
support services for people with psychiatric
disabilities who were long-term homeless 
or sleeping rough

• implemented the first payment of the South
Australian Government initiative to provide
eligible Supported Residential Facilities with a
reimbursement of 75%, up to $80 000, against
their costs to install residential sprinkler systems

• facilitated 12 Supported Accommodation
Demonstration Projects throughout South
Australia for people with complex needs

• developed and implemented a Service
Agreement and Protocol between the South
Australian Housing Trust, the Aboriginal Housing
Authority and South Australia Police, to address
issues of disruption and crime within social
housing properties.

Objective 3
Independence and community connection

• introduced the Retirement Villages
(Miscellaneous) Amendment Bill 2005 
into Parliament

• launched Improving with Age - Our Ageing Plan
for South Australia

• enacted the Carers Recognition Act 2005

• allocated $13 million in Home and Community
Care funding for new and expanded projects
and payment of indexation

• funded 414 one-off projects to assist 
non-government community service agencies
for a total of $3.9 million through Community
Benefit SA

• developed a new and improved version of 
the Service Excellence Framework, titled 
Service Excellence II

• established the Department for Families and
Communities Volunteers Unit

• identified new gambling service priorities and
undertook developmental work to expand
services in the areas of young people, cultural
groups, Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander
services and intensive gambling treatment
services
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• extended the Energy Concessions of $120 
per annum, and the one-off $150 Energy
Concession Bonus to single people receiving
eligible Centrelink benefits and allowances, full-
time students receiving Abstudy and Austudy,
and those participating in the New Enterprise
Incentive Scheme and the Commonwealth
Development Employment Program.

Objective 4
Keeping Them Safe and connected

• amended the Children's Protection Act 1993 
to strengthen the safety and best interests of
children and young people

• launched the Charter of Rights for Children and
Young People

• established Rapid Response: whole-of-
government services to support the needs 
of children and young people under the
guardianship of the Minister

• launched the Child Protection Development Plan

• implemented a Child Protection Memorandum
of Understanding with the Department 
of Health

• established a transitional home at Woodcroft for
young people at risk

• established the Child Death and Serious Injury
Review Committee

• established Breaking the Cycle, an intensive case
management approach to working with serious
and persistent offenders in the 16 to 20 year
age group, which was developed in
collaboration with the Social Inclusion Board,
the Department for Correctional Services and
the Attorney-General's Department

• launched the revised Foster Carers Charter: 
Our commitment to Relative, Kinship and 
Foster Carers.

Objective 5

Effective and sustainable business practices

• provided recovery support, under the Emergency
Management Act 2004, after a number of
natural disasters both within South Australia
and internationally

Major highlights for 2005-2006

• developed an Information and Communication
Technology strategy

• received approval to exempt community services
funding agreements from the State Procurement
Act 2004

• established a College for Learning and
Development to strengthen organisational
capacity

• completed our first whole-of-organisation
Australian Business Excellence Framework 
self assessment

• implemented important sustainability strategies
in the key areas of water, waste and energy

• established the Research Ethics Committee to
assess all applications to conduct research
within the department, or amongst our clients

• implemented a comprehensive recruitment 
and attraction strategy, including a graduate
recruitment program.

Office for Women
• collaborated with the Premier's Council for

Women to maintain and expand the online
Premier's Women's Directory

• developed a Women in Leadership plan to assist
women with limited experience on boards and
committees

• established the Women's Safety Strategy
Whole-of-Government Reference Group

• co-ordinated an annual gathering of 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women 
in South Australia

• arranged for the participation of South
Australian Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander
women at the national gathering of Aboriginal
and Torres Strait Islander women

• established a Gender Analysis project in
partnership with the University of Adelaide,
University of Western Australia and the Western
Australian Office for Women's Policy

• organised a pilot program through the Women's
Information Service, which offers training to
women who have experienced domestic violence
and are fearful to go to the Family Court.

Office for Youth
• published the first Celebrating Success report

highlighting the achievements, across
government, in implementing the South
Australian Youth Action Plan

• held four Youth Policy forums on policy 
and program issues affecting young people

• achieved a record number of 1726 new
participants for the Duke of Edinburgh's Award

• released Pathways for the Future 2005-07,
outlining the Minister's Youth Council's
commitment to progressing South Australia's
Strategic Plan and the South Australian Youth
Action Plan

• provided funding to local councils and 
non-government agencies to run 105 activities
and highlight the positive contribution of 
young people to our society as part of National
Youth Week.

Major highlights for 2005-2006
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Ministers
The Department for Families and Communities is responsible to two Ministers:

Legislation
Acts administered by the Department for Families
and Communities as at 30 June 2006:

Families and Communities portfolio

• Adoption Act 1988

• Adoption Regulations 1989

• Carers Recognition Act 2005

• Child Protection Review (Powers and
Immunities) Act 2002

• Children's Protection Act 1993

• Commission of Inquiry 
(Children in State Care) Act 2004

• Family and Community Services Act 1972

• Family and Community Services Regulations 1995

Governance arrangements

Housing portfolio

• Housing Agreement Act 1991

• Housing and Urban Development
(Administrative Arrangements) Act 1995

• Housing Improvement Act 1940

• South Australian Co-operative and Community
Housing Act 1991

• South Australian Housing Trust Act 1995

• Supported Residential Facilities Act 1992

• Supported Residential Facilities Regulations 1994

Ageing portfolio

• Aged Citizens Clubs (Subsidies) Act 1963

• Office for the Ageing Act 1995

• Retirement Villages Act 1987

• Retirement Villages Regulations 2002

Disability portfolio

• Disability Services Act 1993

Hon Jay Weatherill MP
Minister for Families and Communities
Minister for Housing
Minister for Ageing
Minister for Disability

Hon Jennifer Rankine MP
Minister for the Status of Women

Boards, committees and trusts
The Department for Families and Communities
provides administrative support to the following
boards, committees and trusts, as at 30 June 2006:

Families and Communities portfolio

• Charitable and Social Welfare Fund Board
(Community Benefit SA)

• Child Death and Serious Injury Review Committee

• Council for the Care of Children

• Dame Roma Mitchell Trust Fund for Children
and Young People Board

• Supported Residential Facilities 
Advisory Committee

Housing portfolio

• Community Housing Appeals Panel

• HomeStart Finance - Asset and Liability
Committee

• HomeStart Finance - Audit Committee

• HomeStart Finance Board of Management

• Housing and Urban Development Advisory
Committee (joint committee with Minister for
Urban Development and Planning)

• Housing Council - Community Sector

• Public Housing Appeals Panel

• South Australian Aboriginal Housing Authority
Board of Management

• South Australian Community Housing Authority

• South Australian Community Housing Authority -
Audit Sub-committee

• South Australian Community Housing Authority -
Finance Sub-committee

• South Australian Housing Trust - 
Audit Sub-committee

• South Australian Housing Trust - 
Finance Sub-committee

• South Australian Housing Trust Board of
Management

• Westwood Urban Renewal Project Committee

Governance arrangements

Ageing portfolio

• Ministerial Advisory Board on Ageing

• Retirement Villages Advisory Committee

Disability portfolio

• Disability Advisory Council of South Australia

• Independent Living Centre of SA Inc

• Intellectual Disability Services Council

• Julia Farr Services Board of Directors

Status of Women portfolio

• Premier's Council for Women

The following portfolio boards, committees and
trusts concluded in 2005-06:

• Children's Interest Bureau

• Children's Protection Advisory Council

• Home and Community Care Ministerial Advisory
Committee

• HomeStart Finance - Risk Transfer Vehicle
Committee

• South Australian Community Housing Authority -
Policy and Property Sub-committee

The Department for Further Education, Employment,
Science and Technology (DFEEST) assumed
responsibility for the following portfolio boards,
committees and trusts following the transfer of the
Office for Youth to DFEEST in March 2006:

• Duke of Edinburgh's Award State Award
Committee

• Minister's Youth Council
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Organisational structure

Social Inclusion, 
Strategy and Research

Director
Liz Wilson

Organisational
Development

Director
Peter Bull

Financial Services

Director
Joe Ullianich

Chief Information
Officer

Phil Hogg

SA Community Housing
Authority *

General Manager
Brendan Moran

Aboriginal Housing 
Authority *

General Manager
Nerida Saunders

SA Housing Trust *

General Manager
Malcolm Downie

Strategic Asset 
Management and Finance

A/Director
David Bernard

Housing Strategy

A/Executive Director
Sue Crafter

Community Renewal

Director
Audra Cooper

High Need Housing

Director
Zofia Nowak

Office for Women

Director
Sandy Pitcher

Deputy Chief Executive

Peter Smith

Affordable Housing 
Innovations

Director
Philip Fagan-Schmidt

Risk Management and
Internal Audit

Director
Chris Firth

Recovery

Director
Ronnie Faggotter

Chief Executive's 
Office

Manager
Judy Davies

* includes a Board reporting to the Minister

= Connecting to the Future objective

HomeStart Finance *

Chief Executive Officer
Gary Storkey

Minister for the

Status of Women

Hon Jennifer Rankine MP

Intellectual Disability
Services Council *

General Manager
Richard Bruggemann

Aboriginal and Torres Strait
Islander Services

Director
Chris Larkin

Volunteering

Director
Stephen Blight

Special Investigation Unit

Manager
Steve Edgington

Community Connect

Director
Leeanne Head

Foster Care Relations

Director
Carmel O'Loughlin

Chief Executive

Sue Vardon

Office for the Ageing

Director
Anne Gale

Families SA

Executive Director
Beth Dunning

Minister for Families and Communities
Minister for Housing
Minister for Ageing

Minister for Disability

Hon Jay Weatherill MP

Office of the Guardian for
Children and Young People

Guardian for Children and 
Young People
Pam Simmons

Julia Farr Services *
APN and BIOC

General Manager
Robbi Williams

Independent Living Centre *

Manager
Cathy Caust

Office for Disability and 
Client Services

Director
David Caudrey

Our organisational map reflects the structure of the Department for Families
and Communities prior to the commencement of our reform process.



The Department for Families and Communities'
responsibilities are outlined through the following:

• South Australia's Strategic Plan

• Social Inclusion initiative

• Connecting to the Future: the strategic agenda
of the Department for Families and
Communities 2005 2008

• Department for Families and Communities, 
The Next Steps

• Department for Families and Communities
Balanced scorecard

• Department for Families and Communities
portfolio statement

South Australia's Strategic Plan
Launched in March 2004, South Australia's
Strategic Plan (SASP) was developed to provide 
a framework for government, industry, community
and individuals to work towards improving the 
well being of all South Australians. This means
establishing a combined effort to achieve the
Plan's key strategic objectives of:

1. Growing prosperity

2. Improving well being

3. Attaining sustainability

4. Fostering creativity

5. Building communities

6. Expanding opportunity

Under these six objectives, sit 84 specific targets 
to be achieved, with progress to be periodically
measured and reviewed. The South Australian
Government is committed to providing a report to
the public every two years on progress against the
targets of SASP.

Lead reporting targets

The Department for Families and Communities 
is a key contributor to the achievement of SASP
targets, and as a lead reporting agency is
responsible for advancing and reporting on
progress against six targets of SASP. Below is a
summary of highlights showing the Department
for Families and Communities' contribution in
reaching its lead SASP targets in 2005-06.

16

Strategic framework

Objective 5: Building communities
Increase the number of women on all State
Government boards and committees to 50%
on average by 2006 (Target 5.1)

Have 50% on average of State Government
boards and committees chaired by women 
by 2008 (Target 5.2).

These targets reflect the commitment of the
Government to ensure that State Government
boards and committees draw upon the diverse
expertise of women. At June 2006, women held
an average of 40.1% of positions on Government
boards and committees. This represents a 3.5%
increase in 2005-06 and a 6.5% increase since the
introduction of SASP. On average, 30.2% of State
Government boards and committees were chaired
by women at 30 June 2006, an increase of 4.7%
in 2005-06, and a total increase of 6.4% since the
introduction of SASP in March 2004.

Below are some examples of the Department 
for Families and Communities' efforts in achieving
targets 5.1 and 5.2:

• administered by the Office for Women, the
Premiers Women's Directory and Women's
Register were established to provide assistance
to Ministers and their departments seeking
suitable female candidates for appointments to
boards and committees. The Register facilitates
the matching of the requirements for
membership of a particular board or committee
with the skills and qualifications of the women
on the database. In 2005-06, the Office for
Women actively promoted the Premier's
Women's Directory at functions and to the
Government's Senior Management Council

• following a presentation to the Senior
Management Council, in October 2005, all
South Australian Chief Executives wrote to
female staff in their agencies to garner interest
in registering for possible board and committee
appointments. This has resulted in 20 responses,
with more anticipated

• a sponsorship agreement has also been
established with the Australian Institute of
Management (AIM) for the promotion of the
Premier's Women's Directory at all AIM Women
in Management functions

• in conjunction with the Department of the
Premier and Cabinet, Office for Women delivers
governance training for senior public sector
women, and provides scholarships in governance
training to women in the community. In 
2005-06, 40 women were sponsored to
participate in Women @ the Board Table training

• following consultation with the Office for
Women, the Australian Institute of Company
Directors commenced providing the Company
Directors Course to public sector and
community women at a discounted rate.

Increase the number of female members of
Parliament to 50% within 10 years (Target 5.3).

As a result of the South Australian election in
March 2006, the percentage of female members of
State Parliament rose from 31.88%, at the launch
of SASP, to 33.3%. Of the 69 members of
Parliament, 23 are female. While the achievement
of this target relies primarily on the actions of
political parties, the Office for Women is
undertaking a range of strategies to encourage 
and support women as leaders in the community,
as outlined above in relation to targets 5.1 and 5.2.

Objective 6: Expanding opportunity
Increase the number of community-based
accommodation options (Target 6.5)

The accommodation needs of people with
disabilities in South Australia are highlighted by
SASP, which targets an increase in the number of
community-based housing options. At the end of
2005-06, there were 772 funded, community-
based accommodation places, compared to 756 at
the end of 2004-05. To expand community-based
accommodation options, the Government is
redirecting investment in large institutional facilities
to more appropriate community-based
accommodation.

Key actions undertaken by the Department for
Families and Communities to progress target 6.5 
in 2005-06 included:

• allocation of $5 million to Bedford Industries 
(to be matched on a 1:1 basis by Bedford) 
to provide supported accommodation in
community group homes for 100 people with
intellectual disabilities
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• establishment of a Supported Accommodation
Task Force to develop a comprehensive, 
forward looking Accommodation Services Plan
for people with disabilities, including high 
needs clients

• continued movement of people from
institutional places to community living options

• development of a project, in conjunction with
the Australian Government Department of
Health and Ageing, to assist 15 young people in
nursing homes to move into the community

• establishment of a new respite house in
Strathalbyn for high needs clients with
intellectual and physical disabilities

• commencement of negotiations to acquire
government housing to establish a supported
accommodation service in Murray Bridge for
young people with Autism/Asperger's syndrome

• establishment of specialised disability housing 
in partnership with the private sector.

Encourage the provision of affordable
housing in the community (Target 6.6)

Halve the number of South Australians
experiencing housing stress (people paying
more than 25% of their income on rent)
within 10 years (Target 6.7)

The Department for Families and Communities
actively encourages the provision of affordable
housing, through the initiatives of the $145 million
Housing Plan for South Australia. Launched in
March 2005, the Housing Plan articulates a 
ten-year strategic direction for housing in South
Australia and recognises that any progress in
advancing housing affordability can only be
achieved through collaborative partnerships
between State Government agencies, the private
sector and housing industry, social landlords, local
government and the Australian Government.



SA Have Your Say

At the request of the Premier, the SASP Update
Team, a group of 26 leaders drawn from a number
of major South Australian Government advisory
boards, led a whole-of-state community
engagement process over a ten-week period
commencing in April 2006. The aim of the
community engagement process was to enable the
State's many communities to learn about how the
implementation of SASP is progressing, and to help
shape the next phase of implementation.

Called ‘SA Have Your Say’, the consultation
process comprised 14 regional consultations
(Talking Regions), six objective-based consultations
(Talking Targets) and 10 public meetings
(Community Forums). Individuals and organisations
had their say through the SA Have Your Say
website, via SMS, and by calling a telephone
information line. As a lead reporting agency for
targets of South Australia's Strategic Plan, The
Department for Families and Communities (DFC)
participated in the organisation of the Objective 5
and Objective 6 Talking Targets consultations.

In addition, the Office for Youth coordinated the
SA Have Your Say consultation for the youth sector
to ensure that young people were considered part
of the planning process.
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South Australia's Strategic Plan Progress
Report 2006

In June 2006, the SASP Audit Committee released
the first of the planned biennial reports assessing
progress towards the 84 targets of SASP. The Audit
Committee, which comprises representatives from
five Government advisory boards, is an
independent body that provides advice and
recommendations to the Executive Committee of
Cabinet (ExComm) on the interpretation of targets,
and on the appropriate indicators and data sources
to use in measuring progress.

The Progress Report concluded the following in
relation to those targets for which DFC is the
designated lead reporting agency:

• progress has been made against targets 5.1, 5.2
and 5.3, however, they are unlikely to be
achieved in the specified timeframes

• target 6.5 has been achieved, and it is
recommended that an alternative broader target
and measure is developed to better capture
outcomes for people with disabilities

• no data or new data is available, or it is
problematic, to measure progress for targets 6.6
and 6.7.

To progress the achievement of targets 6.6 and 6.7
in 2005-06 we:

• established affordable home ownership
opportunities, in partnership with the private
sector

• continued to assist social housing tenants 
into home ownership through HomeStart's
EquityStart Loan

• completed the construction of seven houses at
Seacombe Gardens, and six at Oaklands Park, to
pilot new management and financial models to
increase the availability of affordable
accommodation

• announced a new $25 million development, to
provide affordable accommodation for senior
residents at the former Hectorville Primary
School site

• commenced the development of Connected
Service Centres to make it easier for low income
and high needs customers to access all
government funded housing services

• negotiated a lease agreement, with engineering
contractor Thiess Pty Ltd, to provide 100 houses
to accommodate workers on OneSteel's Project
Magnet

• provided 36 618 households living in social
housing with a rent subsidy valued at $147.6
million

• provided assistance to low income customers,
on 17 153 occasions, to access affordable rental
accommodation.

Below are the Department for Families and
Communities' contributions to advancing other
SASP targets during 2005-06.
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Targets Achievements

Youth unemployment In partnership with BoysTown Enterprises, we provided disadvantaged young
(Target 1.3) people with the opportunity to gain work skills by participating in the 

redevelopment of public housing in the Westwood Urban Renewal Project.

Interstate migration HomeStart continued to assist qualified individuals to achieve home ownership 
(Target 1.8) sooner through its Graduate Loan.

Overseas migration In October 2005, HomeStart introduced the skilled migrant initiative to improve
(Target 1.9) access to home finance for recently arrived business or skilled migrants.

Performance We commenced development of key performance indicators, and a management
improvement in the information and reporting framework, based on the balanced scorecard approach.
South Australian public We also introduced the Australian Business Excellence Framework as an
sector - quick decision- integrated approach to leadership, management, and sustainable excellence.
making (Target 1.19)

Infant mortality The Child Death and Serious Injury Review Committee was established to examine
(Target 2.3) the deaths and serious injuries of South Australian children aged from birth to 

18 years.

Psychological distress Families SA employed four Financial Counsellors to provide specialised services 
(Target 2.4) to persons with problem gambling and associated financial problems.

Crime rates We implemented a Service Agreement and Protocol between the South 
(Target 2.8) Australian Housing Trust, the Aboriginal Housing Authority and South Australia

Police, to address issues of disruption and crime within social housing properties.

Energy consumption To date, we have achieved a 6% reduction in energy consumption from the 
(Target 3.2) 2000-01 SASP baseline.

Greenhouse emissions We are introducing dual-fuel and hybrid vehicles into the passenger fleet over the 
(Target 3.3) next three years, which will aid in reducing emissions from our vehicles by up to 25%.

Zero Waste We introduced a pilot waste management system in the Riverside Building, 
(Target 3.11) which has resulted in 55% less waste going to landfill in the last 12 months.

Political participation The Office for Youth contributed $2000 to a joint initiative between the Local 
(Target 5.5) Government Association and the Office of State/Local Government Relations, 

to increase young people's participation as candidates and voters in the 
November 2006 local government elections.

Targets Achievements

Volunteering A Volunteers Unit was established in December 2005.
(Target 5.6) We also assisted young people to participate in volunteering activities through 

their involvement in the active8: Premier's Youth Challenge program 
(1204 young people), the Duke of Edinburgh's Award (1726 young people), 
the Reach Your Dreams Program (300 young people) and through their 
participation in Youth Advisory Committees (700 young people).

Aboriginal well being HomeStart's Nunga Loan, which was introduced in May 2004, continued to 
(Targets 6.1 and 6.2) assist Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people into home ownership.

As at 30 June 2006, there were 178 Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander staff, 
representing 5.58% of all our employees.

Homelessness We successfully negotiated the fifth Supported Accommodation Assistance 
(Target 6.4) Program Agreement with the Australian Government.

Senior secondary We provided funding and support to 116 young people, including 49 young
schooling Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people, through the Assertive Management
(Target 6.13) program. This has resulted in improved attendance rates at school, or designated

programs, and a reduction in suspension and exclusion rates. These young people
are now better engaged with educational opportunities and support systems.



Connecting to the Future
Connecting to the Future: the strategic agenda for
the Department for Families and Communities
2005-08, identifies the South Australian
Government's priorities for the department. It is
the framework that shapes the services DFC
provides and the decisions it makes to reflect the
Government's priorities in the portfolio areas of
housing, care and protection of children and
young people, disability, ageing and women.

Connecting to the Future focuses on what we can
do to drive change, create opportunities and make
improvements in the quality of life of many South
Australians who may be facing difficulties. In 
2005-06, each division of DFC prepared a business
plan to connect their work to the objectives of
Connecting to the Future.

Connecting to the Future highlights our
commitment to building strong collaborative
partnerships with the community sector to ensure
our services are integrated with those delivered by
government and non-government agencies. Five
key objectives, which align with and support the
achievement of South Australia's Strategic Plan,
provide the framework in which DFC operates:

Objective 1: Affordable housing choices and
communities that prosper

To work with others to expand and improve
affordable housing choices across the State and
help build communities that prosper.

Objective 2: High need housing

To develop and implement better high need
housing and service responses for people at risk 
or in need.

Objective 3: Independence and 
community connection

To enable people to take charge of their lives and
ensure community connection opportunities are
available to all.

Objective 4: Keeping Them Safe

To ensure children, young people and families 
are safe, supported and connected to the future.
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Objective 5: Effective and sustainable 
business practices

To establish and maintain efficient, effective and
sustainable business practices to underpin delivery
of the Connecting to the Future strategic agenda.

An electronic copy of Connecting to the Future 
is available at:
www.familiesandcommunities.sa.gov.au.

The Next Steps
The document, DFC Next Steps, summarises where
we have been and where we are headed. It
outlines what we have built to date, the challenges
ahead, and how we are together, going to meet
the challenges and achieve our strategic objectives.

We have become more sophisticated in how we
frame our work and how we demonstrate our
accountability. We have built a strategic framework
that outlines our purpose, what we need to
achieve (our portfolio outcomes), how we will do it
(our business plans), the measurement of our
achievements (balanced scorecard), and how we
can constantly improve what we do and how we
do it (business excellence).

Balanced scorecard
DFC provides many diverse social justice programs
including housing assistance to people in need,
disability, ageing, welfare, child, youth, family and
other community services. These programs all
contribute to the targets of South Australia's
Strategic Plan in a number of vital areas, such as
expanding opportunities and building better
communities. In addition, DFC has a range of
statutory and mandated reporting requirements at
various levels of the organisation.

To contribute effectively to South Australia's
Strategic Plan, it is vital that DFC implements an
effective scorecard reporting tool. In March 2005,
we established the Strategic Information Group to
develop Key Performance Indicators (KPIs), and a
management information and reporting
framework, based on the balanced scorecard
approach. This provides more informative reporting
and will enable DFC to make the execution of our
strategic goals a core competency.

The Progress Report, together with the SA Have Your
Say preliminary community engagement report, is to
be considered at the SASP Community Congress. In
preparation for the updating of SASP later this year,
the SASP Update Team will make recommendations
to ExComm, based on the findings from the
Community Congress and the two reports.

More information about South Australia's Strategic
Plan can be found at: www.stateplan.sa.gov.au.

Social Inclusion
The Social Inclusion initiative was established in
2002 to rebuild structures that support and
strengthen those South Australians who are
disadvantaged and in need of assistance. As part
of this initiative, the Premier of South Australia
appointed the Social Inclusion Board, which is
empowered to inform and advise the Government
on new ways to achieve better outcomes for the
most disadvantaged people in the community

The Social Inclusion initiative directs the focus of all
Government resources to reducing the key social
problems confronting individuals and families in
South Australia. Priority areas of the Social
Inclusion initiative include:
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• reducing homelessness

• improving school retention rates

• implementing the recommendations from the
2002 Drugs Summit.

These Social Inclusion initiatives are high priorities for
achievement through South Australia's Strategic
Plan, and can only be achieved through strong
collaborative partnerships between key stakeholders,
which deliver integrated, effective services that create
opportunities and improve the quality of life of South
Australians, particularly those who may be facing
difficulties. DFC has been funded to take the lead
role in the implementation of initiatives in the priority
area of reducing the incidence of homelessness. In
addition, the department has a key role in
supporting initiatives in the areas of school retention,
drug use, young offenders and The Parks renewal.

The Department for Families and Communities'
Social Inclusion initiatives and highlights

Below are some examples of our efforts in achieving
Social Inclusion initiatives during 2005-06.

More information about the Social Inclusion
initiative can be found at:
www.socialinclusion.sa.gov.au.

Priority areas Achievements

Reducing the incidence Street to Home was introduced to assist rough sleepers in the city into housing.
of homelessness We also allocated $2.5 million to fund personal support services for people 

with psychiatric disabilities.

Young Offenders - Families SA, in partnership with the Social Inclusion Board, the Department for 
Breaking the Cycle Correctional Services, and the Attorney-General's Department, provided 

intensive case management for persistent offenders in the 16 to 20 year age 
group, to improve community safety, reduce re-offending and improve life 
outcomes for these young people.

The Parks DFC worked with the Social Inclusion Unit to address the significant  
economic and social disadvantage experienced by residents in the North West 
(Parks) region.
In 2005-06, the North West (Parks) Community Renewal Plan was developed 
to address issues of priority including education, health, safety, employment 
and training, social inclusion and creativity.

Increasing school Through the Assertive Management program, DFC provided funding and 
retention rates support to 116 young people.

Drugs We developed an integrated service model, which will be implemented at the 
Families SA Modbury District Centre as a pilot site. Specialist drug and alcohol 
social workers have been recruited to work with young people and their families.



The directions from Connecting to the Future 
have been grouped into five Strategic Objectives 
(refer Diagram 1) with four of these being:

• Affordable Housing Choices and Communities
that Prosper

• High Need Housing

• Independence and Community Connection

• Keeping Them Safe

The final objective, effective and sustainable
business practices, is a corporate objective,
incorporating:

• Customer outcomes

• People outcomes

• Government outcomes

• Partner outcomes

• Business Capability outcomes

The Business Excellence framework provides a
guide for sustainable organisational excellence,
and the tools for continuous improvement in
everything we do.
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For each of the objectives we are developing KPIs
to determine if our targets have been achieved. For
each objective, there is a main KPI, as well as KPIs
for the supporting outcomes. Each KPI will have a
measure which is the data we will collect to
monitor our performance.

We are currently developing systems that will
capture these measures and produce scorecards on
a regular basis highlighted by traffic light reporting.
This will include a scorecard for all of DFC.

Appendix 1 provides a preview of the DFC
scorecard, which is currently being developed by
the Strategic Information Group. The scorecard will
be subject to further change with ongoing KPI
data collection development.

Portfolio statement
Portfolio statements provide an accountability
mechanism for the Government, and departments,
by reporting on how departments have spent
public money during the preceding financial year,
and outlining allocations for the next financial year.
These documents include information on the
revenue, expenses and performance of each
department, as well as information on specific
South Australian Government agencies. The
Department for Families and Communities'
portfolio statements can be downloaded from the
Department of Treasury and Finance website at
www.statebudget.sa.gov.au.
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Goal
To work with others to expand and improve

affordable housing choices across the State and

help build communities that prosper.

Context
Connecting to the Future: the strategic agenda for

the Department for Families and Communities

outlines the following context for the above goal:

Housing is not just about bricks and mortar. It is

also about location, access to transport and

services, community support and employment and

the flexibility of our homes to meet our changing

personal and community circumstances.

Affordable housing choices and 
communities that prosper

The effectiveness of our housing system depends

on the contribution of governments at

Commonwealth, State and local levels, the private

and non-government sectors as well as the

housing industry.

Rising house and land prices, not just in South

Australia but also nationally, are currently excluding

many people, particularly young people, from

home ownership and secure tenancies. The lack of

a supply of affordable housing is a fundamental

cause of this situation. There has been a long-term

decline in the availability of low cost rental

accommodation. The stock of social housing has

“Creating more affordable homes will build strong and prosperous communities.”

Left to Right: Sue Crafter, A/Executive Director,
Housing Strategy; Philip Fagan-Schmidt, Director,
Affordable Housing Innovations
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Affordable Housing Innovations Unit

The Affordable Housing Innovations Unit was
established in September 2005, as an initiative of
the Housing Plan for South Australia. The Unit
pursues private, community and government
partnerships for the supply of new affordable
housing outcomes. An upfront investment of $15
million was allocated to the Affordable Housing
Innovations Unit, and a projected revenue of $93
million, from the sale of social housing to existing
tenants, will be available for re-investment in new
affordable and high need project partnerships, and
high need housing.

In February 2006, Cabinet approved additional
funding of $3.5 million towards a $10 million
project with Bedford Industries to house 100
people with disabilities. The Houses for 100 project
will be a joint DFC and Bedford Industries
undertaking, based on funding commitments of $5
million by each partner.

In 2005-06, the Affordable Housing Innovations
Unit made funding commitments for 11 capital
projects and sponsorship of a design competition.
The 11 approved capital projects involve partner
organisations committed to constructing 141
affordable and high need housing facilities. 
The Affordable Housing Innovations Fund has
committed $16.692 million, or 46.5% of total
estimated project costs, with $14.224 million, or
39.7%, to be provided by partner equity, and
$4.945 million, or 13.8%, from community
organisation borrowings.

In June 2006, in principle agreement committed 
$5 million from the Affordable Housing
Innovations Fund towards a potential $10 million
supportive housing project. The project is designed
to house rough sleepers in an integrated housing
setting, based on Common Ground, New York (the
internationally recognised methodology for
housing the chronically homeless). In principle
support was also committed for $5 million from
the Affordable Housing Innovations Fund to an
Indigenous Housing Program following an
Expression of Interest process.

During 2005-06, the Affordable Housing
Innovations Unit established partnerships with the
private sector to create affordable home ownership
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opportunities through the construction of eight
homes in the Mawson Lakes development area,
and 10 homes at Salisbury East. These homes will
be marketed at price points, based on affordable
mortgage repayment calculations for moderate
income earners, and will be made available for
purchase by first homebuyers who are eligible for a
HomeStart EquityStart Loan, and who intend to
live in the home being purchased.

The Affordable Housing Innovations Unit has
provided national leadership in the development
and implementation of a three-year Framework for
National Action on Affordable Housing, signed in
August 2005 by all State, Territory and Australian
Government Ministers for Housing, Planning and
Local Government. This will include an examination
of the Commonwealth State Housing Agreement,
Commonwealth Rent Assistance, targeting of the
First Home Owner Grant, property taxes and
regulatory structures affecting the not-for-profit
sector and the supply of land.

Urban renewal

In 2005-06, the South Australian Housing Trust
continued to regenerate the physical, social and
economic environments of public housing areas,
through seven urban renewal projects. 
These projects include:

• Westwood (The Parks)
• Hawksbury Park (Salisbury North)
• Mapleton Grove (Kilburn)
• Wandana (Gilles Plains)
• Risdon Grove (Port Pirie)
• Myall Place (Whyalla)
• Royal Park.

reduced and a high percentage of social housing
tenants require support and assistance to maintain
their tenancies. For some people home ownership
may always continue to be beyond their reach.

In the past, many of our houses were designed for
larger families. With South Australia's changing
demographic profile, demand is growing for
accommodation that is more suitable for smaller
households, especially for single people and our
ageing population. Significant economic growth in
a number of regional areas has led to a demand
for additional housing. Other regional areas have
experienced relative decline and there is an
associated oversupply of housing.

Reducing Commonwealth capital funding for social
rental housing requires us on the one hand to
manage our housing assets well and, on the other,
to focus on new and innovative approaches to
housing supply and new partnerships.

The provision of affordable housing is central to
our urban regeneration schemes and new
development planning. We will turn around
disconnected neighbourhoods where no one wants
to live. Housing links individuals and families to
education, employment, health and other services.
It is fundamental to our community's well being
and prosperity. Access, location and amenity build
healthy communities and promote participation.

The health and well being of Aboriginal and Torres
Strait Islander South Australians is more likely to be
affected by certain risk factors such as poor
housing, less than adequate environmental
infrastructure and poor access to essential services.

Links to South Australia's 
Strategic Plan
• Reduce energy consumption in South Australian

Government buildings by 25% within 10 years
and lead Australia in wind and solar power
generation within 10 years (Target 3.2).

• Build and maintain infrastructure to develop and
support sustainable communities in regions
(Target 5.11).

• Reduce the gap between the outcomes for
South Australia's Aboriginal and Torres Strait
Islander population and those of the rest of
South Australia's population, particularly in
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relation to health, life expectancy, employment,
school retention rates and imprisonment 
(Target 6.1).

• Encourage the provision of affordable housing
in the community (Target 6.6).

• Halve the number of South Australians
experiencing housing stress (people paying more
than 25% of their income on rent) within 10
years (Target 6.7).

2005-06 major highlights
Developing a Service Framework 
for Housing SA

In May 2006, the Minister announced reforms to
DFC's housing governance arrangements. The
reforms created Housing SA, a service designed to
effectively achieve the objectives of the Housing
Plan for South Australia. Implementation of
Housing SA will increase the capacity to deliver
housing services that are people focused,
responsive and integrated.

The development and implementation of Housing
SA will be a staged process. To date, a concept
paper has been developed outlining the service
framework for Housing SA. This paper is based on
the research, consultation, principles and objectives
developed for the former Housing Service SA
project.

Stage 1 of Housing SA will commence July 2006.
The former service delivery functions of the South
Australian Housing Trust and Aboriginal Housing
Authority will be merged, and over time, stronger
links with community housing organisations and
HomeStart will be developed. Housing SA will be
established as the central customer service point.

The full implementation of Housing SA is
dependent upon the housing system being able to
provide further housing support options that
redress current supply shortages. These include
affordable housing options to support pathways
for people with high needs. A range of projects
and strategies are underway to increase the supply
and range of affordable housing and support
services available.

In 2005-06, DFC continued to undertake urban
renewal projects including Hawksbury Park at
Salisbury North.



EquityStart Loan

Launched in April 2005, the EquityStart Loan is
part of the Government's commitment to assist
current public social housing tenants into home
ownership. An initiative of the Housing Plan for
South Australia, EquityStart Loans increase the
purchasing power of social housing tenants by
providing the option to purchase either the house
currently being rented from the South Australian
Housing Trust, Aboriginal Housing Authority, a
community housing organisation registered with
the South Australian Community Housing
Authority, or to purchase on the open market.

At 30 June 2006:

• 7035 registrations of interest have been
received from social housing tenants for details
of the EquityStart program

• 2401 applications were received for EquityStart
Loans, of which 1747 (73%) are eligible

• 354 EquityStart Loans were settled, to the value
of $53.8 million (EquityStart plus HomeStart
loans)

Nunga Loan

The Nunga Loan, which was launched in April
2004, is a unique HomeStart product, designed to
assist Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander South
Australians into home ownership. While the
number of loan settlements is capped each year, it
has been in high demand since its inception, with
no other comparable product available for
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people in
Australia. In less than two years, it has reached a
landmark of 228 customers, helping address the
marked disadvantage faced by our State's
traditional owners. 

At 30 June 2006, 2030 people had enquired about
the Nunga Loan, of which 622 proceeded with an
application. 269 customers have progressed to at
least the approval in principle stage, and 228
people, with loans totalling approximately $34.37
million, had settled their loans and made the
transition from renting to home ownership.
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Graduate Loan wins national recognition

HomeStart's Graduate Loan was introduced in
2003 to assist qualified individuals achieve home
ownership sooner, through lending of up to 100%
of a property's value, or purchase price, whichever
is less. Thus far, the Loan has assisted 759
graduates into home ownership.

In October 2005, HomeStart was named the Public
Sector winner at the 2005 National Marketing
Excellence Awards for the Graduate Loan, which
had earlier taken out the State marketing prize in
the product category. Winning the Public Sector
prize is particularly rewarding as it recognises the
importance of effective marketing and tailored
services by Government agencies. The judging panel
commended HomeStart's efforts, noting that the
Graduate Loan '…showed excellent use of market
understanding and targeting aligned to objectives'.

Community housing

Hocking Court, Adelaide
Officially opened on 13 February 2006, Hocking
Court is a joint venture project to accommodate
homeless and lower income people in the inner
city. The three-storey, 15 one-bedroom unit
development, is the result of a collaborative
partnership between the South Australian
Community Housing Authority, the Adelaide City
Council and the Multi-Agency Community Housing
Association, which is managing the tenancies. All
five ground floor units are designed to enable
access by people with physical disabilities, and the
development incorporates environmentally friendly
design features, including underground tanks for
water recycling, solar panels for energy efficiency,
and a roof top garden for vegetable growing.

Logan Street, Adelaide
The South Australian Community Housing
Authority, in conjunction with the South Australian
Housing Trust, which contributed the land, has
developed an affordable housing venture in the
inner city, in liaison with the Adelaide Bank
Charitable Foundation, the Adelaide City Council
and the Multi-Agency Community Housing
Association. The project will form a new type of
community housing development, and will provide
appropriate and high quality accommodation
options for disadvantaged people in the inner city.

Community renewal

The Community Renewal Unit was established to
focus on communities and neighbourhoods where
there is a concentration of low income households
and social housing stock. Through collaborative
partnerships, the Unit seeks to develop local level
strategies that encourage community cohesion and
community participation in local activities and local
networks. Its aim is to ensure that communities
receive lasting benefits from urban and
neighbourhood renewal projects. While the Unit has
a state-wide focus, the initial priority is in the north
west of Adelaide, in the five suburbs known as The
Parks (Athol Park, Mansfield Park, Angle Park,
Ferryden Park, and Woodville Gardens). The Unit is
working in partnership with the Social Inclusion Unit
to address the significant economic and social
disadvantage experienced by residents in this region.

Major highlights for the Community Renewal Unit,
during 2005-06 include:

• The development of the North West (Parks)
Community Renewal Plan, written in partnership
with the Social Inclusion Unit, on behalf of the
North West (Parks) Senior Officers Group. The
Plan outlines cross agency commitments to
address priority areas identified by local residents
and service providers. This includes measurable
improvements in educational attainment, health,
safety, employment and training, social inclusion
and creativity. The Plan will ensure improved
targeting of resources, service planning and co-
ordination, in order to meet the needs of
individuals and families. In addition, the Plan
outlines improved mechanisms for residents and
local service providers to participate in decisions
about their local area.

• The establishment of The Parks Advisory Council
which provides the opportunity for local
residents, business people and service providers
to participate in local planning and decision-
making on issues relevant to them and The Parks
area. The group meets monthly, and has a direct
reporting relationship to the North West (Parks)
Senior Officers Group. The Community Renewal
Unit auspices The Parks Advisory Council.

• In November 2005, the first Parks All Services
Network Event, Getting Connected was
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organised by the Community Renewal Unit at
The Parks Community Centre. The event
brought together more than 150 service
providers and volunteers who deliver services in
The Parks, in order to share their common
interests and to broaden networks and
knowledge. Representation was diverse, and
included the family violence sector, Aboriginal
and Torres Strait Islander services, services to the
Vietnamese community, aged care, housing,
disability, family support, health, local
government, police and local volunteers.

Home ownership

Since 1989, HomeStart has provided affordable
home loan solutions for low to moderate income
earners in South Australia. In 2005-06, HomeStart
achieved a landmark 50 000 loan settlements. In
October 2005, HomeStart introduced the skilled
migrant initiative, to improve access to home
finance for recently arrived, permanent skilled
migrants. A CommunityStart Loan product has also
been initiated, and this will provide affordable debt
finance to increase the supply of social housing to
low income South Australians. Four pilot
CommunityStart Loan programs have been
approved, for a total of $2.3 million, and
settlements on these loans are expected early 
in 2006-07.

At 30 June 2006:

• HomeStart lent $329.8 million to 2927 new
customers during 2005-06, with overall lending
of $377.04 million

• HomeStart's total lending portfolio was $1.186
billion, with a total of 15 818 customers

• an operating profit before tax of $6.7 million
was achieved, and $15.1 million was returned
to the State Government in the form of
dividends, tax equivalents and fees

• 76% of customers earned less than the average
weekly ordinary time earnings (which is $975.10
per week, or $50 705 per year)

• 44% of customers received Centrelink benefits
as their primary source of income

• 18% of HomeStart loans were taken with the
Advantage Loan.



Of the 3540 allocations made to new tenants in
2005-06, 2934 were in the public housing rental
program and 606 under the Special Needs Housing
Unit's programs. The breakdown of public housing
allocations by household type is highlighted in
Chart 1, with the majority of new tenants being
single or single parent households. In addition, the
South Australian Housing Trust provided
information and assistance to low income earners,
and customers with special needs, to support their
entry into the private rental market. In 2005-06,
27 249 assessments were made for financial
assistance for this purpose.

In 2005-06, the Aboriginal Housing Authority
provided public housing in metropolitan and
regional areas to improve the quality of life for
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander South
Australians. The Aboriginal Housing Authority's
Rental Housing Program stock is distributed
throughout South Australia, with 66% located in
the metropolitan area and 34% in regional areas.
Support in the provision of housing management,
administrative funding, and property project
management, is provided to more than 40
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander community
housing organisations throughout South Australia.

Approximately $6 million was allocated in 2005-06
to the Community Housing Program for new builds
and upgrades to support the provision of housing
to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people in
remote areas of South Australia. Funding of
approximately $2 million was also provided to more
than 30 Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander
community housing organisations in regional South
Australia to support housing management
activities, such as administration, repairs and
maintenance and insurance. In 2005-06, the Senior
Project Officers of the Aboriginal Housing Authority
assisted in the management of the Community
Housing Program funding, and provided advice and
support to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander
community housing organisations in undertaking
housing management activities. The Aboriginal
Housing Authority developed and implemented the
Community Management System within its funded
communities, to assist them in day-to-day housing
management, and to streamline their reporting
responsibilities.
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The Multi-Agency Community Housing Association
will manage the tenancies, with construction of
the project anticipated to commence at the end of
2006. The Logan Street initiative was one of the
first projects to be partly funded by the new
Affordable Housing Innovations Fund.

Tenant appeals process
In 2005-06, a new Dispute Resolution and Appeal
System was developed for community housing
members and tenants in South Australia, in line
with the South Australian Co-operative and
Community Housing Act 1991. The South
Australian Community Housing Authority has
developed policy, guidelines and model by-laws to
assist community housing organisations to resolve
disputes and process appeals fairly. The system has
three major elements being:

• informal dispute resolution mechanisms

• appeals to the Community Housing
Organisation's Appeal Committee

• appeals to the Community Housing Appeal
Panel, which is an independent body.

The South Australian Community Housing
Authority has delegated its authority to hear
appeals to the Community Housing Appeal Panel,
which has been appointed by the Minister for
Housing. The Panel and its members have expertise
in conflict resolution, knowledge of community
housing, and they are independent of community
housing organisations and the South Australian
Community Housing Authority.

New community housing in regional areas
The provision of community housing in regional
areas ensures that existing communities can
maintain their population base, and that young
people at transitional stages of life, or frail, disabled
and aged people who require some support to
maintain an independent lifestyle, can remain in
their home towns. In 2005-06, new community
housing projects were completed in several regional
areas as joint venture partnerships, including four
properties in Balaklava, three in Mallala and two
each in Blanchetown and Port Neill.

The South Australian Community Housing
Authority is currently working on several new
regional projects with joint venture partners, and
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potential partners in several other locations. These
include the construction of three properties at
Saddleworth, three at Nuriootpa, six at Goolwa
and seven at Aldinga Beach.

Funding agreement
The new Funding Agreement between the South
Australian Community Housing Authority and
community housing organisations was made
available for signing from November 2005, with
implementation of the new funding model
commencing in January 2006. The new agreement
includes a number of initiatives that aim to
increase the viability of the community housing
sector, and include:

• increased funding to community housing
organisations

• a simpler, more rational and consistent 
funding calculation

• changes to rent policy that aim to improve
equity for tenants

• a raft of new policies to compliment 
the new agreement.

As at 30 June 2006, 92 community housing
organisations had signed the new Funding
Agreement. This represents 84.4% of community
housing organisations and means that 93.11% of
total community housing properties are being
administered under the new agreement.

Public housing services

Services to people in high need of public housing
are primarily delivered through the South
Australian Housing Trust and the Aboriginal
Housing Authority.

At 30 June 2006, the South Australian 
Housing Trust:

• managed 45 454 properties in the public and
special needs housing rental program

• provided affordable housing for 44 595 families
and individuals in South Australia

• received 7716 new applications for housing

• made 3540 new allocations

• had 24 016 families and individuals on 
its waiting list.
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Chart 1: 

Allocations to public housing by housing type in 2005-06

The Aboriginal Housing Authority collaborated on
the development of an Indigenous Housing and
Community Infrastructure Agreement between the
State Government and the Australian Government
Department of Families, Community Services and
Indigenous Affairs, for the delivery of Housing and
Infrastructure programs to Aboriginal and Torres
Strait Islander people.

The Aboriginal Housing Authority is reviewing
proposals to source additional properties from
property investors to specifically target Category
Three (that is, applicants who have no needs
issues but who pass other eligibility requirements)
clients on the its waiting list. An option under
review includes the provision of an advocacy
service for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander
waiting list customers, to assist them access to
private rental accommodation.

At 30 June 2006, the Aboriginal Housing Authority:

• managed 1926 properties in the public housing
rental program

• provided affordable housing for 1818
households (4980 individuals) in South Australia

• received 277 new applications for housing

• made 346 new housing allocations

• had 2069 households (3558 individuals) on 
its waiting list.



• attracting investment from outside the social
housing system

• reducing workforce disincentives

• improving Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander
access to mainstream housing.

Key priorities for 2006-07
Restructuring of housing portfolio

In 2006-07, we will implement the final stages of
Housing SA. Stage 2, from July to December 2006,
will encompass further policy and service
development, including:

• conducting broad consultation across DFC service
providers, Housing SA and external stakeholders
to ensure customers’ needs are represented

• developing revised policy parameters

• strengthening linkages between housing and
other service providers, including the disability
sector, to provide support for people with 
high needs

• improving customers' access to housing and
housing-related services

• developing a central housing register and
improving Housing SA's assessment, referral and
case coordination capacity.

Stage 3, from January 2007, will involve longer term
developmental processes required to support the full
implementation of Housing SA. These processes
include workforce realignment and ICT development. 

Housing SA will continue to provide tenancy
management and advisory services for tenants in more
than 52 000 houses. These services will be delivered by:

• assessment, allocation and management
procedures

• the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
rental program

• Special Needs Housing

• improving referral and advice services, including
additional private rental liaison officers

• rental assistance and bond guarantees.

Community housing tenancies will continue to be
managed through the community housing
organisations. The new Office for Community
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Housing will function as regulator and funder of
the sector. This will ensure that regardless of
cultural identity or whether a client requires a
referral to an association or housing cooperative,
Housing SA will be able to assist.

Tenants of the Aboriginal Housing Authority will
have their specific needs met by Aboriginal and
Torres Strait Islander service delivery staff 
co-ordinated by the Office for Aboriginal Housing
in the new Housing SA.

Advisory and Advocacy Structures 
The 2006 housing reforms will enable Housing SA
to assess and enhance customer feedback
mechanisms to better reflect the demographic of
our customer base. This will enhance the voice of
the citizen in Housing SA and improve the
translation of this information into better customer
service outcomes capturing a range of approaches
to meet our customers' needs.

Affordable housing

In 2006-07, we will:

• build capacity and scale in the affordable
housing program by working across
government, with local government, and with
the private sector in trialling innovation in the
supply, design, management and financing of
affordable and high need housing

• develop specific response for high needs groups
such as Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander
housing in urban and regional areas, and
community-based disability housing 

• launch a home ownership supply program,
creating affordable home purchase opportunities
for low and moderate income households

• embed affordable housing principles into the
planning system by:

- implementing the 15% affordable 
housing target

- supporting local governments to plan and
facilitate affordable housing in their region,
utilising the local government kit

- supporting local governments in writing
affordable housing policies into development
plans, along with Planning SA.

Rent grants

In certain circumstances, the South Australian
Housing Trust provides grants for rental payments
to customers to assist in establishing or
maintaining private rental tenancies. In 2005-06,
9557 grants were provided, to a total value of
$1.6 million.

Rent relief

The South Australian Housing Trust's Rent Relief
scheme provides income support of up to $25 per
week to private rental households that pay up to
75% of their income in rent. The scheme was
closed to new applicants in May 2000, with
existing recipients remaining on the scheme subject
to ongoing eligibility. A student Rent Relief scheme
was established in April 2001, to provide additional
support for students required to relocate from the
country to undertake tertiary studies.

At 30 June 2006:

• 990 households were in receipt of Rent Relief

• 234 households were in receipt of Student 
Rent Relief

• the average weekly assistance was $18.15

• the total value of assistance provided was 
$0.98 million.

On Arrival Accommodation Program

Newly arrived skilled migrants to South Australia
are provided with short-term residential
accommodation to assist with re-settlement,
through the South Australian Housing Trust's On
Arrival Accommodation Program. Through the
Program, migrants are offered a South Australian
Housing Trust property on a lease of up to three
months at full market rates, with houses allocated
according to availability and the size of the
household. As at 30 June 2006, there were 223
migrant households assisted with accommodation
through the On Arrival Accommodation Program,
with 41 properties allocated to this program.

Fixing Houses for Better Health

The Fixing Houses for Better Health program is an
Australian Government initiative, delivered in South
Australia by the Aboriginal Housing Authority, to
implement a nationally accredited maintenance
process for the survey and repair of housing, in
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accordance with the standards of the National
Indigenous Housing Guide. The Aboriginal Housing
Authority has seen the benefits of this program
and has extended its principles to its rental
program.

There are three stages to the Fixing Houses for
Better Health program: a feasibility study, a survey,
and the repair of fabric and environment. Over the
last three years, the Aboriginal Housing Authority
has undertaken survey and repairs to housing
within eight Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander
communities in South Australia, and has provided
training for approximately 119 Aboriginal and
Torres Strait Islander Community Development
Employment Programs, and other Aboriginal and
Torres Strait Islander workers, at a total cost of
$1.68 million.

In 2005-06, the Aboriginal Housing Authority
completed the Fixing Houses for Better Health
program, undertaking surveys and upgrades to
approximately 100 further houses, in three
communities, at a total budget of approximately
$630 000. The Aboriginal Housing Authority has
also implemented an additional Fixing Houses for
Better Health program in three communities, on
rainwater use and portable water, at a cost of
$200 000. This program delivered a variety of
collection methods and systems for filtering water.

Healthabitat has been appointed by the Australian
Government Department of Families, Community
Services and Indigenous Affairs to continue the
Fixing Houses for Better Health, and the
Maintaining Houses for Better Health programs,
for a further four years. The Aboriginal Housing
Authority has applied to Healthabitat and the
Department of Families, Community Services and
Indigenous Affairs for further funding to 2008-09,
to conduct the Fixing Houses for Better Health
Programs within selected communities throughout
South Australia.

Commonwealth-State Housing Agreement

Under the current five-year Commonwealth-State
Housing Agreement, signed in July 2003, the
Australian Government contributes $363.4 million
in base and tied funding to South Australia. In
2005-06, DFC has been working towards achieving
the three key priorities of:
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Projects identified for the first phase of the
Vision Plan include:

• assisting the community housing sector, to build
stronger relationships with the new Housing SA,
to improve customer outcomes, such as flexible
pathways between housing options, which are
appropriate to customers' needs

• implementing the Community Housing
Application System

• formulating new Asset Management Plans for
all community housing organisations

• undertaking joint venture projects, utilising
alternative funding arrangements

• developing a risk-managed regulatory system
that focuses on quality management.

Home ownership opportunities for 
Housing SA clients

The Minister for Housing's announcement of a
consolidation of service provision through Housing
SA opened up the opportunity for new ways to
assist, including those wanting to achieve home
ownership. In 2006-07, HomeStart will work
closely with Housing SA to ensure that clients
accessing the Connected Service Centres receive
relevant information regarding their home
ownership opportunities, and other options
available to them, both now and in the future.

Housing services for Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander people

We will continue to provide affordable public and
community housing to improve the quality of life
for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander South
Australians in metropolitan and regional areas, 
by finalising and implementing an overarching
agreement between the State Government and the
Australian Department of Families, Community
Services and Indigenous Affairs for the delivery of
housing and infrastructure programs to Aboriginal
and Torres Strait Islander people. 

The Office for Aboriginal Housing is seeking
funding to continue its program of training
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people, under
the guidance of trained area managers, to
inspect, assess and fix houses within Aboriginal
and Torres Strait Islander communities, using the
nine healthy living principles of Healthabitat's
Fixing Houses for Better Health program.

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander home
ownership opportunities

HomeStart will continue to build on the success of
the Nunga Loan, and it is hoped that up to 150
loans can be settled in 2006-07. HomeStart will
also examine other options for Aboriginal and
Torres Strait Islander people, including the
development of a deferred land payment option.

The Office for Aboriginal Housing and HomeStart
will pursue a variety of initiatives, assisting the
Australian Government to identify opportunities
such as those relating to the current home
ownership program, which is administered by
Indigenous Business Australia. Work has also
commenced in reviewing an Australian Government
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proposal to facilitate home ownership on Aboriginal
and Torres Strait Islander community land.

Migrant initiatives

HomeStart will continue to explore options to help
migrants into home ownership, and therefore, to
settle in South Australia, a key objective of South
Australia's Strategic Plan. In 2006-07, HomeStart
will assess the viability of providing ethnicity-
specific loans to meet the cultural needs of
particular groups, as well as loans that can assist
migrants with other classes of visa.

Consumer money management 
education program

HomeStart, with the support of the South
Australian Film Corporation, is developing an
interactive money management education website
to assist potential home buyers. The site will be an
innovative and effective tool for educating people
about financial management to assist them to
reach goals such as home ownership. It is
envisaged that the project will be complete by the
end of 2006, and launched in early 2007.

Community renewal

In 2006-07, the Community Renewal Unit will
investigate establishing a shop front in The Parks,
as one of the initiatives identified in the North
West (Parks) Community Renewal Plan. The shop
front will be an information and resource hub,
rather than a service delivery centre. Information
will continue to expand as new services become
available. The information will be available to the
whole community, including residents, businesses
and services in the area.

The objectives stemming from the establishment of
the Park's Advisory Council will ensure maximum
involvement of local people and representatives to
assist and advise on the development and
implementation of the North West (Parks)
Community Renewal Plan 2006-10. It will provide
an opportunity for diverse groups to share
knowledge and expertise about local issues and
concerns in their region.

The Westwood (The Parks) community renewal
project involves the regeneration of an area
taking in the suburbs of Angle Park, Athol Park,
Ferryden Park, Mansfield Park and Woodville
Gardens.

Vision for Community Housing project

Community housing assists many of the most
vulnerable people in our community, offering truly
integrated housing and support services for
tenants, and strengthening members' connections
with their communities. The Office for Community
Housing has developed a Vision for Community
Housing Plan. The Plan will play a key role in the
important housing reforms, bringing the customer
more clearly to the centre of housing
arrangements. The Vision Plan will deliver greater
levels of affordable housing, more accessible
information and application processes for
customers who apply for community housing,
improved quality of services through community
housing organisations, and greater community
connectedness for members and tenants.



Goal
To develop and implement better high need
housing and service responses for people at risk 
or in need.

Context
Connecting to the Future: the strategic agenda for
the Department for Families and Communities
outlines the following context for the above goal:

Most people have the capacity to live
independently in the community. For some South
Australians extra assistance is needed - for people
with a disability or mental illness for example, or
there may be particular circumstances or certain
stages of our lives when our safety is threatened or

High need housing
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our independence limited. We need to provide

appropriate housing and service responses for

people with high needs that will deliver stability,

quality of life and a sense of security and

connectedness.

Often, through a complex mix of circumstances, 

a person may be forced to live in marginal or

insecure housing or, in some instances, become

homeless. Our efforts to reduce homelessness

require high need housing responses and

coordinated services for those at risk: young

people who have become disconnected from

family, school and jobs; people with a mental

“Linking housing and support services to people who are homeless 
or at risk of homelessness, help them towards independence.”

illness or psychiatric disability; those who are
trapped in a cycle of poverty, substance misuse or
problem gambling; and Aboriginal and Torres Strait
Islander people dislocated from their community.
There are times of crisis when assistance and
emergency accommodation are required for
women and children who are escaping domestic
violence and abuse.

We need sound transition planning to move
people through short-term housing options to
longer-term stability. The children under the
guardianship of the Minister are a priority in this
regard in transitioning to stable accommodation
after care.

Many older South Australians and people with
disabilities need housing that is accessible and
adaptable to their changing needs. Our de-
institutionalisation objectives must ensure the
provision of appropriate community based housing
and support services.

Whilst we are endeavouring to move to an
increasingly mainstream housing response, for
those with exceptional, complex and multiple
needs there will always be specific
accommodation provision.

It is important to ensure that we have effective and
timely responses to the changing needs of South
Australians living in rural and remote areas and
that there is appropriate high need housing,
amenity and support services across the State.

The role of the social housing system as a provider
of high need housing is continuing to evolve and
its high needs client group will increasingly be the
focus of the future. This means the South
Australian Housing Trust has an important
transitional role as an urban renewal authority in
tailoring its stock and configuring its large housing
estates so the Trust can be an effective high need
housing authority.

From the experience of recent natural disasters,
which do not discriminate between those that
have and those that don't, we have learned that if
recovery is to be sustained for individuals, families
and communities we need to do much more than
simply provide shelter and relief. Only by working
together can governments and other sectors

35

Objective2
deliver the range of rebuilding strategies required
to get people and communities back on their feet
and moving forward.

Links to South Australia's Strategic Plan

• Reduce the gap between the outcomes for South
Australia's Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander
population and those of the rest of South
Australia's population, particularly in relation to
health, life expectancy, employment, school
retention rates and imprisonment (Target 6.1).

• Halve the number of 'rough sleepers' in South
Australia by 2010 (Target 6.4).

• Halve the number of South Australians
experiencing housing stress (people paying more
than 25% of their income on rent) within 10
years (Target 6.7).

2005-06 major highlights
Supported Accommodation Assistance Program

Homelessness is often the result of a combination
of family conflict, mental illness and substance
abuse. It can be created, or exacerbated, by
unemployment or financial hardship, and requires
a flexible range of responses. The Supported
Accommodation Assistance Program (SAAP), a
jointly funded Australian, State and Territory
Government program, is an important part of the
continuum of a national effort towards preventing
and responding to homelessness and domestic
violence.

The aim of SAAP, as set down in the Support
Accommodation Assistance Act 1994, is to provide
transitional supported accommodation, and related
support services, to help people who are homeless,
or at risk of homelessness, to achieve the maximum
possible degree of self-reliance and independence.
Nationally, SAAP is the primary policy and program
response to homelessness, and seeks to:

• resolve crisis

• re-establish family links where appropriate

• re-establish the capacity of clients to live
independently of SAAP services.

The SAAP IV Agreement expired on 30 June 2005,
and in December 2004, the Australian, State and
Territory Governments commenced negotiations

Left to Right: Zofia Nowak, Director, High Need
Housing; Peter Smith, Deputy Chief Executive
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Supported Accommodation for People with
Complex Needs

The aim of the Supported Accommodation for
People with Complex Needs project is to deliver
innovative models of integrated support services to
people with complex needs (including psychiatric
disabilities) to enable them to live independently in
the community, and to experience an improved
quality of life. Recognising the crucial links
between stable housing tenure, flexible support
and quality of life, the project provides proactive
responses to the underlying factors that contribute
to homelessness.

There are 12 supported accommodation
demonstration projects funded through the
Commonwealth-State Housing Agreement and 
the Supported Residential Facilities budget across
South Australia. Two of these supported
accommodation programs are licensed Supported
Residential Facilities, owned by the Government
and managed by non-government organisations.
Actual numbers of people being supported at any
given time varies as people enter and exit the
programs. In 2005-06, a new Memorandum of
Understanding (MOU) was negotiated with mental
health services, which guarantees funding to June
2008, to coincide with Commonwealth State
Housing Agreement funding.

Housing rough sleepers

In 2005-06, $2.5 million was allocated by the State
Government to fund personal support services for
people with psychiatric disabilities. Support
packages were allocated to 50 people with complex
needs, who were long-term homeless or sleeping
rough, enabling them to be appropriately housed.
This funding will increase to $5 million in 2006-07.

A Psychiatric Disability Service was established
within the Exceptional Needs Unit to provide
attendant care to individuals who experience
functional and/or social impairments that arise as a
consequence of mental illness. The service provides
direct assistance in sourcing accommodation and
support to homeless individuals with psychiatric
disabilities, complex needs and/or other multiple
and chronic disabilities. The initial target group is
people caught in a cycle of homelessness in the
inner city. The service will also support people
living in regional and remote South Australia. A
circle of support is provided by a collaborative
network of specialist and mainstream services.

Street to Home is an inner city service that works
intensively with rough sleepers in the city to assist
them into housing. This service represents a new
approach to achieving housing outcomes for
people who have been chronically homeless. In
2005-06, Street to Home assisted 58 individuals,
who were chronically homeless, into permanent
housing. A feasibility study was also completed
and a model developed for a supportive housing
project, designed to house rough sleepers in an
integrated housing setting, based on Common

for a new Multilateral Agreement, SAAP V,
covering the years 2005 to 2010. All parties
agreed to focus on three strategic priorities over
the life of the SAAP V Agreement, being:

• increasing the focus on pre and post-crisis
intervention, and improving links across
government and non-government agencies

• establishing an Innovation Fund to assist in
developing new programs and expanding
existing leading edge programs that support our
efforts to reduce homelessness

• establishing SAAP sector reviews, as part of the
Innovation Fund, to identify programs that are
effective and of national significance.

The SAAP V Agreement was signed by all States
and Territories, and the Australian Government
Senator, The Hon Kay Patterson, on 30 September
2005. The successful negotiation of the SAAP V
Agreement has resulted in recognition of a number
of the Social Inclusion initiatives, as well as an
additional allocation of $5.7 million from the
Australian Government over the period of the
agreement for innovation. South Australia's
contribution for innovation totals almost 
$72.5 million over the life of the Agreement.

Supported Residential Facilities

The Supported Residential Facilities sector is a
mainly private-for-profit, user-pays sector, driven
by market forces such as property values and
other on-costs. At 30 June 2006, there were 35
licensed pension-only Supported Residential
Facilities, with 1067 beds, across South Australia.
The last resident subsidy payment made, based
on residents in occupancy on 26 May 2006,
showed that there were 961 people living in
these facilities. Four of these Supported
Residential Facilities are government owned, 
and managed by non-government organisations.

The Supported Residential Facilities sector's
population presents with a range of health issues,
which affects their capacity to sustain independent
living, with many having links with government
agencies, either through referral or as non-active
clients. Chart 2 indicates that a large proportion of
residents have medium to high support needs.
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In 2005-06, we accomplished the following:

• facilitated the provision of additional targeted
support services, such as allied health and
disability support, to improve the quality of life,
and enhance sustainable tenure for Supported
Residential Facilities residents assessed as having
high, complex and unmet needs. The number of
services provided is outlined in Chart 3

• implemented the first payment of the key
Government initiative to provide eligible
Supported Residential Facilities with a
reimbursement of 75%, up to $80 000, against
their costs to install residential sprinkler systems

• continued to work with local government
authorised officers, and other significant groups,
in the administration of two Supported
Residential Facilities

• commenced the redevelopment of Aldridge
Court, a 12-bed facility located in Unley, to
ensure appropriate accommodation and support
for its residents

• assisted all people living in pension-only
Supported Residential Facilities to achieve
improved quality of life, through the provision
of a sustainment (board and care) subsidy via
renegotiated service agreements with Supported
Residential Facilities' proprietors. The number of
individuals for whom the subsidy was paid,
under the Government's five-year $57.7 million
Supported Residential Facilities sustainment
package, is shown in Chart 4.
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New Supported Residential Facilities residents' needs
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community concern. Regular meetings at the local
level will ensure that issues are identified and
addressed using local knowledge, with this process
to be evaluated in 2006-07 to assess the success 
of responses and solutions.

In November 2005, the South Australian Housing
Trust appeared before the Statutory Authorities
Review Committee to provide an update on the
significant progress it has made in the
management of disruptive housing tenancies. 
The Committee commended the South Australian
Housing Trust for its willingness to take on board
the recommendations from the Committee's 35th
Report from 2004.

Private Rental Liaison Officers

The Private Rental Liaison Officers project assists
households at risk of tenancy failure in the private
rental market to maintain their tenancies. By June
2006, the project was operational in seven regional
offices: Elizabeth, Salisbury, Murray Bridge
(Riverland), Noarlunga, Adelaide, Port Adelaide 
and Port Augusta.

Tenants who are assisted benefit through improved
life skills, improved access to the private rental
market, and are more aware of their tenancy rights
and responsibilities. Benefits for the housing system
include fewer bond guarantee claims and rent
arrears payments; a reduced amount of debt;
reduced pressure on the housing priority waiting list;
fewer customers in housing crisis, and therefore, less
pressure on the Supported Accommodation
Assistance Program and other crisis accommodation
services; and longer, more sustainable, tenancies.

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander housing

The Aboriginal Housing Authority, in providing
public rental housing to Aboriginal and Torres
Strait Islander households in receipt of low
incomes, or those with special needs, achieved its
commitment of an 80% allocation of vacancies to
customers with special needs. These customers
have extreme or urgent housing need, and are
often unable to access appropriate, long-term
housing options.

In 2005-06, the Aboriginal Housing Authority
entered into third party agreements with various
agencies, to provide housing for programs to

address the special needs of Aboriginal and Torres
Strait Islander groups, including those who may be
dealing with substance abuse, disability, domestic
violence or exiting prison. In 2005-06, the Aboriginal
Housing Authority undertook modifications on 60
properties for tenants with disabilities, at an average
cost of $1000 per property.

Operational Policy Advisory Committee

In 2005-06, the Operational Policy Advisory
Committee contributed to the review of a number
of operational policies. This Committee provides a
monthly forum for customer contribution to public
housing, and to the development and evaluation
of operational policy, procedures and practice.
Committee representation includes customers and
representatives of peak community groups. Tenants
in 2005-06 were asked to participate in two focus
groups: one to consider the reviewed Customer
Service Standards and the second group to provide
feedback into the Tenant Incentive Scheme co-
ordinated by Australian Housing and Urban
Research Institute Research Project, Queensland.

Housing for people with disabilities

In November 2005, an opening was held for five
community houses at Enfield, constructed to
provide high quality supported accommodation for
people with intellectual disabilities. The project, a
joint venture between the South Australian
Community Housing Authority, the Catholic
Church, the Sisters of Saint Joseph (Ain Karim

Ground, New York (the internationally recognised
methodology for housing the chronically homeless).

The South Australian Housing Trust continues to
lease properties, through the Supported Tenancy
Scheme, to Government and non-government
organisations that provide accommodation and
support services to people who are homeless, or at
risk of homelessness. As at 30 June 2006, 977
properties were leased to 76 organisations.

Crisis Accommodation Program

A number of homeless capital projects were
completed in 2005-06, with Crisis Accommodation
Program funding which is under the
Commonwealth-State Housing Agreement. These
include the Aboriginal Housing Authority's Sturt
Street development for women and families, Port
Augusta transitional camp, Hutt Street Day Centre
renovations, and a new site for the Southern
Domestic Violence Service.

Funding of $1.5 million over three years was made
available through the Indigenous Family Violence
Prevention project to provide intensive support, 
on site at the Sturt Street accommodation, for
homeless women and children escaping domestic
violence.

Transitional accommodation

In 2005-06, the Aboriginal Housing Authority
continued to provide transitional accommodation at
Ceduna, and in December 2005, opened the
Lakeview Transitional Accommodation Centre in Port
Augusta. The Wangka Wilurrara Accommodation
Centre in Ceduna has provided accommodation to
an average of 27 people per day in 2005-06, while
the Lakeview Transitional Accommodation Centre
has provided accommodation to an average of 22
people per day.

Services provided at these centres address the
special needs of residents, and work with other
agencies to provide pathways to long-term
housing and access to suitable services.

The Aboriginal Housing Authority has progressed
discussions with the Adelaide City Council, Coober
Pedy community and various agencies, in relation
to developing transitional accommodation centres
in these areas.
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Disruptive tenancy management

Disruptive complaints present a key challenge for
the South Australian Housing Trust, given the
conflict between the community's expectation of
the South Australian Housing Trust as landlord to
resolve the complaint, and the South Australian
Housing Trust's role as provider of housing for those
in need in the community. An evaluation of the
disruptive tenants policy, procedures and computer
system was undertaken in 2005-06. The evaluation
revealed that the use of the policy and system has
matured over the first year of implementation, and
has provided an improved framework for staff to
manage incidents of disruptive behaviour. Some
refinement and improvement is required, including
enhanced reporting to reflect all the important
stages and outcomes of the policy and process, and
set benchmarks that strive for improved
performance. These changes will occur in 2006-07.

In 2005-06, the South Australian Housing Trust has
actively pursued the development of appropriate
protocols with key agencies, including mental
health services and South Australia Police, to
ensure that customers and tenants access the full
range of services available to them, and that
service responses focus on early intervention and
prevention. A Memorandum of Understanding
(MOU) has been drafted between the South
Australian Housing Trust and mental health
services, ensuring the co-ordinated delivery of
mental health support and housing services for
mutual customers. The MOU is currently in the
endorsement process with implementation
anticipated in 2006-07.

A Service Agreement and Protocol between the
South Australian Housing Trust, the Aboriginal
Housing Authority and South Australia Police was
developed and implemented in 2005-06. The
Agreement focuses on fostering and supporting a
co-ordinated, collaborative and integrated
partnership, in order to address issues of disruption
and crime within social housing properties, whilst
providing reassurance and protection to the
community. At the operational level, this involves
the South Australian Housing Trust, the Aboriginal
Housing Authority and South Australia Police
meeting regularly to solve problems and develop
appropriate strategies to address issues of

A 21 unit project at Mitchell Park, commissioned
by SACHA, was completed in 2005-06 to provide
affordable housing options for people with high
housing needs, including people with an
intellectual disability.



Other priorities for 2006-07

We will also be working to achieve a number of
other priorities in 2006-07, including:

• piloting the extension of the Street to Home
service in the broader metropolitan area, and
forging links to points of identification, such as
the police, local councils and services

• continuing to promote the development of
accessible and adaptable housing that is suitable
for seniors and people with disabilities

• purchasing a property in Alice Springs to
accommodate Anangu people who require
supported care

• transferring the Supported Residential Facilities
program to Disability Services SA, to further
improve service provision, allied health and
disability support services to residents

• progressing broad-based reform of the
Supported Accommodation Assistance Program,
to achieve an integrated and co-ordinated
service system for the reduction and prevention
of homelessness

• identifying a suitable site for the establishment
of a Common Ground style supportive housing
development

• extending the scope of the Social Inclusion
Boarding House Outreach Program into
equivalent settings, such as caravan parks, and
developing clear exit points into long-term
housing

• developing the Crisis Accommodation Program's
strategic directions to align with our reform
agenda.
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community) and the Frederic Ozanam Housing
Association, was built on land provided by the
Catholic Church Endowment Society. The houses
are managed by the Frederic Ozanam Housing
Association with the Ain Karim community, and
auspiced by the Catholic Church providing support
services to the tenants.

Nine, two-bedroom, homes in Mitchell Park were
constructed in 2005-06, to provide accommodation
options for people with intellectual disabilities.
Commissioned by the South Australian Community
Housing Authority, as part of a 21-unit project to
provide affordable housing options for people with
high housing needs, the homes were constructed
as a partnership between the State Government
and the housing association, Housing Spectrum.
Built on land formerly owned by the South
Australian Housing Trust, the nine homes were
constructed to provide accommodation for young,
or middle aged, adults with intellectual disabilities
who are looking to leave their parents' home.

In February 2006, a new respite service in
Strathalbyn was established for high needs clients
with intellectual and physical disabilities. A joint
initiative between the State Government, and non-
government agencies Community Accommodation
and Respite Agency and Community Living and
Support Services, the new respite service will
receive funding of $300 000 each year from the
State Government.
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To promote community housing for tenants with
special needs, joint funding partnership ventures
were also completed in 2005-06 for people with
disabilities, at:

• Adelaide (Hocking Court) - five units

• Blair Athol - four houses

• Campbelltown - two houses

• Greenacres - two houses

• Royston Park - housing for four young women
with intellectual disabilities

• Balaklava - two houses

• Saddleworth - one house

In 2005-06, the South Australian Housing Trust
continued to undertake modifications to its
properties to enable tenants with disabilities to live
independently in their own homes. Modifications
included the installation of grab rails, ramps and
special smoke alarms for the hearing impaired.
Other work includes major re-modelling of
kitchens, bathrooms and toilets for people who are
mobility impaired. In 2005-06, the South
Australian Housing Trust modified 2670 properties,
at a cost of $2.9 million.

Key priorities for 2006-07

Transitional accommodation

In 2006-07, we will continue to provide public
housing to minimise the risks of housing failure
and homelessness for Aboriginal and Torres Strait
Islander South Australians by:

• constructing Stage 2 of the Lakeview
Transitional Accommodation Centre at Port
Augusta

• continuing to provide Transitional
Accommodation Services to communities in
Ceduna and Port Augusta

• working with community services, the Adelaide
City Council and Coober Pedy local council, to
establish transitional accommodation in these
areas.

Through a collaborative partnership between
SACHA, the Adelaide City Council and the Multi
Agency Community Housing Association, Hocking
Court was opened in February 2006 to
accommodate homeless and lower income people.

The result of a joint venture between SACHA, the
Catholic Church, the Sisters of Saint Joseph (Ain
Karim community) and the Frederic Ozanam
Housing Association, 5 homes were opened at
Enfield to provide supported accommodation for
people with intellectual disabilities.



Goal
To enable people to take charge of their lives and
ensure community connection opportunities are
available to all.

Context
Connecting to the Future: the strategic agenda for
the Department for Families and Communities
outlines the following context for the above goal:

There is a range of programs and activities that
support and enrich individuals and families and
build stronger communities. We need to ensure
that these are appropriately targeted, continue to
deliver value for money outcomes and develop the
capacity of individuals to move forward. This

Independence and community connection
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applies to the services we provide and those we

fund. We rely on the community services sector to

deliver programs that assist people in need as well

as programs that strengthen community capacity.

People with disabilities are part of our community

and are best cared for within their families and/or

the community, not in institutions. Family capacity

must be strengthened to provide this support

when families need it. Those who care for the

most vulnerable in our society need adequate

recognition, reward and training. There are

increasing demands on the disability dollar and the

costs of care for those with high and exceptional

“Funding community agencies and promoting voluntary services enhance community connection for people
with disabilities, Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people, older people and disadvantaged groups.”

needs continue to escalate. In allocating resources,
the challenge is to maintain fairness, quality of
care and to continue to tailor services to the needs
of the individual whether in the community or in
institutions. Expanding community based
accommodation options and accelerating the move
out of institutions is a priority.

South Australia has the greatest proportion of
aged people in Australia and it is growing. Older
South Australians play an important role through
continuing contributions to society. Our new
ageing strategy for South Australia will include
ways of enhancing the contributions of seniors in
the workforce, in families and in the community,
together with appropriate assistance in meeting
the needs for care and support. No one size fits all.

State and Federal responsibilities for ageing
Australians also need to be clarified.

Our partnership with the community services
sector is fundamental to effective service delivery
across the spectrum of those in need. We work
collaboratively on service planning, developing and
implementing service models and negotiating
service level agreements and performance
measures. There must be input not just from the
people we are working with, but also those we are
working for, our customers. The processes we use
to determine priorities, funding allocations and
policies are informed by regular evaluation,
research and review to determine what works best
for individuals, families and communities, and why.
We are clear about our expectations of providers
and transparent in our decision making.

In the interests of all South Australians, we are
committed to accountability and value for money
in managing our grant and funding processes
efficiently, effectively and with fairness.
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Links to South Australia's 
Strategic Plan
• Increase the level of volunteerism in South

Australia from 38% in 2000 to 50% within 
10 years (Target 5.6).

• Reduce the gap between the outcomes for South
Australia's Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander
population and those of the rest of South
Australia's population, particularly in relation to
health, life expectancy, employment, school
retention rates and imprisonment (Target 6.1).

• Increase the number of community-based
accommodation options (Target 6.5).

2005-06 major highlights
Retirement Villages Act 1987

Following an extensive period of consultation,
associated with a full review of the Act, a
Retirement Villages (Miscellaneous) Amendment
Bill 2005 was introduced in Parliament in
September 2005. The Bill was passed in November
2005 and assented to in December 2005. The
associated Regulations were gazetted in May
2006. The amended Act and Regulations come
into effect on 1 November 2006.

In relation to the ongoing administration of the
existing Act, the Office for the Ageing provided 
the following services in 2005-06, through its
Retirement Villages Information, Advice and
Mediation Officer:

• responded to 337 enquiries from residents,
prospective residents, members of the public,
owners and administrators of retirement
villages, solicitors, local councils, the Public
Trustee and Members of Parliament

• managed 35 new cases, many requiring legal
assistance and advice

• attended 16 Residential Tenancies Tribunal
hearings related to retirement villages matters

• mediated 14 disputes

• viewed five villages not previously visited

• met with nine resident groups.

Left to Right: Stephen Blight, Director, Volunteering;
Anne Gale, Director, Office for the Ageing; 
David Caudrey, Director, Office for Disability and
Client Services; Leeanne Head, Director, Community
Connect; Chris Larkin, Director, Aboriginal and
Torres Strait Islander Services
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Ageing grants

In 2005-06, 89 small grants, up to the value of
$2500, were provided by the Grants for Seniors
Program to support community organisations,
voluntary agencies and self-help groups to
promote and encourage community participation
by older people. $50 000 was also provided to the
Council on the Ageing to co-ordinate the Every
Generation celebrations in October 2005. In
addition, 11 Positive Ageing Development Grants,
up to the value of $25 000, were provided to
enable community-based organisations to develop
innovative projects that encouraged community
connections and fostered inter-generational links.

Aged Care Assessment Program

The Australian Department of Health and Ageing
funds Office for the Ageing to administer the Aged
Care Assessment Program. There are 15 Aged Care
Assessment Teams in South Australia, with total
funding of approximately $5.2 million, which
assess older people's eligibility for aged care.

From 1 July 2006, Office for the Ageing will take
on the full responsibility for the Aged Care
Assessment Program Evaluation Unit function from
the South Australian Department of Health. Office
for the Ageing is also working with the Australian
Government Department of Health and Ageing on
strategies to implement reforms by December
2007, as directed by the Council of Australian
Governments.

Seniors Card

The Seniors Card program is now in its 13th year
of operation within South Australia, and continues
to be enormously popular with those who meet
the eligibility criteria of being 60 years of age or
over, a permanent resident of Australia, and not
working more than 20 hours per week in paid
employment. Cardholders enjoy concessions on
public transport, council rates and the Emergency
Services Levy, along with discounts on a variety of
products and services provided by commercial
retailers who support the program.

There are currently just over 263 000 active
cardholders registered with the South Australian
Seniors Card program. As we are now beginning to
see the 'Baby Boomer' generation reaching the age
of 60, we anticipate a continuous and sharp increase
in new applications over the next 10 to 15 years.

Children and young people with disabilities
under the guardianship of the Minister

As a specific Keeping Them Safe initiative, the
Disability Care and Protection Steering Committee
undertook a major research project in 2005-06
relating to children with disabilities who are under
guardianship, or care, of the Minister for Families
and Communities. The research was designed to
identify the pathways into care for children and
young people with disabilities, the services or
support each child or young person is receiving,
identify gaps in service provision and any systemic
issues. The common goal of project stakeholders
was to identify potential improvements to services
and long-term outcomes, and to improve linkages,
communication and relationships across Families
SA and the disability sector.

Improving with Age 
- Our Ageing Plan for South Australia

In July 2005, Office for the Ageing commenced
the development of an Ageing Plan for South
Australia, to ensure that we appropriately meet 
the needs for care and support of seniors, and
identify ways of enhancing their contributions in
the workforce, in families and in the community.
Following broad community consultation,
Improving with Age - Our Ageing Plan for South
Australia was launched in February 2006. 
The Plan focuses on:

• enabling choice and independence in transport,
where seniors live, connecting to their
community, and health and well being

• valuing and recognising the contribution of
seniors through work, as grandparents and
carers, and as volunteers

• providing safety, security and protection to
seniors in their homes, their community and as
consumers

• delivering the right services and information 
to seniors in a timely and responsive manner,
tailored to the needs of the individual

• staying in front through research, innovative
practices and collaboration with others.

Key initiatives highlighted in the Ageing Plan
include:

• initiatives to help the community understand
and respond to dementia

• $300 000 for care services to isolated social
housing tenants who require support to live
independently

• a series of information sessions to help assist 
in planning towards retirement

• developing strategies to complement Home 
and Community Care funded services to
multicultural communities

• developing booklets for seniors on consumer
and law issues

• establishing a program to prevent and reduce
elder abuse.
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In June 2006, Regaining Your Control, a revised
booklet detailing the problem of elder abuse, and
advising people where to get help, was launched
on World Elder Abuse Awareness Day. An initiative
of the Ageing Plan, the revised booklet was
developed by, and for older South Australians, 
as an invaluable resource for service providers on
identifying, preventing, and where to find help on,
issues relating to elder abuse.

Home and Community Care

The Home and Community Care (HACC) Program
is a joint State, Territory and Australian
Government program that funds the provision of
basic home support services to assist frail older
people, younger people with disabilities, and their
carers, to continue to live independently in the
community, improve their quality of life and thus
avoid premature or inappropriate hospitalisation or
admission to residential care. Home support
services include assistance with showering and
support around the home, home nursing and allied
health, home maintenance, meals, transport and
respite. During 2005-06, $13 million was allocated
in Home and Community Care funding for new
and expanded projects and payment of indexation.

In 2005-06:

• HACC services were provided by approximately
162 funded service providers

• service providers included Metropolitan
Domiciliary Care, the Royal District Nursing
Service, local governments, Meals on Wheels
and a range of other non-government
organisations

• Australian Government and State Government
funding to the HACC program was $118.6
million for South Australia. Increases to funding
are demonstrated in Chart 5.

$87.7
$95.0

$102.4
$109.7

$118.6

2005-062004-052003-042002-032001-02

Chart 5: 

Total Home and Community Care funding in 
South Australia ($million)

$127.9

2006-07

Staff of Community Connect volunteering their
time at a DFC funded agency.
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Disability Services Framework

The Disability Services Framework 2004-07 was
developed in 2004-05 to provide strategic
directions, policies and services in the disability
sector. Agencies from across the sector utilise 
the Framework to guide their planning and
development. An implementation plan for the
Framework was developed in 2005-06, and this 
is progressively being implemented.

Day options for people with disabilities

Major reforms were implemented in 2005-06 in
the day options sector, to streamline contract
management processes and improve accountability
and the quality of day options services.

Community Benefit SA

Community Benefit SA is a State Government
program that allocates up to $4 million per year 
to the community for one-off projects that assist
non-government community services agencies to
improve the well being, quality of life, community
participation and life management skills of
disadvantaged individuals, families and
communities. In 2005-06, 414 one-off projects
were funded for a total of $3.9 million.

Funding was provided for a range of projects for
target population groups as shown in Chart 8.
Some projects illustrated in Chart 8 impact on
more than one target group, and are therefore
counted more than once. Projects funded through
Community Benefit SA were aimed at supporting
the type of organisations outlined in Chart 9.

The research project is near completion, with
approximately 148 children and young people
identified as meeting the criteria for the study. 
A comprehensive profile of each child has been
gathered by interviewing case managers and
undertaking an analysis of data gathered. The
report findings and recommendations for service
improvement will be presented to the Disability
Care and Protection Reference Group and Senior
Executive.

Commonwealth, State/Territory 
Disability Agreement

Under the current Commonwealth, State/Territory
Disability Agreement, there has been a significant
increase in the level of funding allocated to
disability services. Funding provided to disability
services under the current Agreement is reflected
in Chart 6.

A major focus of the disability sector is to increase
the number of community accommodation options,
with a decrease in institutional places. Under the
current Commonwealth, State/Territory Disability
Agreement, progress has been made in this area 
as shown in Chart 7. It is projected that by June
2008, South Australia will have experienced a 55%
increase in community-based accommodation, 
and a 43% decrease in institutional places, since
2002-03.
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Correction: Chart 6, on page 28 of the
Department for Families and Communities' Annual
Report for 2004-05, incorrectly reflects funding
allocation under the current Commonwealth,
State/Territory Disability Agreement. State
Government funding to disability services was
incorrectly shown as that of the Australian
Government, and Australian Government funding,
that of the State Government.
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Chart 6: 

Funding allocation under the current Commonwealth,
State/Territory Disability Agreement ($million)
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Chart 7: 

Total accommodation places funded under the Commonwealth,
State/Territory Disability Agreement as at 30 June of each
reporting year
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Community Benefit SA - funding to target areas
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Categories of Community Benefit SA projects
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Carers

The Carers Recognition Act 2005 was enacted in
October 2005 and represents a significant
milestone in affirming the role of the estimated
250 000 South Australians who provide care to
family and friends. The legislation requires that
government and government-funded services
comply with obligations that now exist to consult
with and respond to carers’ needs.

The SA Carers Policy was completed, and
preparation for publishing has been finalised. A
Carers Reference Group, inclusive of all
stakeholders, was formed and represents a formal
process of carer consultation. This group is a
formal point of reference and advises us on issues
that affect carers.

Gambling

In 2005-06, a gambling prevalence study, jointly
commissioned by the department and the
Independent Gambling Authority, completed a
survey of approximately 17 000 people, designed
to investigate levels and patterns of gambling
behaviour in the South Australian community. The
data collected will inform gambling service
planning and delivery across government and non-
government sectors.

New gambling service priorities have been
identified, and developmental work undertaken, to
expand services in the areas of young people,
cultural groups, Aboriginal and Torres Strait
Islander services and intensive gambling treatment
services. Additional financial counsellor positions
have been funded to address the impacts of
problem gambling in South Australia. New funding
has also been allocated to the Offenders Aid and
Rehabilitation Service, to provide services to
offenders and their families who are affected by
problem gambling.

Workforce development has been a focus for the
gambling help services, with a state-wide training
and workforce support strategy delivered to
gambling service providers across South Australia.
A state-wide public awareness campaign, problem
gambling website, and gambling awareness
newsletter have raised awareness of problem
gambling amongst various community groups.
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Advancement of Aboriginal and Torres Strait
Islander families, local groups and
communities

In 2005-06, effective DFC services were established
on Anangu Pitjantjatjara Yankunytjatjara (APY)
Lands. A new community-based substance misuse
and youth diversionary program was implemented
across the APY Lands, with a community-based
Homemaker service implemented in one large, and
one small, community. Due to the establishment of
a co-ordinated departmental approach to the APY
Lands, significant improvement in disability, aged
and environmental health services have been
achieved over the last year.

The Aboriginal Youth Action Committees' three-
day summit was held in June 2006, with
participants from 16 regions throughout South
Australia. The aim was to provide knowledge,
ideas and resources to young Aboriginal and Torres
Strait Islander people. Workshops were held to
discuss identified key issues, with guest speakers
working with the Aboriginal Youth Action
Committees to develop new ideas and realistic
solutions to use in their respective communities.

Volunteers

In December 2005, the Volunteers Unit was
established, in response to target 5.6 of South
Australia's Strategic Plan, the Premier's commitment
to volunteering, as outlined in Advancing the
Community Together, and our commitment to
volunteering, as detailed in Connecting to the
Future. In 2005-06 the Volunteers Unit, following
extensive consultation, produced a draft Volunteers
Policy and Charter of Mutual Obligation, detailing
our commitment to ensuring volunteers are trained,
valued and work in safe environments.

Draft Volunteers Operational Guidelines were
prepared, in line with national standards, following
an intensive workshop involving DFC staff, the
Office for Volunteers and Volunteering SA. The
guidelines cover approximately 25 operational
areas ranging from training, reimbursement, safety,
and reward and recognition.

Service Excellence Program

The Service Excellence Framework (SEF) is a quality
and continuous improvement tool for DFC and any
external services that we fund that are not engaged
in a formal quality program. Engagement with SEF
occurs on a voluntary basis and while it is run from
within DFC, is a shared service with the Department
of Health. 

In May 2006, the Service Excellence Program
completed the development of a new and
improved version of the Service Excellence
Framework, titled Service Excellence II. An
extensive consultation process was undertaken
across the non-government and government
health and community services sectors in the
planning of the new version. An independent
review of the Framework was also conducted. In
June 2006, the Service Excellence Program applied
to the International Society for Quality in Health
Care's Accreditation Program to have the Service
Excellence Framework including Service Excellence
II, internationally accredited.

At the request by the Community Services
Ministers' Advisory Council (CSMAC), South
Australia convened a national working party to
explore streamlining quality standards. The national
working party comprises State, Territory and
Australian Government representatives who have
agreed that:

• streamlining on common quality areas would 
be valuable to support and strengthen the 
non-government sector

• there are seven core standards common to
many quality frameworks that could be used 
for mutual recognition across and within states.

Concessions program

The South Australian Government's Energy
Concessions of $120 per annum, and the one-off
Energy Concession Bonus of $150, was extended,
and successfully implemented to include access to
eligible single people from 1 July 2005. This
includes single people receiving eligible Centrelink
benefits and allowances, full-time students
receiving Abstudy and Austudy (including couples)
and those participating in the New Enterprise
Incentive Scheme (NEIS) and the Commonwealth
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Development Employment Programme. It was
estimated that up to 30 000 additional people
could access energy concessions under this
initiative.

Community sector development
The Human Services Peaks Forum has continued 
to be an active forum for discussing community
services trends and issues affecting the delivery of
services. Service funding guidelines and service
agreements have been reviewed to streamline
government and community sector
communication, and a joint paper on mental
health was developed in 2005-06.

Service priorities and funding to the community
services sector, for family support, neighbourhood
development, youth and low-income services have
been updated to better reflect the current needs of
people requiring these services. Additional funding
has been allocated to a number of neighbourhood
development initiatives in the Adelaide City, Port
Adelaide Enfield and Charles Sturt areas.

An examination of the support services provided to
families by the community sector has been
undertaken. The relationship that these services
have with government child protection services has
been a focus. Analysis of referral pathways and
types of contact made to services has been
undertaken to inform the design of new service
responses that are effective in helping families and
preventing harm to children.

Community funding framework - master
agreement

A community funding framework for all funded
community services organisations was
implemented in 2005-06, in conjunction with the
Crown Solicitor's Office, Department of Health and
the community services sector. The framework
includes a single master agreement containing the
terms and conditions for the provision of funding.
The master agreement will be used across DFC and
the Department of Health, thereby providing a
single set of terms and conditions that
organisations will be required to meet.
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Day options for people with disabilities

We are committed to improving the day options
sector to ensure that:

• there is better transition planning for students
leaving school and entering day options

• there is improved support to enable young
people to transition from day options to
employment, both supported and open

• there are improved assessment and access
pathways for people to enter the day options
system that are more closely aligned with
Centrelink, and assessment processes of the
Department of Education and Children's
Services

• there is an equitable funding system so that
people are assigned funding in line with their
support needs and circumstances

• there is monitoring of day options services to
ensure that quality and responsive services are
being delivered

• there is a consistent approach to transporting
clients to and from day options and home.

The day options program will be:

• developmentally focused on learning and
development, based on the assessment of the
person's abilities and needs

• community focussed, through informal and
formal learning programs

• equitable and socially inclusive, by offering
people flexible arrangements and choices

• portable to meet individual needs and
preferences

• aimed at transition to employment wherever
possible.

Disability Services SA

On 24 April 2006, Cabinet approved the
establishment of Disability Services SA, which
involved inter alia, the dissolution of the existing
disability health agencies being the Intellectual
Disability Services Council (IDSC), Independent
Living Centre (ILC) and Julia Farr Service (JFS). The
establishment of Disability Services SA provides the
opportunity to develop an integrated, streamlined

disability services system with clear points of entry,
coherent client pathways and case management
approaches.

Services provided by IDSC, ILC and JFS will be
delivered by the same staff through Disability
Services SA, to ensure continuity of care for clients,
and that staff expertise is channelled to best
support client needs. This change will result in less
red tape for new and existing clients and
guaranteed access to services that are integrated
and sustainable.

Due diligence processes have commenced to
ensure the dissolution and transfer of functions,
assets and staff occur in a timely and orderly
manner. In 2006-07, we will ensure that
communication of changes to staff, clients, families
and stakeholders is ongoing.

Accommodation and personal support for
people with disabilities

The South Australian Government is committed to
increasing the supply of community-based
accommodation for people with disabilities, a key
target of South Australia's Strategic Plan. In
December 2005, the Minister for Disability
established the Supported Accommodation Task
Force (SATF) to develop an Accommodation and
Personal Support Services Policy and Plan for people
with disabilities, including high needs clients.

The first Volunteers Recognition Ceremony was
held in February 2006, acknowledging 31 long
serving volunteers who had, between them,
contributed over 70 000 hours of service to Families
SA. The second ceremony was held in June 2006
on SA Volunteers Day, when 30 volunteers who
had worked with DFC were acknowledged by the
Minister for Families and Communities. These
volunteers had contributed a total of over 110 000
hours of service to the disability sector.

Key priorities for 2006-07
Retirement Villages Act 1987

Office for the Ageing will conduct a series of
information sessions for authorities administering
retirement villages, residents, and other interested
parties, to assist the industry to prepare for the
implementation of the amendments to the Act and
Regulations, and to inform others of impending
changes. Summarised information about the
amendments will be available from 1 July 2006, as
will a series of updated Information brochures for
Prospective/Residents and Resources for
Administering Authorities. A database required for
the registration of all retirement villages by May
2007, will be ready for implementation on 1
November 2006.

Ageing Plan for South Australia

Ageing Plan initiatives are to be further
implemented, including a number of dementia
initiatives, a State of the Ageing Report,
development of customer feedback mechanisms
and the development of an elder abuse prevention
plan, which will build on the success of the Elder
Abuse Awareness Day conference. Ongoing
promotion of the Ageing Plan will occur in 
2006-07, through a number of public events and
launches, including the International Symposium of
Caring for Older People. 

Each chapter of the Ageing Plan will continue to
be developed for further action including:

• improving the service system

• understanding barriers to employment for 
older people

• pursuing workforce development and related
issues
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• understanding the needs of low income, and

socially isolated, people

• developing elder friendly communities

• active and positive ageing.

Office for the Ageing will also develop research
and funding priorities consistent with the
directions of the Ageing Plan, which will include
working with universities to set priorities and
identify synergies and partnerships.

Home and Community Care

Office for the Ageing will undertake a number of
reforms in 2006-07 in the planning and funding
allocation processes for Home and Community
Care (HACC) growth funding in South Australia.
The reforms are in response to calls from the sector
to improve, and simplify, the HACC Funding Round
and reduce the administrative burden on both
service providers and Office for the Ageing staff. A
project manager has been appointed to review
current processes for planning, funding,
contracting, monitoring, and evaluating the
provision of services under the HACC program in
South Australia, and to recommend initiatives that
will improve the efficiency and effectiveness of
financial and resource management in Office for
the Ageing.

It is anticipated that the proposed new planning
and funding allocation processes will be
progressively implemented, commencing in the
2006-07 HACC Funding Round. The processes will
be continuously reviewed and revised as necessary.
Government evaluation, and further information
regarding the proposed reforms and what this
means for Phase 1 in the 2006-07 HACC Funding
Round, will become available as soon as these
details are worked through. Consultation processes
will also be undertaken as part of the reform
processes.

HACC services were provided by approximately
162 funded service providers to assist frail older
people, younger people with disabilities, and 
their carers, to continue to live independently 
in the community.



Goal
To ensure children, young people and families are
safe, supported and connected to the future.

Context
Connecting to the Future: the strategic agenda for
the Department for Families and Communities
outlines the following context for the above goal:

Reports of suspected child abuse and neglect are
increasing significantly. Repeat notifications for
neglect are at a particularly high level. This has
stretched the Government's resources. The
Government has responded with the Layton
Review and the Keeping them Safe program for
reform. When children are suffering from neglect,

Keeping Them Safe
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we know it can be the unintended consequence 

of interconnected circumstances such as poverty,

substance misuse, poor educational attainment,

mental illness, inadequate housing and family

breakdown. Such factors mean some parents are

not able to be effective parents. Family support

measures can reduce the likelihood of 

re-notification for neglect and this is a focus 

for the future.

There are community expectations that the

perpetrators of abuse will be dealt with severely

and today people are more willing to report their

concerns when they see children at risk of harm.

“We are committed to making sure that all children and young people are safe and reach their
potential and that this is a shared responsibility of all communities.”

The SATF will deliver its final report to the Minister
in September 2006, and the Office for Disability
and Client Services will take the lead role in
implementing the Accommodation and Personal
Support Services Plan in 2006-07. The Plan will set
out actions, timeframes and investment options for
improving services and increasing accommodation
and personal support options for people with
disabilities in South Australia.

Service Excellence Program

Service Excellence II, the new version of the Service
Excellence Framework, will be launched and
promoted in 2006-07, with training and new
resources being provided to funded, non-
government organisations engaging in Service
Excellence II. The Service Excellence Program will
continue to strive for best practice in the Service
Excellence Framework, by gaining international
accreditation through the International Society for
Quality in Health Care's Accreditation Program.

The Service Excellence Program will progress the
National Working Party outcomes for streamlining
quality and accreditation mechanisms by developing:

• a strong national network

• a State agreement with key stakeholders to
mutually recognise common standards.

Volunteers

Key priorities in 2006-07 include:

• releasing the DFC Volunteers Policy and Charter
of Mutual Obligation

• releasing the DFC Volunteers Operational
Guidelines for a six month trial and will be
modified according to feedback and considered
for use in other government agencies

• convening a further three volunteers recognition
ceremonies to be held

• aligning volunteer training to the work of the
College of Learning and Development and
exploring the potential to link volunteer training
programs with accreditation 

• expanding corporate volunteering opportunities
for DFC staff
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• developing links with the University of South

Australia's Hawke Ambassadors program, with
the possibility of DFC staff gaining university
accreditation for community (possibly
international) volunteering opportunities

• signing an agreement with Aboriginal and
Torres Strait Islander community volunteers,
which will provide opportunities for staff to
offer their skills and expertise to Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander communities that call
for assistance

• preparing a set of common volunteer data
management procedures for DFC business
units, to ensure optimum efficiencies are
employed in recruiting, retaining and
acknowledging volunteers.

Other priorities for 2006-07 include:

• a review of ICT use and requirements in the
community services sector will be undertaken, in
collaboration with the South Australian Council
of Social Services, to provide a better
understanding of the expectations, and
potential, the community services sector has for
delivering services

• a review of the Concessions Program, including
eligibility criteria, associated policies and ICT
systems, will be undertaken, and alternative
strategies developed to enable the delivery of a
more efficient and effective program, including
improving accessibility of concessions to 
eligible customers

• consolidation of the substance misuse and
youth diversionary program on the Anangu
Pitjantjatjara Yankunytjatjara (APY) Lands, and
the significant expansion of the Homemaker
service to eight communities

• ongoing development and implementation 
of an effective response to family violence, 
and stabilising new community disability, aged
and environmental health initiatives on the 
APY Lands.

Left to Right: Beth Dunning, Executive Director,
Families SA; Steve Ramsey, Deputy Executive
Director, Families SA



There is a need to build a sense of shared
responsibility for supporting children and families.
There is good evidence to show that early
intervention, a focus on the early years,
approaches that consider the whole child and
family context and joined up action across
government are the strategies that work.

Children and young people must be given every
chance to achieve, to get the most out of life and
make a positive contribution. Recognising that
good parenting is a critical success factor in early
childhood development, there is a range of
support services for families who require assistance
in order to provide a safe, nurturing and stable
environment for their children.

We need to make sure that programs and
intervention strategies are well integrated across 
all relevant agencies and information is shared
about families and children at risk.

Schools are often safe havens for vulnerable
children and can be a focus for local level service
collaboration. Non-government organisations and
the health sector are key partners in our efforts to
develop co-ordinated responses that protect high
risk infants.

For some children and young people there is a
need for more appropriate alternative care and
accommodation options: the range of options will
be explored with the non-government sector and
expanded. Children under the guardianship of the
Minister are entitled to a level of care that provides
the same choices and opportunities as other
children and young people. We must be
conscientious parents of the children in our care.
We need to recognise foster carers as our partners
in caring for children and young people and
provide the appropriate training and support that
will keep families together and create
environments where children can thrive.

Expanding opportunities for young people in the
juvenile justice system is a strategy to end re-
offending. Early intervention for at risk and minor
offenders is critical, particularly for very young
offenders. A co-ordinated response by agencies 
is needed to ensure that a young person does not
fall between the cracks because our service
responses are fragmented. Community based
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programs, working with families, involving young
people directly in assessing their own needs and 
in case planning and monitoring, developing
marketable skills in young people and building
supportive relationships for the longer term are
some of the ingredients for success.

Links to South Australia's Strategic Plan
• Infant mortality: continue to be the best

performing State in Australia (Target 2.3).

• Reduce crime rates to the lowest in Australia
within 10 years (Target 2.8).

• Reduce the gap between the outcomes for
South Australia's Aboriginal and Torres Strait
Islander population and those of the rest of
South Australia's population, particularly in
relation to health, life expectancy, employment,
school retention rates and imprisonment 
(Target 6.1).

• Increase the percentage of students completing
Year 12 or its equivalent to 90% within 10 years
(Target 6.13).

2005-06 major highlights
Care and protection for children and 
young people

Families SA's program of improvement and change
reflects the goals of Keeping Them Safe, the South
Australian Government's child protection reform
program, which places the child at the centre of
the protection system. The care and protection of
children is a whole-of-government and community
responsibility.

Keeping Them Safe has five reform priorities. 
They are:

• support for families and children

• effective and appropriate interventions

• reforming work practices and cultures

• collaborative partnerships

• improved accountability.

The review and amendment of the Children's
Protection Act 1993, with 18 changes to be
implemented, also drives major systems change
across government and non-government agencies,
in order to improve the model of child protection
in South Australia. To achieve the major changes 

of the legislative review, and through Keeping
Them Safe, the Child Protection Directorate of
Families SA launched the Child Protection
Development Plan in January 2006. The Plan
improves existing processes of assessment,
investigation and intervention, provides greater
clarity in information sharing structures and
practices for children at risk, and enhances service
responses for those children and young people in
the child protection system.

Also considered within the Child Protection
Development Plan are the findings of the
Commission of Inquiry into Children in State Care,
the Review of Yaitya Tirramangokotti (an Aboriginal
child protection Intake and Assessment service) and
the Select Committee Report on the Juvenile Justice
System. The Plan charts the strategic direction for
providing integrated, equitable, child-centred
approaches to meet the needs of children and
young people, by promoting child-focused, 
child-safe communities across government, and in
the broader community.

Major projects linking the legislative and systems
reforms include:

• implementation of the Child Protection
Memorandum of Understanding between the
Department of Health and Families SA, including
the development of an Information Sharing
Protocol to provide clarity for both organisations
on information sharing in relation to children
and young people at risk. The processes and
guidelines will provide the basis for similar
information sharing protocols across other key
South Australian Government departments

• implementation of Infants at Risk, a major pilot
project to trial new models of early intervention
for families, where an infant has been the
subject of notification of child abuse or neglect.
The outcomes of the pilot will be evaluated
pending further development

• redesign of the mandated notifier training
package to strengthen the message of
communities working together for the safety 
of children

• establishment of a brief intervention team at the
Crisis Response Unit.
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We have also continued to maintain our statutory
care and protection functions for children and
young people. In 2005-06, the Child Abuse Report
Line received 25 183 notifications of suspected
child abuse or neglect. Of these notifications, 
15 047 were assessed as needing an investigation
or assessment of the child's and family's
circumstances, as outlined in Chart 10.

50
0

58
21

25
33

63
9

77
9

63
82

27
11

76
2

66
1

74
44

36
17

10
30

78
5

86
88

38
25

95
2

92
0

94
89

45
16

11
52

61
3

77
58

42
25

11
29

2004-052003-042002-032001-022000-01

Chart 10: 

Number of child protection notifications

2005-06

Tier 1 notifications - child is in immediate danger and Families SA responds
immediately.

Tier 2 notifications - child is at risk of significant harm and Families SA responds
within a short timeframe.

Tier 3 notifications - family has high needs but there is a low risk to child in the
short-term. Families SA provides support as required.

EXF notifications - allegations of extra-familial (outside the child's family)
abuse are referred to the police.

Tier 1 Tier 2 Tier 3 EXF*

Strong Families Safe Babies

The Strong Families Safe Babies program was
implemented in 2004-05 as part of the Keeping
Them Safe reform agenda, to reduce the incidence
of infants being harmed. Strong Families Safe
Babies' workers provide intensive and sustained
intervention to families, including:

• ongoing safety assessments

• parenting capacity assessments

• proactive service planning

• practical home-based support to model
effective parenting strategies

• an around the clock on-call service

• the option of working with families during
critical periods of the day.
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Two teams, working in the northern metropolitan
and southern metropolitan and Victor Harbor
areas, work intensively with families to increase
parenting capacity, and provide improved safety 
for infants aged between birth and two years. 
The Strong Families Safe Babies program received
83 referrals in 2005-06, with the northern team
receiving 42 referrals and the Southern Team 41.
Over 20% of the infants referred to the program
were Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander children.

Transitional linked care

In January 2006, the tenth transitional home for
young people at risk was established as part of
our effort to ease the pressure on our alternative
care system. The transitional homes provide
accommodation, care and support, in a home-like
setting, for children and young people with
difficult and challenging behaviours who are
waiting for a longer-term placement, or possible
reunification with their families. The children and
young people staying in these houses are cared
for and supported by Families SA staff, with
psychologists providing guidance and direction to
the staff in relation to therapeutic intervention
and behaviour management.

The establishment of 10 transitional homes
complements other programs being rolled out to
care for children who cannot live with their own
families, including a Placement Panel to better
match children with alternative care placements.
Other transitional houses are located at Banksia
Park, St Agnes, Old Noarlunga, Modbury North,
Whyalla and Mount Gambier. The tenth home was
established at Woodcroft, along with two homes
at Hope Valley, which have disability access.

Support for children and young people 
under guardianship

The Children's Protection Act 1993 provides the
overall reunification framework by affirming the
importance of keeping children within their own
families, preserving and strengthening relationships
between children and their birth families, taking
into consideration the views of children.
Amendments made to section 38(2) of the Act, in
2005-06, emphasise the importance of settled and
stable living arrangements for children, as well as
long-term guardianship orders being preferred to 
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a series of temporary arrangements. These
amendments strengthen the focus on concerted
time-limited efforts to return a child to the safe
care of family, the provision of stable long-term
care arrangements for a child unable to be
returned to their birth family, and the importance
of the maintenance and strengthening of family
relationships.

In 2005-06, the Guardianship and Alternative Care
Directorate in Families SA:

• facilitated a practice forum with staff from
across Families SA, regarding reunification and
permanency planning

• started a process for reviewing the Australian
and international literature on reunification and
stability in care

• increased the number of children and young
people living with their relatives by 86% 
since 2000-01

• accommodated an increased number of children
and young people in care, by 32% since 2000-01.

The number of children and young people under
guardianship, or on 12-month care and protection
orders, is outlined in Chart 11. These children and
young people were cared for within a variety of
alternative care options, as shown in Chart 12.
Alternative care placements are also arranged for
children who are in need of short term placements
away from their family.

Rapid Response

An initiative of the South Australian Government's
Keeping Them Safe commitment to child protection
reform. Rapid Response was launched in November
2005 to assist State Government departments and
agencies to provide a timely, co-ordinated and
holistic service response to children under the
guardianship of the Minister. Rapid Response will
allow for more appropriate information sharing
between agencies, to ensure services respond
efficiently to the needs of children under the
guardianship of the Minister, who will receive:

• preference to dental and other health
appointments

• tailor-made education plans to overcome
learning gaps

• increased access to therapy services

• free TAFE access

• increased opportunities to housing, and housing
support, after they leave care.

Foster carer relations

The Office of Foster Care Relations was established
in 2004 to provide a higher focus on foster carers
and the issues they face. In 2005-06, the Office for
Foster Care Relations strengthened its working
links with the Carer Information and Support
Service. Foster carers are directed to the Carer

Information and Support Service in the first
instance, with issues that are unable to be resolved
then referred to the Office for Foster Care
Relations for higher level intervention.

In September 2005, the Minister for Families and
Communities launched the revised Foster Carers
Charter, which was developed following extensive
consultation with foster carers, placement support
workers and Families SA staff. The Foster Carers
Charter, first released in 1996, outlines the rights
of Foster Carers and their responsibilities.

The Office for Foster Care Relations is developing a
complaints procedure for foster carers, which sets
out the path for carers to take if they have any
problems. The Office has consulted extensively with
carers, placement support agencies and Families SA
staff. It is anticipated that the procedures will be
available to all foster carers by August 2006.

Adoption services

All adoptions of children by residents of South
Australia are conducted through Families SA's
Adoption and Family Information Service (AFIS),
which provides information, advice, advocacy,
counselling, mediation and assessment about
adoption and past separations of children from
their families. From 1 April 2005, the inter-country
adoption program operated from within DFC,
reflecting an increased commitment to
safeguarding children and to quality assessment
and placement services.

In 2005-06, AFIS processed 72 adoption orders,
and provided 305 people with information about
their adoption (usually to enable them to re-
connect with their birth families). The origins of
children adopted by South Australians during
2005-06 are outlined in Chart 13.
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as at 30 June
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Youth justice

DFC is responsible for the care and welfare of
young people sentenced to detention due to
criminal activity, in either the Cavan Training
Centre or the Magill Training Centre. Not only are
we obliged to enhance community safety and
ensure young people who offend are held
accountable for their actions, we also have a duty
to work with these young people to minimise the
chance that they re-offend on release. Expanding
opportunities for young people in the youth justice
system is a strategy to end re-offending.

The number of young people serving community-
based orders is shown in Chart 14. The length of
time some of these young people were detained in
a secure care facility is shown in Chart 15, and
includes young people remanded in custody, as
well as those who were sentenced to detention.
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The Remand Management Review, conducted in
2004, highlighted the impact that inconsistent
assessment and intervention can play in increasing
the remand numbers within secure care centres.
Families SA has pursued key strategies identified in
the Review, and implemented the following in
2005-06:

• established a Youth Justice Steering Committee
to oversee the development of new system
responses

• developed a new Manual of Practice, which sets
out operational policy, standards and guidelines,
and interfaces with current case management
developments

• developed quality assurance processes between
the Magill Secure Care Liaison Unit and Court
Liaison Unit, to monitor and minimise
inappropriate remand in custody

• held joint discussions between the Youth Justice
Directorate and the Alternative Care Directorate
and commenced planning about service
pathways for young people in the justice system

• prepared a submission to the Select Committee
on Youth Justice about the use of bail and
remand, with involvement in work that is being
progressed through the Social Inclusion Unit.

Refugee program

The Refugee Program assists children and families
who have escaped persecution in their home
country and have been accepted into Australia as
permanent residents under the Australian
humanitarian program. The Program provides
supervision in the community to young people who
arrive without legal visas, and under an agreement
with the Australian Minister of Immigration and
Multicultural Affairs, is specifically responsible for
assistance to minors who arrive without a legal
guardian. The predominant countries of origin for
young people under 18 years, who arrive in
Australia without their families, are Afghanistan,
Iran, Sudan, Liberia, Sierra Leone and Burundi.
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During 2005-06:

• 73 young people arrived in South Australia
without their parents

• 86 young people were supervised by the
Refugee Program

• 96 cases were closed

• 20 young people were in foster care, and 66
were in the care of relatives or friends with
whom they had travelled to Australia.

The Refugee Program recruits, trains and supports
foster carers from the cultural, linguistic and
religious backgrounds of the children for whom they
provide care. The Program employs staff, many of
whom are multi-lingual, from Iran, Afghanistan,
Sudan, Sierra Leone, Uganda, Iraq and Cambodia.

Special investigations

The Special Investigation Unit reports directly to the
Chief Executive of the Department for Families and
Communities, and is responsible for assessing and
investigating allegations and notifications of harm or
abuse of a child or young person under the
guardianship of the Minister by a foster carer, a
Families SA staff member, or a volunteer. All
investigations undertaken by the Special Investigation
Unit have a focus on identifying individual, program
and systems abuse. The Unit operates independently
of Families SA and foster care agencies, and provides
recommendations about improving practices, policies
and procedures to improve the care and protection
of children and young people.

299 notifications were received in 2005-06, and
were assessed, or were in the process of being
assessed, by the Special Investigation Unit. Of
these notifications:

• 193 were assessed and referred to Families SA
for attention, and of these, 172 related to
carers, 20 to Families SA staff members, and
one to a volunteer

• 42 were assessed as requiring a special
investigation by the Unit, with 27 of these
notifications related to carers, and 15 to Families
SA staff members

• a further 61 notifications were assessed by the
Unit, and as at 30 June 2006, three were still in
the process of assessment.
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Chart 14: 

Young offenders - community-based orders

2005-06

Suspended detention Obligation Community service orders Bail

Suspended detention - the young person's sentence to detention is suspended on
certain conditions.

Obligation - the young person is obliged to act in a certain way (eg. be supervised,
carry out specific work, etc).

Community service orders - the young person is obliged to carry out specific work.

Bail - the young person is released from custody on certain conditions while
waiting for trial.
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Financial counselling and 
emergency assistance

Families SA is the largest provider of financial
counselling services in South Australia, with trained
financial counsellors operating at all Families SA's
District Centres. These counsellors provide free
confidential advice, assist people to prepare
budgets, advocate on their behalf, assist in the
payment of bills and provide emergency financial
assistance. Chart 16 reflects the large number of
financial counselling services, and emergency
assistance, provided by Families SA to South
Australians.

To enhance our ability to be successful in this role,
during 2006-06 we employed four financial
counsellors to provide specialised services to
persons with problem gambling and associated
financial problems. These counsellors are employed
at Noarlunga, Marion, Salisbury and Elizabeth
District Centres to work with other financial
counsellors in Families SA and local non-
government service providers, to better identify
problem gamblers, and to ensure appropriate
support services are offered.
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Families SA workforce

We have been working to improve the capacity
and skill level of our child protection workforce to
ensure we can provide the best and most effective
services to support our vulnerable children and
young people. In 2005-06, Families SA adopted a
new approach to potential new recruits, by
running information sessions that provide practical
information on the advantages of a challenging
and rewarding career with Families SA, and
increased career pathways within DFC. This has led
to an increase in the number of social workers
applying through the 2005 graduate program.
Following a review of Psychology Services, there
has been an increase in the number of
psychologists employed by Families SA, and there
have been some changes to youth work
recruitment information and assessment processes.

In 2005-06, Families SA held a series of meetings
with the University of South Australia, and Flinders
University's social work departments, with the aim
of enhancing partnerships in the areas of social
work curriculum and increased social work
placement availability. We also joined with Flinders
University in a three-year project on developing a
new supervision model for social work students.
Families SA's Regional Directorates have agreed 
to provide more social work student placements 
in 2006-07.

In 2005-06, Workforce Planning encompassed a
strong partnership approach, particularly with DFC
Human Resources and Learning and Development
to ensure that Families SA moves towards
improved attraction and retention practices. This
has enabled Families SA to attract the right people
for the right job with the right mix of skills, to
ensure that the strategic directions are met, and
Families SA is better placed to respond to the
general skill shortages.

Child Death and Serious Injury 
Review Committee

Over 100 children die in South Australia every year.
Some of these deaths, from accidents, drowning,
suicide, assault and neglect, could be prevented. In
2005-06, the Child Death and Serious Injury
Review Committee was established.

In February 2006, the enabling legislation for the
Committee was proclaimed as part of certain
amendments to the Children's Protection Act
1993. The Chair and thirteen members have been
appointed to the Committee. The membership
holds knowledge, experience and expertise in child
forensics, psychology, advocacy, health, justice,
youth and Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander
issues. The Committee is assisted by a small
secretariat located within DFC.

The function of the Committee is to examine the
deaths and serious injuries of South Australian
children aged from birth up to 18 years. The
Committee aims to identify systems, policies,
procedures, practices, legislation and/or information
strategies that should be upgraded, modified or
introduced to prevent such deaths and serious
injuries in the future. The Committee will do this by
reviewing individual cases of death or serious injury,
and through the information that is collected with a
database of the circumstances and causes of child
deaths and serious injuries in South Australia.

The Committee's review process seeks to
understand the circumstances surrounding the
death or serious injury of a child, and is based
entirely on examination of recorded documentary
evidence. The Committee now holds information
concerning the circumstances and causes of
children's deaths from 2005 onwards. Since
acquiring its legislative powers, the Committee has
begun the in depth review of certain cases.

Charter of Rights for Children and 
Young People

In April 2006, the Charter of Rights for Children
and Young People was launched. The Charter was
developed by, and for, young people under the
guardianship of the Minister, and is co-ordinated
by the Office of the Guardian for Children and
Young People. The Charter was established to
monitor the circumstances of children and young
people in out-of-home care, and to provide advice
to the Minister on whether the needs of children
are being met. It identifies and answers, in simple
language, many of the questions young people in
care have, providing clarity and certainty for carers
and young people alike. The Charter will eventually
be given to all children and young people when
they enter care.
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Key priorities for 2006-07
Alternative care

Families SA is currently in the process of
developing the strategic directions for the future of
Alternative Care in South Australia: a sustainable
and robust alternative care service system that will
be responsive to the needs of children now and
into the future. It will describe the need for a re-
focus on early intervention and family preservation
services to strengthen the family unit and prevent,
where possible, children coming into care.

The document will be used to engage the
government and non-government sector in
discussions about the key strategies for the future.
The information will be gained through
consultation, and will be captured in an
implementation plan, which will map the
development of the alternative care service system
over the next five years.

Youth justice

Reforming the youth justice system will enable the
development and implementation of initiatives to
improve system-wide responses to young
offenders, and to link with the Keeping Them Safe
reform agenda. Key priorities in 2006-07 include:

• implementing the new Families SA Youth Justice
Manual of Practice, and the delivery of
associated training and staff development
programs

• progressing across-government initiatives,
arising from the work of the Social Inclusion Bail
Reference Group, and the work of the Senior
Officers Group Youth Justice

• developing a new model to provide youth
justice services within metropolitan Adelaide,
which focuses on ensuring quality intake,
assessment, case management and interface
with key system partners such as the courts,
police, education and health.

Financial counselling and 
emergency assistance

In 2006-07, Families SA will continue to review
how Family Protection Orders from the
Independent Gambling Authority can be better
utilised in family case management, and
particularly how these orders relate to matters of
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Goal
To establish and maintain efficient, effective and
sustainable business practices to underpin delivery
of the Connecting to the Future strategic agenda.

Context
Connecting to the Future: the strategic agenda for
the Department for Families and Communities
outlines the following context for the above goal:

The DFC is a new agency established from the
former Department of Human Services. There is still
work to be done to build robust and efficient
systems and processes to support our core business.
Service delivery functions and front line staff will be
more effective when they are backed up by sound

Effective and sustainable business practices
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administrative arrangements. We need to

strengthen the capacity of our organisation, re-

invigorate our departmental culture and focus on

our common goals for the future.

We want to continue to create an organisation

that we are all proud to work in, that is cohesive,

connected to other agencies and sectors and in

touch with the communities we serve. We want to

be recognised as a provider of world class services

to the people of South Australia, as an

organisation that has the customer at the centre of

our operations and as an agency that can be

trusted to provide quality care and protection to

“Our continuing focus for 2006-07 is supporting our people 
to make a positive difference for their customers.”

child protection. This is part of an overarching
strategy to improve services provided by Families
SA, and other government and community-based
services, to low income families. In consultation
with key stakeholders, during 2006-07, we will
develop and fund a range of government and non-
government services, to address financial pressures
on individuals and families.

Child Death and Serious Injury Review
Committee

In 2006-07, subject to funding, the Committee will:

• continue to expand the depth of information
contained in its database

• continue to consider certain cases in depth

• commence work to identify and review cases of
serious injury to children

• develop a program of research into particular
aspects of child death or serious injury.
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Left to Right: Chris Firth, Director, Risk Management
and Internal Audit; Liz Wilson, Director, Social
Inclusion, Strategy and Research; Phil Hogg, Chief
Information Officer; Ronnie Faggotter, Director,
Recovery; Peter Bull, Director, Organisational
Development



those in need. In striving for excellence and
innovation, we are open to new ideas, build on
what we know and learn from our mistakes.

Links to South Australia's Strategic Plan
• Lead the nation in cost effectiveness of

government services within five years 
(Target 1.18).

• Lead Australian governments in timely and
transparent government decision-making within
five years (Target 1.19).

• Reduce energy consumption in South Australian
Government buildings by 25% within 10 years
and lead Australia in wind and solar power
generation within 10 years (Target 3.2).

• Increase the percentage of the Aboriginal and
Torres Strait Islander population in the South
Australian public sector from 1.2% to 2%
within five years (Target 6.2).

2005-06 major highlights
Disaster recovery

Through the State Recovery Office, DFC is
responsible for co-ordinating the social,
community, economic, environmental and
infrastructure dimensions of recovery under the
Emergency Management Plan. In addition, Families
SA has specific responsibilities for providing
community support. In 2005-06, we were involved
in providing support after a number of natural
disasters, both within South Australia and
internationally, and our work in most of these
communities continues.

In 2005-06, we have continued to support the
State Recovery Committee to develop collaborative
partnerships, and implement a range of strategies
to improve the State's capacity to recover from an
event. These strategies include the development of
the State Recovery Plan and a project to manage
spontaneous volunteers.

Bali bombing - October 2005
Following the Bali bombing in October 2005, DFC
linked to national arrangements to ensure
consistency of service to those returning to
Australia. Families SA arranged for meet-and-greet
teams at the Adelaide Airport for people arriving
from Bali immediately after the disaster.
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Virginia floods - November 2005
In November 2005, significant flooding across the
metropolitan, and Virginia area, resulted in a range
of services being activated, including the door-
knocking of 254 households in 13 council areas,
and grants totalling $360 000 being paid to those
affected by the floods. A Recovery Centre and local
Recovery Committee were established at Virginia,
with a Community Development Officer appointed
for two years to support community recovery.

Mid-north - 2006
The mid-north was affected by two events in early
2006. The Spalding and Koolunga areas were
damaged by flooding in March 2006. As a result, a
Recovery Centre was established, and a hotline,
and home visiting program, was implemented. In
May 2006, a munitions factory outside of
Gladstone exploded, resulting in three deaths. A
local recovery committee was convened in
response to this disaster, and a range of supports
to the bereaved community were provided.

Research

We have continued to build our internal research
and evaluation capacity, as well as develop new
collaborative relationships with research centres and
Universities. In 2005-06, funding was allocated
from the DFC Research Fund to a range of new
initiatives and research partnerships, including:

• Certainty for Children in Care, with Adelaide
University

• an evaluation of the Strathmont devolution
process, with both Adelaide and Flinders
Universities

• refugee families and the care and protection
system, with the Australian Centre for Child
Protection at the University of South Australia

• a national, Counting the Homeless, 
research study.

Two major state-wide population surveys were
funded and supported on gambling patterns and
behaviour, and community strengths and
characteristics. The results of both surveys will be
available in 2006-07. Major research publications
in 2005-06 included:

• Roof to Start Off With - the experiences of
young women who were homeless while
pregnant or parenting

• Safe as Houses? - the links between gambling
and homelessness

• Ten housing studies funded through the
Australian Housing and Urban Research
Institute's Southern Research Centre.

In 2005-06, the Department for Families and
Communities Research Ethics Committee was
established to assess all applications to conduct
research within DFC, or amongst our clients. The
Committee assessed 20 applications in 2005-06.

Information and communication technology

The Information and Communication Technology
(ICT) Council developed an ICT strategy in 
2005-06, which focuses on five major themes to
support the objectives of DFC. The themes being:

• service delivery

• case management

• electronic records and document management

• decision support

• information security and network design.
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In 2005-06, the ICT Council supported a range of
ICT related improvements across DFC, including:

• transition to the new, whole-of-government,
contract for services to manage the data
communications network

• upgrade of infrastructure, as part the annual
technology refresh program, the major
component of which was the upgrade of
Microsoft Office products used by staff

• redevelopment of the DFC website and intranet

• implementation of enhancements to the
Funding and Grants Management system

• replacement of the Intellectual Disability Services
Council's financial system

• establishment of the data warehouse facility, to
provide support to decision-makers.

A central reference system was also developed to
improve the planning and monitoring of the
provision of community services. Through the
collection and collation of data from across
community services programs, the system will
assist DFC in providing an accurate picture of the
needs of the community, and will inform targeted
funding allocation.

Risk management and internal audit

In 2005-06, more than 400 managers and staff
participated in divisional risk assessment
workshops. In addition, managers and Risk
Assessment Facilitators attended a range of risk
management training programs.

The internal audit function was further aligned
with our risk management framework in 2005-06,
with the annual internal audit program based on
the identified risks contained within the strategic
and divisional risk registers. Reviews of the
effectiveness of DFC's internal control systems,
over the selected areas of risk, were carried out
and improvements recommended. The internal
audits undertaken and overseen by the Audit
Committee in 2005-06 included:

• effectiveness of customer service

• concessions review follow-up

• community services grant funding and
performance management

DFC was involved in providing support after a
number of natural disasters, including the Virginia
floods in November 2005.



The Certificate III in Government is the foundation
for all learning programs in DFC and starts a career
learning pathway for all staff. The career learning
pathway will be linked to eight Job Families (which
are created according to staff's job functions) and
starts the process of deploying staff to their roles,
as well as connecting them to colleagues in similar
functions across the department.

The College will become active as a Registered
Training Organisation and will have staff enrolling
in learning programs from August 2006.

Business Excellence Framework

After conducting workshops in understanding the
Australian Business Excellence Framework for DFC's
leaders, we completed our first whole-of-organisation
self assessment in 2005-06. Focus groups of
management representatives met to gather
anecdotal evidence of DFC's performance against 22
items in the Business Excellence Framework. The self
assessment has highlighted DFC's strengths, as well
as opportunities for improvement.

Opportunities for improvement will be prioritised
and included in the corporate planning process, as
well as being allocated as projects to continuous
improvement teams. 

Customer Service Improvement Strategy

A strong customer-focused service culture is one of
our most fundamental priorities. In 2005-06, we
utilised a customer centric model to focus the
delivery of our services on customers' needs and to
underpin our Customer Service Improvement
Strategy. A major body of work has been
undertaken to develop the customer service
objectives, strategies, targets and key performance
indicators, which will be used to drive continuous
improvement in our ongoing commitment to
customer service excellence.

We have established the first stage of the new DFC
website, using the Life Events approach to improve
the accessibility of online information and services
to our customers. We have developed Customer
Service Standards, with practice guidelines, and
implemented annual DFC Australia Day Awards for
Customer Service and Innovation. We have also
reviewed our complaint handling processes and
developed recommendations for improvement.
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In 2005-06, a strategy was initiated to develop an
effective approach to meeting customers' needs
through a concept of a single point of service. The
facility design review, and redesign of customer
service processes, will culminate in the opening of
a DFC Connected Service Centre in Mount
Gambier during 2007. The Connected Service
Centre will provide a one-stop shop for Families
SA, Housing SA and Disability Services SA,
enabling customers to have faster and easier
access to our services.

Sustainability

Important sustainability strategies have been
implemented in the key areas of water, waste and
energy. Projects undertaken to achieve
sustainability targets include:

• the Desert Cube Waterless Urinal System, 
which was implemented throughout the
Riverside Building, and has resulted in water
savings of 40%

• a new waste management system, piloted in the
Riverside Building, which relies on separating
waste to landfill, recycling bottles and cans and
recycling photocopying paper, The system has
resulted in up to 55% less waste going to landfill
in the last 12 months, and is being considered for
implementation in all worksites.

A major initiative, designed to reduce CO2 emissions
from our passenger vehicle fleet by 25%, will be
achieved by replacing the current fleet with a mix of
200 Hybrid Vehicles (34%) and LPG fuelled vehicles
(66%) over the next three years. The first of the new
fleet vehicles became available in February 2006.

Staff survey

During September and October 2005, 13 focus
groups, of 150 staff in metropolitan and regional
areas, were conducted to gain feedback on DFC as
an organisation. Staff were asked questions such as:

• what they wanted from DFC

• what would make them stay working for the
organisation

• what would make them leave

• what behaviours they wanted from individuals,
and what they wanted from the organisation as
a whole.

• Families SA's accountability review follow-up

• workforce management and recruitment

• credit cards

• fleet management

• project governance and control

• volunteer reimbursements

• Julia Farr Services, Intellectual Disability Services
Council and Independent Living Centre's
funding and performance management

• suspicious transaction review

• budget management and control

• IT governance and controls

• Funding and Grant Management System

• telecommunications.

Shared services 

In 2005-06, we finalised the implementation of
shared services for the DFC, including the
establishment of Service Management Groups and
internal Service Charters. The first stage of the
project involved identifying appropriate services
and developing an inclusive shared services model.
This model was then implemented across the
department to ensure a consistent departmental-
wide approach to service delivery.

Due to different governance arrangements, it was
not possible to include the disability sector in the
formal shared service arrangements. As a
consequence, Service Management Groups were
established to co-ordinate activity between the
disability sector and DFC to maintain a consistent
shared services approach. The recent governance
reforms will result in the further establishment of
shared services, incorporating disability, and
creating fully inclusive DFC-wide shared service
arrangements.

Procurement and Contract Management Unit

A Director of Procurement was appointed to lead
the Procurement and Contract Management Unit,
which was established in 2005-06 to facilitate the
transition from low value, transactional-based
purchasing to strategic procurement activities, 
and to provide procurement leadership across the
department. Further recruitment to strengthen the
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Unit, together with the incorporation of
procurement objectives into DFC's strategic
agenda, will ensure we attain best value from our
procurement activities.

This enhanced procurement capability has been
recognised by the State Procurement Board, which
approved a $4.4 million procurement delegation for
DFC. Further, the newly established Department for
Families and Communities Accredited Procurement
Unit, together with the recently promulgated suite
of DFC procurement policies, ensures the objectives
of the State Procurement Act 2004 are achieved,
and process red tape is reduced.

Approval to exempt community services funding
agreements from the State Procurement Act 2004
further reduces red tape. This exemption
recognises the need to distinguish the altruistic and
philanthropic aims of community services
organisations from the profit objectives of
commercial organisations. Community services
provision requires a more collaborative approach
between service providers, clients and DFC to
design appropriate service responses. The
exemption provides the maximum flexibility
required to ensure responsiveness to people in
need, and reduces the resources burden on
community services organisations. While the
exemption will streamline processes, it does not
compromise transparency.

College for Learning and Development

A College for Learning and Development was
established in 2005-06 to strengthen
organisational capacity, and increase the
effectiveness of support service delivery functions.
Recruitment of staff to lead the college
commenced in November 2005, with the
appointment of a Director, Learning and
Development. A process was endorsed to enable
DFC to become an active learning organisation,
and achieve the outcomes outlined in Connecting
to the Future. The process focuses on building the
capacity of DFC, through a model of Develop,
Deploy and Connect, and it commences with new
staff undertaking a week-long induction program.
This program is currently being designed and
developed on the needs of DFC and government,
and will be aligned to the nationally accredited
Certificate III in Government.



their learning, with support from both DFC's
Facilitators of Learning and their line manager.

Work-based projects will ensure that new recruits
are applying their knowledge and skills in the
workplace, thereby ensuring a productive public
service. When an employee has met the required
competencies, they will be issued with a nationally
accredited qualification through the College for
Learning and Development.

Workforce plan

The finalisation of a comprehensive Workforce Plan
will continue during 2006-07. This will lead DFC's
effective strategic human resource management
practices. The Workforce Plan will be fully
integrated with our learning and development
strategies, so that staff are supported from the
time of attraction and recruitment, and throughout
their working life. The continuation of the Youth
Challenge Program will ensure the attraction,
retention and development of staff under the 
age of 30.

The review of workforce profiling data, and the
establishment of key performance indicators to
address current and future skills gaps, will continue
in 2006-07. This will include the launch of job
families to support the Workforce Plan, and
integration of recruitment, attraction and retention
strategies, with particular attention given to the
recruitment of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander
people, and people with disabilities.

Family friendly support, healthy lifestyle and
well being initiatives

DFC's proactive, consistent, approach to ensure
family flexible working arrangements, healthy
lifestyles and well being for all employees, is 
co-ordinated through Human Resources and
Workforce Health and Safety Unit, and
implemented locally, according to needs and
cultures. Our foundation for the management of
employees' well being comes from DFC's
commitment to employee well being and safety.
We turn this commitment into action, through
initiating and encouraging local procedures,
requirements and standards across all locations,
but allow maximum flexibility for efficient
implementation in a variety of cultures, work
settings and regulatory environments.
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Other priorities for 2006-07

• build on the procurement framework
promulgated in 2005-06 and implement a
consistent, co-ordinated and clearly defined
procurement structure that aligns with DFC
operations and governance arrangements

• finalise our Business Continuity Plan, including
staff testing and training, to ensure we are
prepared, and can continue to deliver essential
services to our customers in the event of
business interruption

• in collaboration with the Department of the
Premier and Cabinet, implement Zone
Emergency Management Committees, which
will enhance local community capacity

• implement a five star rating system for customer
service and publish our Customer Service Charter

• in line with whole-of-government planning,
develop capacity to manage catastrophic
disasters, by mass casualty and mass
accommodation planning

• continue significant involvement in government
Pandemic Influenza planning, and develop a
DFC Pandemic Influenza Plan

• consolidate our accommodation within the
Riverside/North Terrace Precinct, by relocating
Families SA into the EDS building, to enable
better access to DFC's central functions

• relocate the Crisis Response Unit to Netley, into
a shared tenancy with the Central Alternative
Care Unit, the Families SA Regional Office, and
the Carers Approval and Registration Service.

This research was then linked with the values of
the organisation and utilised in the design of the
first departmental staff survey. The 27-question
staff survey was released in May 2006, with results
received in July 2006. The survey results will be
analysed, and strategies for continuous
improvement implemented as part of business
planning processes.

Youth Challenge Program

In 2005-06, staff under the age of 30 participated
in the Youth Challenge Program, a unique learning
and development experience that involves working
offline for one week to deliver solutions to real
issues. Participating staff were assigned a
challenge, and working as a team, formulated a
solution that was presented to the Chief Executive
and other senior staff. By participating in the Youth
Challenge Program, staff developed project
management and presentation skills and by
working within a team incorporating new team
dynamics, worked outside of their comfort zone.

Cultural Inclusion Framework

In 2005-06, the Cultural Inclusion Framework,
developed by the Social Inclusion Board, was
adopted by all areas and divisions of the
department. The Framework ensures that formal
consideration is given to the cultural impact of 
all policy decisions, and all business plans are
assessed against a cultural inclusion checklist. 
The full implementation of the policy assessment
and business planning processes is a key priority
for 2006-07.

Key priorities for 2006-07
Research

In 2006-07, we will:

• allocate approximately $800 000 to priority-
driven research projects

• host a national symposium in November 2006,
to develop a research agenda in the area of
placement prevention

• support major reforms in disability, housing and
Families SA, through a range of analytical,
research and evaluative projects.
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Information and communication technology

ICT will give priority to completing projects
commenced in 2005-06. The DFC reforms will
require the support of ICT services as they are
progressively implemented in 2006-07, particularly
as housing, disability and corporate services are
brought together.

Key priorities areas in 2006-07 are:

• complete the transitions to the future ICT
contract arrangements

• implement the consolidated finance and human
resource systems, including the data warehouses

• establish the content management system

• support the design of the service delivery
processes for the new Connected Service
Centres, starting with Mount Gambier

• further develop the strategy toward a common
customer service experience, including a case
management system

• review options for improved information security
and network design, to support the new
connected service delivery directions.

Intranet and e-reference suite

In 2006-07, we will implement the first stage of the
new intranet and E-reference suite, which will
contribute to building DFC's business capacity. These
systems will be customer-focussed and support
better decision-making by staff. The major benefit is
that content is written once and used many times.
The intranet and E-reference suite will improve the
integrity of the content and reduce maintenance
and effort, while providing a consistent look and
feel, making it easier to navigate through the
content and enable improved version control. The
new intranet will be a dynamic work space,
enabling online collaboration through teams,
committees, learning networks and project sites.

Certificate III in Government

The Learning and Development Unit has developed
a bold new learning program for all new recruits.
This program aligns DFC's and the Government's
business needs to the Certificate III in Government.
New recruits will commence their employment with
a week long orientation program and then continue



• providing a range of training opportunities to
prepare women for board membership,
including a partnership with the South
Australian Multicultural and Ethnic Affairs
Commission, which provided targeted
leadership training for women from culturally
and linguistically diverse backgrounds.
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Women's Futures Project

In January 2005, the Minister for the Status of
Women commissioned Adjunct Professor Eleanor
Ramsay, and Ms Monica Redden, to conduct
research to determine future directions for the
Office for Women. The consultants worked in
collaboration with a 14-member Reference Group,
appointed by the Minister and chaired by Ms Maria
Hagias, Executive Director of the Central Eastern
Domestic Violence Service. The Women's Futures
Project proceeded in three main stages: research,
consultation, and the Reference Group's
deliberations of all available information leading to
the framing of its recommendations.

Intensive community consultation occurred in April
and May 2005, with approximately 300 people
meeting with the consultants and the Reference
Group during this period. Twenty seven
consultation meetings were held, and attended by
a range of relevant women's organisations, peak
bodies, government agencies and advocacy
groups. Meetings were also held with individuals
considered to be key stakeholders in the process,
or in a position to provide valuable information
important to the project.

On 30 June 2005, the Reference Group presented
the Women's Futures Reference Group Final Report,
containing 23 recommendations to the Minister for
the Status of Women. These recommendations were
based on six best-practice elements, which were
determined to be essential to the achievement of
gender equity. They were as follows:

• a high level statement of the Government's
commitment to the achievement of greater
gender equity/improvement in the status of
South Australian women

• political leadership and commitment

• allocation of responsibilities across government,
and clear reporting, monitoring and
accountability processes

• Women's Voices - through consultation,
community engagement, capacity building

• clarity of roles and co-ordination of effort

• parliamentary, legislative and other formal
sanctions.

Goal
That women, in all their diversity, are valued and
respected in a safe and socially inclusive
community.

Context
Women make up just over half of South Australia's
population, yet remain under-represented in
leadership and decision-making roles, experience
unacceptable levels of violence, and still earn less
than their male counterparts in the paid workforce.

While much has been done to improve the status
of women, there is still a long way to go before
women are able to participate fully and equally in
the social and economic life of South Australia.
The Office for Women has a responsibility to lead
positive change for women, by initiating innovative
policy directions in collaboration with government
and the community.

The Office for Women exists to pursue the full and
equal participation of women in South Australia,
both socially and economically, by means of:

• policy advice to government on the interests
and concerns of South Australian women

• innovative approaches to public policy, using
gender-based analysis

• state-wide information and referral services,
through the Women's Information Service.

2005-06 major highlights
Women's leadership

The South Australian Government is committed to
increasing women's contribution as leaders and
key decision-makers in our community, consistent
with South Australia's Strategic Plan. At June
2006, women held 40.13% of positions on
Government boards and committees, and 30.17%
of chair positions. This number has increased
significantly over the past few years, and more
specifically, since the launch of South Australia's
Strategic Plan in April 2004, as shown in Charts 17
and 18.
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The Office for Women has also directed resources
to work on achieving these targets including:

• collaborating with the Premier's Council for
Women to maintain and expand the online
Premier's Women's Directory, which profiles
over 280 women who are suitable for board
and committee appointments

• developing a 'women in leadership' plan, that
includes a range of support programs to assist
women with limited experience on boards and
committees, in order to prepare them to make
an active contribution

“Promoting gender analysis across the whole of
Government is important to ensure the best
outcomes for the people of South Australia.”
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Women's safety

The Women's Safety Strategy Whole-of-Government
Reference Group was convened in August 2005, and
has responsibility for overseeing the Strategy's
implementation. Highlights have included:

• a calendar of community events, aimed at
educating the community about violence
against women during the 16 days of activism
against gendered violence from 25 November to
10 December 2005

• promotion of White Ribbon Day across
government, aimed at encouraging men to take
a stand against violence against women

• a state-wide, free, women's safety conference
from 7 to 9 December 2005

• showcasing the 14 projects funded from the
Women's Safety Strategy's Community
Education Grant Fund.

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
women's initiatives

In 2005-06, the Office for Women:

• co-ordinated an annual gathering of Aboriginal
and Torres Strait Islander women in South
Australia

• arranged for the participation of Aboriginal and
Torres Strait Islander women from South
Australia in the national gathering of Aboriginal
and Torres Strait Islander women

• improved the capacity of the Office to provide
culturally sensitive policy advice and information
on a broad range of issues for South Australian
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women

• co-ordinated a further state-wide gathering, to
be held in August 2006

• collated a whole-of-government response to the
recommendations of previous, state-wide
gatherings, which is to be tabled at the 2006
State Aboriginal Women's Gathering

• provided support to the Aboriginal Women's
State-wide Advisory Council, through the
provision of one-off funding and a project officer.

Office For Women

Gender Analysis project

In partnership with the University of Adelaide, the
Office for Women is currently undertaking work on
developing a South Australian model for gender
analysis. The project involves working with the
Department of Further Education, Employment,
Science and Training, the Department for
Correctional Services and the Department of
Health on pilot projects in order to:

• assist departments to integrate consideration of
gender factors into each stage of policy
development

• test existing models of gender analysis to make
it easier for staff to apply gender analysis in
their day to day work

• develop a model of gender analysis that is
suitable to the Australian context.

Women's Information Service

The Women's Information Service has continued to
provide information, referral and support services
for women throughout South Australia. The main
issues that women have contacted the Service
about include employment, education, housing,
finance, emotional well being, violence, legal,
relationship and health.

The Women's Information Service has taken on the
training and day to day organisation of the pilot
program of the Court Support Program. The project
began last year with a number of other agencies
being involved. Nine women have completed the
training, and the service is starting to be offered to
women who have experienced domestic violence
and are fearful to go to the Family Court. The
program will be evaluated at the end of 2006.

Premier's Council for Women

Established in December 2002, the Premier's Council
for Women provides leadership and advice to ensure
that the interests and needs of the diversity of South
Australian women are at the forefront of government
policies and strategies. Appointed by the Premier, and
Chaired by Suzanne Roux, the Premier's Council for
Women has 16 members, and women of different
cultural backgrounds, ages, skills and expertise. The
Council works closely with the Office for Women,
and is informed by the community of South
Australian women and organisations.

The Premier's Council for Women provides
recommendations to the Premier and the Minister
for the Status of Women, through regular reports
which are circulated to the Executive Committee of
Cabinet, all Ministers and their departments. In
2005-06, the Premier's Council for Women made
recommendations to the South Australian
Government on a range of important issues,
including women's safety, employment,
casualisation of the workforce, work life issues,
health, leadership, equal opportunity legislation,
the representation of women on South Australia
Government boards and committees, South
Australia's Strategic Plan and monitoring of
progress towards equity.

Key achievements of the Council in 2005-06
include:

• the Premier's Council for Women, as a strong
advocate for rape, sexual assault and domestic
violence reform, has strongly supported the
Women's Safety Strategy. The Council will
continue to monitor progress towards reform,
following the Premier's announcement that there
would be a review of the legislation relating to
rape, sexual assault and domestic violence

• reviewed South Australia's Strategic Plan, as one
of the peak Government Advisory bodies
leading the consultation process

• worked closely with the Office for Women to
improve representation of women in leadership
positions, and to increase the representation of
women on South Australia Government boards
and committees through support for South
Australia's Strategic Plan targets of women on
boards and committees (targets 5.1 and 5.2)

• funded the development of an online resource
of gender indicators, to enable monitoring of
progress towards equity for women in South
Australia, and to assist policymakers across
government in the development and evaluation
of gender sensitive policies and programs

• supported the development of an Aboriginal
and Torres Strait Islander advisory body to the
Government
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• worked at the state and national level to ensure
all sporting bodies include gender respect and
equity in their programs, and to improve cultural
attitudes to women.

Key priorities for 2006-07
In 2006-07, the Office for Women will:

• increase linkages and opportunities for women
to have a voice into Government

• provide information and referral services to
more women, through developing a community
outreach service, to be delivered through the
various Children's Centres located across
metropolitan and regional South Australia

• improve gender analysis policy-making across
the South Australian Government, including
building on the Gender Indicators Online
resource

• further expand the Premier's Women's Directory,
particularly with candidates from skill gap areas
and from throughout regional South Australia,
and recommend suitable candidates for
appointment

• further develop support programs to assist
women with limited experience on boards and
committees to actively contribute.
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Goal
All young people are engaged, supported and
valued in socially-inclusive communities.

Context
Nearly one in five South Australians are aged
between 12 and 25 years. Young people are a vital
and integral part of our society and make a unique
contribution to the community and our future.
Therefore, creating a State in which our young
people thrive and choose to stay is in all our
interests.

The Office for Youth has a responsibility to develop
and implement youth policy and program
initiatives within South Australia that will achieve
this objective. To be successful in this undertaking,
we work in partnership with communities,
stakeholders, other agencies and clients. We
facilitate, explore and examine a range of policies,
initiatives, services and programs that respond to
youth development and youth empowerment in
South Australia.

2005-06 major highlights
Youth Participation Initiatives

Youth Participation Register
The Youth Participation Register holds the details
of young people aged between 12 and 25 years,
who are interested in becoming involved in youth
participation activities such as consultations and
workshops, or being involved on boards or
committees. The Register provides an avenue for
government agencies to promote upcoming
events, programs and services to young people. In
2005-06, 110 young people registered their
interest, and continue to receive information on
youth participation activities taking place within
the government and community sector.

Youth participation training for organisations
In 2005-06 training was offered to South Australia
Government agencies and the community sector,
to increase staff skills and knowledge in the area
of youth participation. Training provides a practical
guide to support agencies to engage young people
in decision-making processes. Seven workshops
were delivered between January and June 2006
with a total of 90 people participating.
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Youth Advisory Committees
Youth Advisory Committees promote and support
increased participation by young people in
decision-making and activities of local councils.
There are currently 61 individual Youth Advisory
Committees operating in metropolitan, regional
and rural local council areas across South Australia.
In 2005-06, approximately 700 young people
participated in these Committees on a regular
basis, with an additional 18 000 young people
participating in the activities of the Youth Advisory
Committees. Through the Committees' Diversity
Grants, the Office for Youth provided additional
funding to 12 local councils to assist in engaging a
broader range of young people, including those
with specific or complex needs.

Youth policy initiatives

South Australian Youth Action Plan
The South Australian Youth Action Plan sets out a
whole-of-government approach to youth policy and
program service delivery to guide the Government in
achieving its vision for young people in South
Australia. Stage one of the implementation of the
Youth Action Plan commenced in 2005-06, with an
audit of priority actions completed in December
2005. The first reports against participating agency
activity were received in March 2006, with a
consolidated report, 'Celebrating Success',
highlighting the achievements across government,
published in June 2006.

In 2005-06, youth consultation grants were
provided to four South Australia Government and
community agencies to support consultations with
young people around the development,
implementation and evaluation of their Youth
Action Plan priorities for action.

Youth Policy Forums
Youth Policy Forums explore current and future
youth policy trends and aim to inform the
development and implementation of policies and
programs for young people. The Office for Youth
delivered four forums during 2005-06. Topics
included, Young People Leading Change, Student
Action Teams - the new student voice movement
and Changes ahead for service providers in a
culturally diverse society. The fourth forum was
held in partnership with SA Unions informing
young people about work choices.

Youth Housing Project
In 2005-06, a report on youth housing service
provision was developed, identifying barriers
preventing young people from securing
appropriate accommodation. The Office for Youth
also assisted the South Australian Housing Trust to
consult with 'at risk' young people according to
best practice principles. The background report and
feedback received at the youth consultations will
inform the development of a new South Australian
Government youth housing scheme.

Youth development initiatives

National Youth Week
In April 2006, 49 local councils and 11 non-
government agencies received funding as part of
National Youth Week to conduct 105 activities
across South Australia, highlighting the positive
contribution of young people to our society. Events
conducted included an Aboriginal and Torres Strait
Islander Youth Expo, battle of the bands, youth
arts workshops and exhibitions and youth voice
workshops. Young people were involved in each
stage of National Youth Week including the
planning, implementation, management,
participation and evaluation of all activities.

active8 Premier's youth challenge
active8 is a youth development program that
develops young people's skills, talents and abilities,
and is conducted in partnership with schools,
community organisations and the Office for Youth.
In 2005-06, the active8 program involved 49
schools and 1228 participants who contributed
approximately 9312 volunteering hours in their
communities.

Duke of Edinburgh's Award
Duke of Edinburgh's Award participants get
involved in a range of activities that encourage
physical activity, promote individual interests and
strengthen communities. Modelled on the
principles of social inclusion, the Award is
conducted in partnership between schools,
community organisations, community members
and the Office for Youth. In 2005-06, a record
number of 1726 young people were involved in
the Award, an increase of 173 participants from
2004-05.

In 2005-06 a record number of young people were
involved in the Duke of Edinburgh's Award.

'Be You Launch Pad', one of many events held
during National Youth Week in April 2006.



Each South Australia Government agency is
required to provide some specific corporate
information. This section fulfils this requirement. 

Aboriginal reconciliation
DFC recognises Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander
people as the first Australians, with a unique
culture and spiritual relationship to the land and
sea. We are strongly committed to pursuing
reconciliation initiatives to improve family and
community outcomes for Aboriginal and Torres
Strait Islander South Australians.

In 2005-06, our commitment to reconciliation was
reflected in the preparation of a Statement of
Reconciliation, that was acknowledged and
countersigned by South Australian Aboriginal and
Torres Strait Islander community leaders. The
statement sets out DFC's commitment to the State
Government's cultural inclusion principles, which
include building:

• a culturally competent workforce

• culturally inclusive program and service design

• culturally inclusive inter-agency collaboration.

Within the department, a diverse range of initiatives
were pursued by business units throughout 2005-06
to support the reconciliation agenda.

DFC is a significant employer of Aboriginal and
Torres Strait Islander South Australians (178 staff,
constituting 5.58% of the workforce) and we are
developing an Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander
Employment and Recruitment Strategy to market
DFC as an employer of choice for Aboriginal and
Torres Strait Islander workers. The strategy seeks to
improve the career paths on offer to Aboriginal
and Torres Strait Islander employees and to
promote and recruit these people into senior roles.

The new employment strategies include developing
an Aboriginal Mentor Program, which will support
new and existing employees to identify future
career pathways, and provides individual support. .
Other avenues of support for Aboriginal and Torres
Strait Islander employees include the introduction
of a Senior Aboriginal Leaders Group, a training
and development committee and regular
discussion forums. Another initiative is the
potential development of a specific Aboriginal
Traineeship Program.
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A program has also been established that provides
DFC's executives with access to an Aboriginal or
Torres Strait Islander mentor. The program provides
senior departmental decision-makers with the
opportunity to build their understanding of
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander aspirations and
circumstances via informal exchanges with a
mentor. 

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander staff employed
within DFC are significant contributors to the
Public Sector Indigenous Workforce Reference
Group. Families SA Aboriginal Staff State-wide
Forums are held three times per year and bring
together Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander staff
members to share information and experiences
and to provide networking opportunities.

With regard to the delivery of portfolio services,
significant initiatives were pursued in 2005-06 to
improve outcomes for Aboriginal and Torres Strait
Islander clients and communities.

In 2005, the Minister for Disability launched the
Intellectual Disability Services Council's intranet
package on social protocols for working with
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people and
their families. This facility is now informing and
guiding a range of program and service initiatives
that are being pursued across the department. An
Aboriginal Service Development Committee has
been established that reports on service
development and the employment of Aboriginal
and Torres Strait Islander people, and has provided
three traineeships to Aboriginal and Torres Strait
Islander people.

The Office for Women engaged an Aboriginal and
Torres Strait Islander Women's Policy Officer on a
permanent basis and seconded a project officer to
the Aboriginal Women's State Advisory
Committee. These staff organised the South
Australian Aboriginal Women's Gathering,
distributed the Aboriginal Women's Newsletter and
conducted a forum for Aboriginal and Torres Strait
Islander women during the Sixteen Days of
Activism against Gendered Violence. The Office for
Women, in conjunction with the Office for Youth,
ran a State Aboriginal Young Women's Forum to
coincide with the State Aboriginal Women's
Gathering.

Reach Your Dreams
Based on the Duke of Edinburgh's Award, Reach
Your Dreams is specifically aimed at young people
from regional South Australia. Reach Your Dreams
contributes to building regional communities,
through locally delivered and supported programs
and in 2005-06 the program targeted some of the
most socially excluded members of the community.
In 2005-06, 80% of program participants were
from regional South Australia, 41% were from the
lowest socio-economic decile and 12% identified
as being Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander people,
or from culturally and linguistically diverse
backgrounds.

Grants

The Office for Youth provides a range of grants to
support young people's involvement in their
communities, in decision-making, and with service
providers. Grants are also provided to young
people to develop their leadership skills or work
towards personal goals. In 2005-06, Youth
Engagement Grants were provided to nine
agencies to establish services for young people.
Funded projects included an alternative education
program for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander
young people in the Northern Adelaide area and a
pilot peer support program for young people with
Asperger's syndrome.

In 2005-06, 10 organisations received funds to
support young people to participate on boards and
management committees and in other activities,
with 24 young people receiving grants to support
youth leadership activities, including short research
projects, attending and facilitating conferences and
community-based activities.

Minister's Youth Council

The Minister's Youth Council is a group of 15
young people from diverse backgrounds who
report directly to the Minister for Youth. The
Council provides advice on youth policy and raises
issues of concern for young people. It enables
young South Australians to participate in
government decision-making, and to plan, develop
and implement relevant policies and programs.
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In 2005-06, the Minister's Youth Council
considered a range of issues, including pill testing,
Federal Industrial Relations Reforms, State and
Australian Government proposals for a new school
report card system, housing for young people,
voluntary student unionism, juvenile justice, and
road safety. In 2005-06, the Council released
Pathways for the Future, 2005 2007, which
provides the Council with a focus and incorporates
elements of South Australia's Strategic Plan, the
South Australian Youth Action Plan and State
Government plans and initiatives.

Key priorities for 2006-07
In March 2006, the Office for Youth was
transferred from the Department for Families and
Communities to the Department for Further
Education, Employment, Science and Technology
(DFEEST). The priorities of the Office for Youth in
2006-07 will be provided through DFEEST
publications.

The Office for Youth provided the photos used in
this section of the report.



The disability portfolio of DFC employs Principal
Cultural Consultants and Aboriginal and Torres
Strait Islander Project Consultants to advise on
protocol and service delivery issues. The Southern
Metropolitan Region has established an Aboriginal
Consultative Group to provide advice on culturally
appropriate models for working with families.

The Office for Disability and Client Services pursued
important initiatives to improve outcomes for
disabled Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people.
The most significant was the conference Gathering
People, Linking Voices - Our Strength is Our Future,
held at West Beach in October 2005. More than
110 people attended the two day event.

Julia Farr Services provided practical support by
part funding and securing the remainder of the
funding for a four wheel drive accessible bus for
the Amata Disability Service. The organisation
worked in partnership with Tauondi College to
provide a pre-vocational disability course for
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander students who
might wish to work in the area of disability
support. Staff also donated generous amounts of
clothing and two sewing machines to disability
program participants based on the APY Lands, a
gesture that was much appreciated and put to
effective use by the recipients.

The Office for Youth contributed $40 000 for the
two-year Young Nungas Talking Together program
managed by the Aboriginal Drug and Alcohol
Council SA. Together with HomeStart, the Office for
Youth also provided sponsorship for the Indigenous
category of the SA Young Achiever Awards.

The Office for the Ageing has an Aboriginal and
Torres Strait Islander team that provides advice
within DFC and to external agencies about
appropriate ways to deliver services to Aboriginal
and Torres Strait Islander clients. The Office for the
Ageing holds the State Indigenous Home and
Community Care (HACC) Workers Forum twice a
year. The Office for the Ageing also facilitates bi-
monthly meetings of the Metro Mob, a group of
government and agency workers who provide
HACC services in the metropolitan area and funds
the Council of Aboriginal Elders of South Australia
to provide advice about the aged care needs of
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people.
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Disability Action Plan
The Promoting Independence: Disability Action
Plans for South Australia policy requires all South
Australian Government portfolios to report
annually on the implementation of Disability Action
Plans. The whole-of-government disability strategy
is entering its sixth year of reporting against the
five Key Outcome Areas.

The Fifth Whole Of Government Progress Report
was formally released by the Minister for Disability
on 2 December 2005. The Director of the Office for
Disability and Client Services, chairs the Promoting
Independence Reference Group, whose role is to co-
ordinate and monitor the whole-of-government
Promoting Independence Strategy. This group has
responsibility for linking departmental reports,
overseeing the implementation of, and producing
the annual reports on, strategic Disability Action
Plans and policy priorities across the South
Australian Government.

In August 2005, a DFC Disability Action Plan
Implementation Committee was established to
manage and monitor the implementation of the
DFC Plan. The Director, Organisational Development
has the lead role for co-ordinating the reporting
across the department. Representation on the
Committee is not fixed and members are appointed
through an expression of interest.

In December 2005, the Disability Access and
Inclusion Unit was established within the Office for
Disability and Client Services. The role of this unit is
to develop and maintain close working
relationships with senior officers throughout DFC,
and all other South Australian Government
departments in providing a consultancy service on
disability access and inclusion issues for
State/Territory, Australian and local government
agencies, key peak bodies and community
stakeholder organisations. 

When the Fifth Annual Progress Report was
launched by the Minister for Disability, Chief
Executives and the Promoting Independence
Reference Group were asked to develop targets for
implementing the Disability Awareness and
Discrimination Training Framework and to consider
the issue of employment and disability. As a result,
the Access and Inclusion Unit worked with

Disability Works Australia to develop a manual on
recruiting people with disabilities and facilitated an
across government forum for Human Resource
staff and managers on employment and disability.
As another means of progressing practice in the
area, the Promoting Independence outcomes were
extended to include a sixth outcome which relates
to employment and disability.

The following is a summary of progress against the
five key Outcomes of the Promoting Independence
strategy.

Outcome 1: Portfolios and their agencies
ensure accessibility to their services to people
with disabilities
The key strategy to achieve compliance for this
outcome by DFC is contained in the Disability Action
Plan. The plan sets directions for divisions and
agencies to audit and redesign policies, programs
and facilities to ensure that they are inclusive of
people with disabilities and eliminate practices that
are discriminatory to people with disabilities.

During this reporting period, DFC has continued to
work closely with the Department for
Administrative and Information Services' Building
Compliance Branch regarding the guidelines for
State Government departments to use when
assessing disability access into buildings and
facilities. The building and facilities subcommittee
agreed on the access assessment review for all
DFC-owned and leased buildings and the target
date for completion of this work is 30 June 2007.

Outcome 2: Portfolios and their agencies ensure
information about their services and programs
is inclusive of people with disabilities
The improved information provision and
communication strategies have been identified as
key priority areas for action in the DFC Disability
Action Plan, where it states that the department
will establish policies and protocols to ensure
equitable access for people with disabilities to
information and communication strategies on its
programs and services.

Contained in the DFC Training Framework, as part
of the work management of information provision,
are the staff training opportunities for the National
Information Library Services accessibility training.
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DFC's corporate services are responsible for the
auditing of information service provisions across
the department.

Outcome 3: Portfolios and their agencies
deliver advice or services to people with
disabilities with awareness and understanding
of issues affecting people with disabilities
One of the key strategies to achieve this outcome
has been the development of a whole-of-
government Disability Awareness and
Discrimination Training Framework and DFC has
had a lead role in this project.

The Disability Awareness and Discrimination
Training Framework including the target and
guidelines that underpin the implementation of
training programs across the department was
endorsed with the aim of 25% of all staff to be
trained per year over four years.

Disability Awareness and Discrimination Training
workshops for Executives and some senior
managers have been completed across the
department. The training resource has been
designed to be delivered by managers in the work
place with all staff.

Outcome 4: Portfolios and their agencies
provide opportunities for consultation with
people with disabilities in decision-making
processes regarding service delivery and in the
implementation of complaints and grievance
mechanisms
A key principle underpinned in the DFC Disability
Action Plan is the requirement for consultation
with people with disabilities on service delivery and
mechanisms. The endorsed DFC Action Plan was
circulated for comment to key non-government
advocacy agencies and individuals with disabilities.
These contacts have, and will continue to be,
actively involved in all ongoing communication and
consultation in decision-making processes to
ensure optimal levels of services appropriate to the
needs of people with disabilities.

Outcome 5: Each Portfolio Chief Executive will
ensure that their portfolio has met the
requirements of the Disability Discrimination
Act 1992 and the Equal Opportunity Act 1984
The DFC Disability Action Plan is the key strategy
to achieve compliance with the Disability



• added a Greening Column in our weekly
departmental internal newsletter, to introduce
new initiatives and gauge feedback and reaction
to what we are doing

• committed to continuous improvement and
review of greening programs by working closely
with priority leaders and setting up programs in
energy, waste management, water
consumption, travel and fleet, and procurement

• in August 2006, DFC will have established a
Data and Information System which will
undertake collection and monitoring of data
and information on an ongoing basis in all of
the priority areas. This will enable us to establish
and confirm baselines and fine tune existing
ones, monitor performance and trends, and
improve reporting.

Action 4: Report on performance
DFC has achieved this through the following:

• established the new Data and Information
System to improve our ability to measure
environmental performance of greening
operations and programs on an annual basis
against baselines and recommended targets and
goals

• make available the necessary data and
information for inclusion in the GoGO Scorecard
for reporting to government, chief executives,
and the public sector

• the use of the data and information will enable
us to incorporate our performance against
GoGO milestones, targets and goals as part of
their Annual Report.

Strategic milestones and timeframes

The GoGO Action Plan outlines an incremental
approach for portfolio agencies to implement
climate change greening programs and deliver on
the following strategic milestones:

Milestone 1
Chief Executives to sign Statements of
Commitment to GoGO (by June 2006):

• statement of commitment approved by our
Chief Executive and communicated throughout
the agency.
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Milestone 2

Resources allocated to set up governance
arrangements and initiate internal reviews (by
January 2007):

• a Greening DFC Reference Group has been
established and its role, responsibilities and
terms of reference have been supported by the
Chief Executive.

Milestones 3 to 6
Development of agency implementation plans, set
performance goals/internal targets and report on
progress (by June 2007):

• a review process has been documented and
undertaken to identify greening initiatives by the
Greening DFC Reference Group and approved
by the Chief Executive and human and financial
resources have been committed to facilitate and
co-ordinate greening within the department

• all targets and goals linked to GoGO Priority
Areas, South Australia's Strategic Plan and
internal targets and goals have been
documented and approved by the Executive
Group

• a Greening DFC Action Plan has been
documented and approved, and DFC has
commenced data and information collection of
established baselines and has its
Communication Plan in place

• commenced initial reporting of established
targets and baselines fulfilling its annual
reporting requirements.

Milestones 7 to 8
Initiation (where relevant, continuous
improvement) of agency implementation plans and
progression of data collection to be included in the
GoGO Scorecard (June 2007 onwards):

• the establishment of the Data and Information
System by August 2006 will enable DFC to
undertake ongoing measuring, monitoring,
reporting and continuous improvement of
performance matched to the Greening DFC
Action Plan targets and goals

• this Annual Report incorporates our
performance against the strategic milestones
and targets.

Discrimination Act 1992 and the Equal Opportunity
Act 1984. There is commitment to the overall
compliance to the development; implementation
and monitoring of the DFC Action Plan, including
its incorporation into Business Plans.

GoGO Framework
Sustainability reporting

DFC's involvement in attaining sustainability is
through the eight priority areas as outlined in the
Greening of Government Operations (GoGO)
Framework. Those priority areas are:

• energy usage

• water consumption

• waste management

• green buildings

• travel and fleet management

• green procurement

• human resource management

• government policy and guidelines.

It is also linked to Objective 3, Attaining
Sustainability of South Australia's Strategic Plan,
which aims to make South Australia world
renowned for being clean, green and sustainable.

Earlier in 2006, Cabinet approved the GoGO
Action Plan, which requires agencies to commit to
achieving agreed whole-of-government Milestones
within certain timeframes. A GoGO Scorecard was
used to rate DFC's progress towards the
implementation of the GoGO Action Plan and
achievement of the Strategic Milestones. It
comprises the following key action areas:

Action 1: Demonstrate leadership and
commitment
DFC has achieved this through the following:

• launched a comprehensive strategy to green the
department in line with the GoGO Framework

• established the Greening DFC Reference Group

• liaised with GoGO lead agencies

• promoted Greening DFC to our worksites

• established our Greening DFC intranet site 
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• introduced greening into the DFC Strategic
Agenda

• developed a DFC Environmental Policy

• collected data and information for priority areas

• appointed a 1.0 FTE Environmental Manager
and a 0.5 contract Environmental Project Officer

• established greening as a regular agenda item
for Executives in DFC.

Action 2: Plan for environmental management
DFC has achieved this through the following:

• identified the environmental impacts of our
business and introduced programs and allocated
resources, both physical and budgetary, in areas
of waste management, water consumption,
energy consumption, green buildings, travel and
fleet management and green procurement

• developed a Greening DFC Action Plan for
2005-06 to 2009-10, which links to South
Australia's Strategic Plan and outlines
developmental priorities, yearly targets and
goals, responsibilities, strategies, partnerships,
milestones, budgets, timeframes, divisional risks,
and overall risk management

• implemented a top level Key Performance
Indicator to reduce GoGO targets and goals
from 2014 to 2010

• established data and information baselines in
the areas of energy, waste management, water
consumption, green buildings, travel and fleet,
procurement and human resource management.

Action 3: Implement environmental
management
DFC has achieved this through the following:

• initiated and communicated our greening
implementation plans through DFC's
management meetings, staff information
sessions, DFC's Strategic Agenda, including
greening in learning and development
programs, staff induction programs, greening
DFC's intranet site, use of email, and the use of
E-Gov CD-ROM to communicate whole-of-
government greening initiatives



Water consumption
The trial of the Desert Cube Waterless Urinal
System in Riverside Building was successful, with
the system installed through the building during
September and October 2005. The trial indicated
that up to 40% water savings could be achieved
over 12 months and readings will be taken during
September and October 2006 to check if this has
been achieved. If it has, there will be a strong case
to implement the system in other DFC worksites.

Travel and fleet management
Over the next three years, we plan to change the
mix of our 600 passenger fleet vehicles to 200
Hybrid vehicles and 400 dual fuel (LPG) vehicles.
This will result in a 25% reduction in CO2
emissions and savings of between 7% and 8% in
the cost of running the passenger fleet. The first
Hybrid Prius was delivered on 27 February 2006,
with 11 currently in the fleet and 34 on order. Dual
fuel vehicles account for 29%, or 196 of out total
vehicles. DFC has also provided more parking
spaces for bicycle riders within Riverside Building,
up from 18 spaces to 52 spaces.

Intellectual Disability Services Council has
implemented a TravelSmart program to encourage
its staff and clients to use public transport by
providing discounted Adelaide metro tickets to
further reduce CO2 emissions. Four DFC regional
offices are working with the TravelSmart Workplace
program to trial and encourage employees to utilise
alternative transport methods such as walking,
cycling, public transport and carpooling.

Green procurement
Greening DFC is working with the Procurement
and Contract Management Unit in the areas of
energy usage and waste management to
implement programs to reduce CO2 emissions,
costs and waste. It is also developing processes
and procedures which will accommodate
environmentally friendly products being introduced
into the workplace.

Human resources management
The Learning and Development Unit has included
greening in its induction program for staff who are
new to the department. It is planned that senior
management will have a greening component in
their job contracts as a performance measure.
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These environmental innovations, programs and
performances coupled with meeting our
responsibilities in the GoGO Action Plan and
achieving Milestones one to eight a year ahead of
schedule, are contributing to DFC being recognised
as being on the cutting edge in taking up the
challenge of climate change and environmental
responsibility.

Energy Efficiency Action Plan
In 2005-06, we have had difficulty in identifying a
reasonable estimate of energy consumption due to
unreliable and mixed data being available as a
result of the split of the Department of Human
Services. However, a baseline handover report has
been prepared by the Department of Health and
Energy SA which will allow us to accurately
measure our performance from 2006-07 against
the annual energy use targets in South Australia's
Strategic Plan.

Despite this, we have been very active in improving
our energy efficiency by:

• launching the Greening DFC program and
engaging a full-time project officer to co-
ordinate environmental and energy
management within the department

• establishing a Greening Reference Group to
provide policy, procedures and guidelines to
reduce energy consumption

• establishing systems and strategies to gather
data to determine a baseline, which will allow
us to report on progress towards the targets

• modifying the time cleaning is undertaken to
minimise energy consumption on lighting

• exploring the possibility of installing ECO
lighting

• modifying the operational time of air-
conditioning systems

• exploring ways of reducing CO2 emissions by
25%, and reducing fleet costs within two years,
by introducing the hybrid electric car

• continuing negotiations with the building owner
of the space leased by the Elizabeth South
Australian Housing Trust office to achieve a five
star green rating.

GoGO eight priority areas

In accordance with the priority areas, the following
has been achieved:

Energy usage
DFC has achieved a 6% reduction from the
baseline created in 2000-02. As we are having
difficulties in collating timely data we are
developing a Data and Information System which
will be online by August 2006. This will enable us
to monitor our energy use and performance.

Significant energy management achievements
DFC has been very active in relation to improving
our energy efficiency including:

• introduction of dual-fuel and hybrid vehicles in the
passenger fleet over the next three years which
will aid in reducing emissions by up to 25%

• the Greening program has been influential in
getting other agencies within DFC to start their
Environmental Committees and programs

• the Greening Reference Group has provided
continuing guidance on policy procedures 
and guidelines

• Intellectual Disability Services Council has
implemented a program to encourage its
employees and clients to use public transport by
providing discounted Adelaide Metro tickets to
further reduce CO2 emissions.

The Energy Efficiency Action Plan
We understand that energy management is a
multi-faceted issue.  In order to achieve savings in
energy we are using Whole Systems Thinking to
undertake issues which tie in resource usage and
workflows in offices.  These initiatives should start
to see dividends in the coming years in terms of
lesser energy usage and emissions reduction.

In 2006-07:

• we will identify opportunities within our
operations to reduce energy costs and
greenhouse gas emissions

• Riverside Building will reduce its printing devices
by approximately 50% which will result in cost
savings of up to $150 000 annually and energy
consumption savings of 36%, or up to 108.25
tonnes of CO2 emissions
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• DFC agencies will identify opportunities to employ
energy performance contracting (EPC) within
public sector operations as a means of reducing
energy costs and greenhouse gas emissions.

Waste management
In 2005-06, DFC implemented a new waste
management system in the Riverside Building
which relies on separating wet waste to landfill,
recycling milk cartons and all bottles and cans,
recycling all photocopying paper, newspapers and
cardboard. The new system has proven to be
extremely successful reducing wet waste to landfill
from a baseline of 3120 litres per night to 1320
litres per night (a reduction of 1800 litres of wet
waste per night or 58% less waste to landfill). The
new system recycles approximately 1000 litres of
cartons, bottles and cans per week which are
picked up by the Boy Scouts Association. There is a
much higher percentage of paper and cardboard
being recycled as staff do not have the option of
sending it to landfill.

The above figures have proven to be very
consistent throughout the year, and monitoring
has been by receiving quarterly environmental
reports from the waste removal company. We are
currently exploring the cost effectiveness of
introducing this system to all offices and sites
within the department. Used photocopier and
printing cartridges and toners have been recycled
through Planet Ark. The first Resource Recovery
Certificate was received for January 2006 to March
2006, with the total diverted from landfill being
1180 kgs.

Another initiative implemented resulted in a
significant reduction of phone books (white and
yellow pages) in Riverside Building. By encouraging
staff to use the online phone books, 3360 kgs of
paper was diverted from landfill.

Riverside Building has three worm farms, and
between them, the busy worms have diverted 500
litres of food waste going to landfill. The liquid
fertiliser and compost that the worms produce is
much sought after by staff for their gardens.



Public participation in policy formulation

The public can contribute to policy development in
a number of ways as external expertise is sought
when needed, from both within and outside of the
Government which allows the community to have
direct input into service delivery planning.

Policy advice is sought through statutory and non-
statutory advisory committees, comprising peak
organisations and board representatives. In
connecting with the community, consultative
advice may be undertaken in the planning,
development and implementation of policy
initiatives. Major interest groups are also consulted
by the circulation of discussion papers, calls for
submissions on particular topics as well as
convening of public meetings on legislative and
policy reform. These processes ultimately allow the
community to have direct input on services they
require.

Types of documents held

DFC holds various types of documents principally
divided into the categories of administrative, policy
and client files. We possess:

• internal administrative instructions for functions
associated in the areas of financial
management, human resources, property
management and practice procedures

• general publications including books, discussion
and background papers, reports, reviews, serial
publications, pamphlets, posters, surveys,
guidelines, policies, programs, strategies,
directories, evaluations, assessments and
proposals

• other documents such as administrative circulars
on general management and industrial circulars.

The DFC library keeps information on where
publications are stored and whether they are free,
for sale, or accessible for inspection. DFC's library
is the initial point of contact and is located at:

Level 2, 162 Grenfell Street
Adelaide South Australia 5000

Telephone 08 8226 7043 
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DFC policy documents
The following policy documents have been
published by DFC:

Department-wide
• Code of Fair Information Practice

• Connecting to the Future: The Strategic Agenda
for the Department for Families and
Communities 2005 2008

• Statement of Reconciliation

Families SA
• Adoption and Family Information Service of

South Australia

• Budget Plan

• Concessions (Energy; Water, sewerage &
council; Emergency Services levy; Transport)

• Foster Carers Charter

• Funeral Assistance

• Keeping Them Safe: The SA Government's Child
Protection Reform Program

• Mandated Notification Training and 
Consultancy Services

• Money Problems? WE CAN HELP!

• Protecting Children and Young People with
Disabilities

• Rapid Response: Whole-of-Government Services
for Children and Young People under the
Guardianship of the Minister 

Community Connect
• Valuing our Carers

• Inner City Services Strategic Plan 2004-07

• Inner City Services Strategic Plan 2004-07
Summary

Housing
• Housing Plan for South Australia

• Aboriginal Housing: Asset Planning Policies

• Aboriginal Housing: Community Housing
Program Policy

• Aboriginal Housing: Tenancy Management Policies

• SA Community Housing Authority's Policy 
Home page

Energy Efficiency Action Plan 
reporting for 2005-06

DFC has so far achieved a 6% reduction from the
baseline created in 2000-01. As we are having
difficulties in collating timely data, we are
developing a Data and Information System which
will be online by August 2006 which will enable us
to monitor our energy use and performance.

Regional Impact Assessment
Statements
Under the Regional Impact Assessment Statements
Policy, agencies must prepare and publish Regional
Impact Assessment Statements prior to
implementing significant changes to existing South
Australian Government services to rural and
regional areas. DFC did not undertake any
Regional Impact Assessment Statements during
2005-06.

Freedom of Information
Information Statement

The Freedom of Information Act 1991 gives
members of the public a legally enforceable right
of access to information held by agencies, subject
to certain restrictions.
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Structure and functions of the Department 
for Families and Communities

DFC provides a range of services to those who are
vulnerable or marginalised and socially
disadvantaged. The department's structure and
reporting lines are outlined on pages 14 and 15 of
this Annual Report. Many services are provided at
both a regional and local basis at district centres
and offices around the State. The direction of the
department is also influenced by the input of
advisory boards and committees listed on page 13.

Functions of the Department for Families 
and Communities affecting the public

The functions of DFC directly impact on the public
in the areas of ageing, child protection and
adolescents at risk, disability, housing, Aboriginal
and Torres Strait Islander affairs, social inclusion,
accommodation and support services and women's
issues. These integrated services are provided state-
wide to ensure help is provided to those families
and individuals in need of assistance. DFC is
involved in working with individuals and families
and communities to drive changes for
improvements in their quality of life by creating
opportunities for sharing community benefits.

Performance against Annual Energy Use Targets

Energy Use (GJ)1 Expenditure ($)2 GHG Emissions3

Base Year 2000-014:
Agency One
Agency Two, etc.
Portfolio Total 168,329 3,649,832 25,318

Year Being Reported:
Agency One
Agency Two, etc.
Portfolio Total 162,073 4,092,389 22,585

Portfolio Target5

(for Year Being Reported) 153,180 3,321,348 23,040

Interim Portfolio Target6

(for 2010) 139,714 3,029,361 21,014

Final Portfolio Target7

(for 2014) 126,247 2,737,374 18,989



Ageing
• Dispute Resolution (Administering Authorities

and Residents)

• Documents Provided to Prospective Residents

• Improving with Age - Our Ageing Plan for 
South Australia

• Leaving a Retirement Village

• Living in a Retirement Village

• Premises Condition Report Example #1

• Premises Condition Report Example #2

• Remarketing Policy and Example

• Residence Rules

• Retirement Villages Introduction

• Statement of Income and Expenditure

• Terminating a Resident's Right of Occupation

Disability
• Disability Action Plans

• Disability Services Framework 2004-07

• Family Members as Unpaid Carers

• Guidelines for Provider Agency Managers and
Case Managers (Brokers) in the Provision of
Health Support to People with Disabilities

• Guidelines for Registered Nurses in the Provision
of Health Support to People with Disabilities

• Health Support Training and Competency-based
Assessment of Care Workers

• Intellectual Disability Services Council -
Blueprint: Future Directions 2004-07

• Julia Farr Services - Visions, Mission, Values

• Port Augusta Regional Plan 2005-07

• Portability Policy - Moving Interstate: Assistance
to People with Disabilities and their Carers

• Riverland Regional Plan 2005-07

• South-East Regional Plan 2005-07

Women
• Mentoring for women - a guide to finding and

using multiple mentors

• Statistical Profile: Women in South Australia
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• Valuing South Australia's Women 
(Women's Safety)

• Women on board - an introduction to
Government boards and committees

• Women's Safety

Youth
• Youth Action Plan

Arrangements and procedures for seeking
access to records and policies

Applications for access to documents and policies
including purchase costs, or amendment of personal
records held by DFC should be addressed to:

Departmental Liaison Officer (FOI)
Department for Families and Communities
GPO Box 292 
Adelaide South Australia 5001

Telephone 08 8413 9050

Applications for access should be made between
9.00am and 5.00pm.

Fraud management
Three instances of employee related fraud cases
were reported in 2005-06. One reported case
resulted in an investigation involving the Crown
Solicitor which has yet to be finalised while the
other reported cases have been resolved internally.
In relation to outstanding employee related fraud,
all cases have been referred to South Australia
Police with investigations and hearings continuing.

As a result of these investigations, improvements
are currently being implemented, including the
establishment of a Fraud Control Plan, outlining
DFC's approach to the prevention, detection and
reporting of fraud. Additionally, a Fraud Risk
Assessment Guide and a Fraud Training Program
will be established enabling managers and staff to
assess within their divisions, potential fraud risk
and evaluate current fraud counter measures and
determine areas for improvement.

Asbestos management
The State Government has adopted guidelines for
asbestos management in government buildings,
which includes the requirement that agencies must
report on their asbestos risk reduction programs.
As part of its asset management DFC, through the
Department for Administrative and Information
Services, undertakes an annual asbestos inspection
of its sites. Any works required as a result of the
inspections are carried out by relevant approved
providers through this department.
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In regard to refurbishment and sustainment works,
the central duty office area at the Magill Training
Centre was the only site where asbestos was found
and removed during 2005-06. Some asbestos was
found in the existing ceiling during renovations
and removed by Spotless Facility Management.

Asbestos management report - priority and removal activities

Site asbestos Priority for risk No. of sites in Risk reduction Quantification of 
presence status assessment priority for program - activities 

assessment 2005-06 activity (by item, area, $)
category

Insufficient data Urgent 4 N/A N/A

Unstable, accessible; or Urgent 0 N/A N/A
Unstable, damaged or
decayed

Unstable, inaccessible; or High 4 N/A N/A
Unstable, partly accessible

Stable, accessible; or Medium 7 N/A N/A
Stable, accessible, 
initial signs of decay

Stable, inaccessible; or Low 2 N/A N/A
Stable, partly accessible

Asbestos free N/A 12 N/A N/A
Site asbestos presence status - types of asbestos containing materials (ACMs), recorded in Asbestos Register.
Priority for site risk assessment - priority for further whole-of-site risk assessment, based on type of ACM present.
Quantification of activities - totals of how many items, square metres and/or level of expenditure to remove ACMs.

Asbestos management report - risk reduction

Site performance 1 2 3 4 5 Not 
score assessed

Site risk level Severe Major Moderate Minor No risk 
(threshold (target
category) category)

% of sites in 3.6% 3.6% 14.3% 2.5% 42.8% 10.7%
category year's 
commencement

Adjusted % after 3.5% 3.5% 17.2% 20.7% 41.3% 13.8%
annual reduction 
activity

Site performance score - based on risk assessment of ACMs present. 
Site risk level - assessed level of risk for a site as a whole, based on a detailed risk assessment and associated removal and management plan at that site.

Site
category
scale



Asbestos risk reduction in residential
properties

The South Australian Housing Trust has an ongoing
program to reduce asbestos products in its
properties that are used for residential purposes.
During 2005-06, asbestos removal in residential
properties was undertaken as follows:
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Asbestos risk reduction in properties owned
by the South Australian Housing Trust

The South Australian Housing Trust undertakes
annual asbestos inspections of its property sites
through the Department for Administrative and
Information Services. As a result of these
inspections, any identified work is carried out by
approved providers through this department. No
asbestos was removed from South Australian
Housing Trust offices in 2005-06. 
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Asbestos removal in non-residential properties

Category Site Asbestos Status Risk Level No of Sites Risk Reduction
(No of locations Program Activities
within sites) conducted during

2005-06

1 Unstable, accessible Severe 36 (45) Floor coverings
and unstable, containing asbestos
damaged or decayed were removed at a cost

of $0.057 million.

2 Unstable, inaccessible Major 0 No asbestos removed in
and unstable, partly this category.
accessible

3 Stable, accessible and Moderate 32 (35) Removal of asbestos
stable, accessible but material from roofs,
initial signs of decay carports, external 

cladding, fire places 
and sleep outs at a 
cost of $0.041 million.

3 (a) Accessible, but initial Moderate 4 (8) Removal of asbestos
signs of decay through the 

Maintenance Capital 
Program from roofs, 
eaves, external 
cladding and wall 
linings at a cost of 
$0.018 million.

4 Stable, inaccessible Minor 16 (19) Removal of asbestos
and stable, partly material from kitchens,
inaccessible bathrooms, laundries, 

toilets and shower 
recesses at a cost of 
$0.022 million.

Asbestos removal in residential properties

Category Site Asbestos Risk Level No of Sites Risk Reduction Program
Status (No of locations Activities conducted

within sites) during 2005-06

1 Unstable, Severe 446 (737) Floor coverings containing asbestos were
accessible removed at a cost of $0.796 million.
and unstable, In addition asbestos was removed from one
damaged or property that was extensively damaged due
decayed to fire (at a cost of $0.006 million).

A further two properties also had floor 
coverings containing asbestos removed at
a cost of $0.002 million through the
Maintenance Capital Program.

2 Unstable, Major 0 No asbestos removed in this category.
inaccessible
and unstable, 
partly accessible

3 Stable, Moderate 567 (631) Removal of asbestos material from 
accessible guttering, downpipes, back enclosures,
and stable, balconies, carports, eaves, porches, meter
accessible boxes, external wall cladding, fencing, fire
but initial signs places, gables, heaters, porches, rain water
of decay tank stands, sleep outs, verandahs, and

yards at a cost of $0.745 million.

3 (a) Accessible, Moderate 41 (41) Removal of asbestos through the 
but initial Maintenance Capital Program from roofs
signs of decay and fences at a cost of $0.119 million.

4 Stable, Minor 418 (534) Removal of asbestos material from kitchens
inaccessible bathrooms, laundries, toilets, shower 
and stable, recesses, and baths at a cost of
partly $0.632 million. In addition asbestos was
inaccessible removed from a further 28 properties that

were demolished (at a cost of 
$0.028 million). Asbestos was also removed
through the Maintenance Capital Program
from the kitchens, bathrooms, laundries
and toilets of a further seven properties
at a cost of $0.014 million.

Under the High Need Housing programs,
properties used for non-residential purposes, or
those used for commercial residential purposes,
such as group homes and boarding houses, are
required to have an Asbestos Register located on
the property. During 2005-06, the removal of
asbestos in areas comprising floor coverings
replacement, roof eaves, porches, external
cladding, sleep outs, kitchens and wet areas was
addressed.



Employees’ overseas travel
Agencies are required to provide a summary of
overseas travel undertaken by employees during
the reporting period. This section of the Annual
Report satisfies that requirement.

Overseas travel is defined in the Commissioner's
Public Sector Management Determination 8, which
states that 'travel within Australasia (including visits
to New Zealand, Papua New Guinea and Australian
Territories) is not subject to the overseas travel
requirements of this determination, unless it forms
part of a more extensive itinerary encompassing
other overseas destinations'.
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Please note that the information below does not
include data from disability health services
attached to DFC, such as Julia Farr Services,
Independent Living Centre and Intellectual
Disability Services Council.

Urban Design Charter
The South Australian Housing Trust continues to lead
the way for DFC in the South Australian Urban
Design Charter, although both the Aboriginal
Housing Authority and the South Australian
Community Housing Authority has new builds and
renovations are consistent with the overall philosophy
of the Charter. The South Australian Community
Housing Authority, as an example, has ensured that
30% of its site upgrades include modifications for
people with disabilities. The Aboriginal Housing
Authority has also participated in developing
community planning ideologies for regional areas.

The Sustainable Housing and Liveable
Neighbourhoods design guides produced last year
have been expanded in 2005-06 to include
Environmental Sustainability, Housing Modifications
(for people with disabilities) and Generic Design
Guidelines for Upgrades with urban design principles
embedded throughout the design guides. These
guidelines are used by the South Australian Housing
Trust for briefing clauses for particular projects, and
inclusion in tendering and contract documentation,
while the Aboriginal Housing Authority and the
South Australian Community Housing Authority
incorporate Australian Standards and environmental
practices wherever possible. The South Australian
Community Housing Authority builds also conform
to adaptable standards, including allotment specific
designs. All the guidelines are available on the
departmental website and are intended to be used
by staff and external providers. The South Australian
Housing Trust has also sought to further inform
architects, engineers, project managers and urban
planners this year through a series of three forums.

In 2005-06, DFC received the following awards
relevant to urban design:

The Parks Community IT Access Group
• 2005 Civic Trust Award of Merit in the Human

Category for Community Engagement

The Myall Place Urban Renewal
• 2005 Civic Trust Award of Merit in the Material

Category

Wallala Ave Project

• 2005 Civic Trust Commendation Award in the
Natural Category
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Better Neighbourhoods Project
• UDIA 2005 Natural Gas and Envestra Award 

for Excellence

• Presidents Award in Public Leadership and
Development

Hawksbury Park Urban Improvement Project
• UDIA 2005 Commendation Award in Urban

Renewal

Myall Place Urban Renewal Project
• UDIA 2005 Commendation Award for Regional

Development

Westwood Urban Regeneration Project
• Planning Institute of Australia (SA) Award 

in Urban Design: Plans and ideas/build (over)
$30 000

Paul Ogden
• Australian Housing Institute 2005 Professional

Excellence in Social Housing

• Outstanding Achievement in Social Housing 

Murray Hutchesson
• Public Service Medal within the Australian

System of Honours and Awards, 2006

• Outstanding Leadership in Environmentally
Sustainable Housing Development

Wangka Willurrara Accommodation Centre
(Aboriginal Housing Authority and District
Council of Ceduna)
• SA Great Regional Awards 2005 for Innovation

Carers Charter
A strategy for the implementation and promotion
of the Carers Recognition Act 2005 has been
developed and will occur in 2006-07. The strategy
incorporates dissemination of the SA Carers Policy
and Carers Charter, the principles of which are
incorporated in the legislation.

A reporting strategy and framework will be 
co-ordinated through an across government
Implementation Group to assist in strategic
planning and determining future directions for
carer services. Partnerships and collaborative
processes will be developed to determine gaps in
knowledge about carers and carer issues and
undertake appropriate research.

Number of Destinations Reasons for travel Total cost to
employees agency ($) *

1 Ireland Hugh Stretton Award. 2000

1 United Kingdom Chartered Institute of Housing conference 2000
and meetings with key personnel from 
housing associations and architectural practices.

1 United Kingdom To attend Sustainability Works briefing 2000
and visit an association using the system.

1 United States of Hugh Stretton Award. 11 046
America

1 United Kingdom Chartered Institute of Housing conference 5208
and meetings with key personnel of the 
Glasgow Housing Association.

1 Sri Lanka Escorting a group of high school students to Nil
do volunteering in tsunami effected areas 
as part of the Duke of Edinburgh's Award.

1 United Kingdom Examination of the Connexions Card initiative 3022

1 Macau Asia Pacific Regional Training The Nil
Trainers program as part of the  
Duke of Edinburgh's Award.

1 United Kingdom DFC representative in Immigration SA 4754
delegation at Australia Needs Skills Expo 
(London exhibition).

2 United Kingdom Staff recruitment. 9508

1 South Africa Looking at community service programs 4346
affiliated with Youth Justice system.

1 Canada/UK Churchill Scholarship to study overseas. Nil

1 India Negotiations with Government and non 9217
Government agencies conducting inter-country 
adoptions programs.

* costs to the agency exclude employee related expenses



Future gender reporting
The Office for Women is committed to leading
positive change for women by initiating innovative
policies, programs and services in collaboration with
government and the community so that women, in
all their diversity, are valued and respected in a safe
and socially inclusive community.

The Office for Women has been successful in
gaining an Australian Research Council (ARC)
Grant to develop a self-assessment audit tool
focused on Gender Analysis. The Grant will fund
the project for three years. The project involves 
co-operation between the Office for Women, the
University of Adelaide, the Women's Policy Office
in Western Australia and the University of Western
Australia. This tool will provide a means for
Government agencies to ensure they are meeting
the needs of all citizens and will explore, develop
and refine techniques for making public policy
gender-inclusive and therefore effective. 

The project will result in three main outputs: a set
of conceptual tools for gender analysis, a practical
guide for evaluating policy at the design phase,
and an in-house training component.

To date, the project is in its second year with three
South Australian Government departments involved
in trialling the toolkits. All of the agencies involved
have found that using gender analysis when
developing and reviewing policies is beneficial. 

The Office for Women has a close working
relationship with the Premier's Council for Women
which has recommended a number of key actions
to achieve gender equality. Some of these
recommendations include:

• introducing gender sensitive budget processes
and requirements across the public sector

• developing a Gender Indicators Online (GIO)
website to monitor changes in the status of
women across South Australia.

The Office for Women has been working on all
three gender projects to assist policy practitioners
across government in the development and
evaluation of gender sensitive policies and
programs. At a broader level, the three projects play
an important role in supporting a whole-of-
government approach to promoting gender equality. 
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DFC Gender Reporting
Across DFC, a number of projects reflect the
incorporation of gender analysis:

Women's Safety Strategy

Our Commitment to Women's Safety in South
Australia was launched 8 March 2005 and
recognises that women are the primary victims of
domestic violence, Indigenous family violence and
sexual assault and that men are the primary
perpetrators of this violence. DFC, through the
Office for Women, leads the implementation of
the strategy that involved a whole-of-government
reference group, issue and population based
working groups and a range of projects. 

Housing

The South Australian Housing Trust has reviewed
its policy so that tenants experiencing domestic or
family violence no longer have to meet the costs of
additional property security, subject to verification
of the violence. This policy while being available to
all members of the community recognises that
women experiencing violence often have to leave
their homes as a result of limited financial
resources to upgrade their security.

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islanders 

The Office for Women coordinated the State
Aboriginal Women's Gathering to inform policy
and program development across government. In
response to the recommendations, DFC
demonstrated the incorporation of Aboriginal
women's voices through the following programs:

• Families SA Youth Justice Aboriginal Advisory
Group and Disability Services SA have indicated
that support mechanisms and specifically
tailored seminars are required for Aboriginal
women who are dealing with members of their
family and their community every day in their
work. Strategies are being put in place in
recognition of the impact that this has on their
health and well being

• strengthening relationships with relevant non-
government organisations. This has resulted in
the youth development officers from NPY
Women's Council working together to develop
co-ordinated youth programs.

Contractual arrangements
In 2005-06, there were 10 contracts with a value
greater than $4 million which extended beyond a
single year.
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Organisation Description Duration of Value ($)
arrangements

Anglicare SA Inc Alternative care - foster care services in the 1 July 2004 - 4 933 880
metropolitan area to ensure children, young 30 June 2007
people and families are safe, supported
and connected to the future.

Catholic Church Disability services including accommodation 1 July 2005 - 5 449 295
Endowment support, community access and respite to 30 September 2006
Society Inc through enable people to take charge of their lives
Centacare Catholic and ensure community connection
Family Services opportunities are available to all.

Community Access Disability services including community 1 July 2005 - 9 521 984
Services of South access to enable people to take charge of 30 September 2006
Australia Inc their lives and ensure community 

connection opportunities are available to all.

Leveda Inc Disability services including accommodation 1 July 2005 - 11 779 257
support to enable people to take charge of 30 September 2006
their lives and ensure community connection 
opportunities are available to all.

Life's for Living Inc Disability services including accommodation 1 July 2005 - 5 862 373
support to enable people to take charge of 30 September 2006
their lives and ensure community connection 
opportunities are available to all.

Minda Inc Disability services including accommodation 1 July 2005 - 80 517 403
support, community access, community 30 September 2006
support and respite to enable people to take 
charge of their lives and ensure community 
connection opportunities are available to all.

Novita Children's Disability services including community 1 July 2005 - 27 774 476
Services support to enable people to take charge of 30 September 2006
Incorporated their lives and ensure community connection 

opportunities are available to all.

Orana Incorporated Disability services including accommodation 1 July 2005 - 5 563 005
support and respite to enable people to take 30 September 2006
charge of their lives and ensure community 
connection opportunities are available to all.

Royal District Home and Community Care Services including 1 July 2005 - 29 068 400
Nursing Services nursing services to enable people to take 30 June 2008
Inc charge of their lives and ensure community 

connection opportunities are available to all.

Urban Pacific Contractual agreement between the South 29 January 1999 - 340 000 000
Limited (UPL) Australian Housing Trust and UPL for the 2011

Westwood Urban Renewal Project.
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“The development of a comprehensive Workforce Plan will ensure that our staff are supported from
recruitment right throughout their working life with our department.”

comprehensive human resource delegations
manual has been developed, supported by
procedural guidelines for all delegations, and
comprehensive training sessions across DFC for all
delegates.

Redeployment

The DFC redeployment process has evolved
following the separation from the Department of
Health. The process has resulted in the
development and revision of redeployment
practices and policies, and resources have been
allocated to undertake intensive case management.
Whilst the declared number of excess employees
has remained constant (currently there are 24
excess employees within DFC), the re-vitalised and
responsive redeployment service has resulted in 14
employees being successfully placed during the
period.

Graduate recruitment program

The 2005 Graduate Recruitment Program was
highly successful with DFC retaining 13 of 16
graduates employed. An evaluation of the
Graduate Recruitment Program has been
undertaken which has and will, contribute to
future programs attracting graduates and offer
greater employment opportunities within DFC.

During 2006, DFC commenced an independent
graduate program which recruited graduates from
a range of disciplines including finance, human
resources, physiotherapy, psychology, arts,
management, social science, information
technology and law. The Graduate Program was
highly successful receiving over 400 applications
and recruiting 40 graduates from a range of ages
to positions across DFC.

Graduates are participating in a pilot program
undertaking Certificate III in Government,
specifically related to the work undertaken in DFC.
This includes a comprehensive induction, facilitated
learning workshops, a mentoring program and
access to regular communication networks. DFC
has also participated in a range of Career
Exhibitions and Fairs throughout South Australia
which has generated significant interest from
prospective job applicants and high school
students who have a particular career aspiration to
work in the public sector.
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Overseas recruitment

DFC has identified the need to attract and retain
the services of qualified Social Workers and
Psychologists. As a consequence we are developing
a recruitment strategy with a primary focus on
regional Families SA District Centres. DFC is
working collaboratively with South Australian and
interstate tertiary institutions to develop
opportunities for new and existing graduates to
further their career. DFC is committed to the
ongoing identification, recruitment and retention
in areas of skills shortages.

South Australian Housing Trust pools

An intensive recruitment drive to establish a
number of pools to fill positions across the South
Australian Housing Trust occurred in 2005-06,
including an administrative support pool, Housing
Manager pool, and Housing Adviser pool.
Significant time and cost savings to DFC have been
identified through the use of the pools.
Applications were extremely competitive including:

• over 300 applications for the Housing Manager
and Housing Adviser pools

• over 200 applications for the Administrative
Support pool

• 90% of pool members have been successfully
employed

• 80 people have been selected to be registered
on the pools.

International student placement

In September 2005, the South Australian Housing
Trust commenced hosting an international student
from the Sheffield Hallam University in the United
Kingdom. The international student is currently
studying a four-year Bachelor in Professional
Housing Studies degree and has applied to
undertake a student placement within the South
Australian Housing Trust to gain an international
perspective on the housing needs of individuals
and how these needs are met in the public and
private sector.

The placement has provided an opportunity for the
international student to share his knowledge and
experience with South Australian Housing Trust
employees on a range of social housing related

Valued and well supported employees who know
what is expected of them are critical to business
success. The community benefits from the
contributions of our people as workers, leaders,
volunteers and carers. This section of our Annual
Report provides information about who we are
and our people management in 2005-06.

Human Resources and Consulting
Human Resources and Consulting provides a range
of services to achieve required business objectives
through effective human resource management
practices and principles. The key human resource
achievements in 2005-06 are as follows.

Human resources reporting

Human resource network/consultancy services

The Human Resources teams have run a number of
sessions aimed at providing practical human
resources information and training to Business
Managers and Human Resources Administrators.
Information has been provided on topics such as,
classification management, appointment and
assignment principles, position management.
Intensive support has been provided to managers
to guide them through human resources processes.

Delegations

As a result of the review of the Office of Public
Employment, human resource delegations were
provided to Chief Executives in 2005-06. A

Left to Right: Craig Jeffery, Communications Officer;
Natalie Hamood, Director, Human Resources;
Carla Politis, Communications Graduate Officer
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Status of employees in current position

FTEs Ongoing Short-term Long-term Other Total
contract contract (casual)

Male 863 144 45 13 1065

Female 1486 370 50 16 1922

Total 2349 514 95 29 2987

Persons Ongoing Short-term Long-term Other (casual) Total
contract contract

Male 873 151 45 40 1109

Female 1578 403 51 50 2082

Total 2451 554 96 90 3191

Executive contracts

Number of executives by status in current position, gender and classification

Ongoing Contract Contract Total
tenured untenured

Classification Male Female Male Female Male Female Male Female Total

EXEC0A 0 0 1 2 7 11 8 13 21

EXEC0B 0 0 0 0 9 6 9 6 15

EXEC0C 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 2 2

EXEC0D 0 0 0 0 2 0 2 0 2

EXEC0E 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 1

Leave management
Total number of days leave taken

Leave Type 2004-05 2005-06
Sick leave taken 21 550 26 016

Family carer's leave taken 1325 1754

Special leave with pay 2397 2430

Correction: The total number of days leave taken for 2004-05, as reported on page 63 of the
Department for Families and Communities' Annual Report for 2004-05, has been revised. This is due to
the methodology in the set up for the reporting tool, which included a number of leave types which were
not correctly defined.

Workforce diversity
Number of employees by age bracket by gender

Age Bracket Male Female Total % of total SA workforce 
benchmark*

15 - 19 5 15 20 0.6 7.9

20 - 24 49 157 206 6.5 10.7

25 - 29 105 293 398 12.5 9.8

30 - 34 131 256 387 12.1 10.5

35 - 39 126 216 342 10.7 11.4

40 - 44 130 271 401 12.6 12.4

45 - 49 174 290 464 14.5 12.4

50 - 54 198 308 506 15.9 10.9

55 - 59 133 191 324 10.1 8.3

60 - 64 47 67 114 3.6 4.4

65+ 11 18 29 0.9 1.3

Total 1109 2082 3191 100.00 100.0

*Benchmark as at January 2006 from ABS Supertable LM8

issues in the United Kingdom and Ireland. This
placement has provided mechanisms through the
Sheffield Hallam University to establish networks
with United Kingdom housing authorities,
furthering the possibility of establishing an
international work exchange program with the
South Australian Housing Trust; assisting the South
Australian Housing Trust with generating youth

Employee numbers, gender and status

Persons 3191

Full time equivalent (FTE) 2987

Number of persons separated from the agency during the 2005-06 financial year 487

Number of persons recruited to the agency during the 2005-06 financial year 868

Number of persons recruited to the agency and retained during the 2005-06 financial year 660

Number of persons on leave without pay at 30 June 2006 135

Number of employees by gender

Gender % Persons % FTEs

Male 34.8 35.7

Female 65.2 64.3

Number of employees by salary bracket

Salary bracket Male Female Total

$0 - $40,399 263 680 943

$40,400 - $54,999 416 771 1187

$55,000 - $67,999 309 468 777

$68,000 - $88,999 100 139 239

$89,000+ 21 24 45

Total 1109 2082 3191

employment opportunities identified from 
DFC's workforce profiling analysis; and promoting
diversity in the workforce. The placement has
included a rotational program through the 
Capital Projects Division and the Adelaide 
Regional Office which has been an extremely
valuable experience for both the international
student and staff in DFC.
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Voluntary flexible working arrangements
Number of employees using voluntary flexible working arrangements by gender

Leave Type Male Female Total

Purchased leave 13 17 30

Flexitime 955 1863 2818

Compressed weeks 2 22 24

Part-time job share 5 44 49

Working from home 17 31 48

Training and development
Documented individual performance development plan

Documented review of individual performance development plan

% with a plan negotiated within the past 12 months 17.1

% with a plan older than 12 months 16.4

% no agreement 66.5

Total training expenditure

Total training expenditure $4 666 188

Total leadership training expenditure $1 746 312

Correction: Page 65 of the Department for Families and Communities' Annual Report for 2004-05 states
that $155 634 125 was spent on training for the reporting period. Due to an administrative error, the
total training expenditure for 2004-05 was incorrectly reported, and the correct figure is $3 058 856.

Number of Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander employees

Male Female Total % of agency Target*

Aboriginal/Torres Strait Islander People 59 119 178 5.6% 2%

* Target from South Australia's Strategic Plan

Cultural and linguistic diversity

Male Female Total % of agency SA 
community*

Number of employees born overseas 181 341 522 16.4% 20.3%

Number of employees who speak 
language(s)other than English at home 70 129 199 6.2% 15.5%

* Benchmarks from ABS Publication Basic Community Profile (SA) Cat No. 2001.0

Number of employees with ongoing disabilities requiring workplace adaptation

Male Female Total % of agency

43 65 108 3.4%

Equal opportunity program
During 2005-06, our primary focus was
researching departmental wide strategies to
support workforce development. DFC, however,
continued to promote equal opportunity programs
through the following:

• continued development and usage of innovative
and culturally friendly recruitment strategies for
targeted positions, in particular Aboriginal and
Torres Strait Islander recruitment

• endorsement of the culturally inclusive
framework and establishment of a working
group to implement strategies to promote
principles for a culturally inclusive workplace

• establishment of a new unit within DFC to
better support the employment and networking
of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander
employees across the department

• expanding the use of traineeships from the
traditional business administration training
packages, to include those in community care
and to better target the employment of trainees
within different areas of DFC

• continued implementation and promotion of
employing people with disabilities through the
Disability Action Plans and key targets.

We will build on these and introduce new
initiatives linked to our workforce plan during
2006-07.
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South Australian Housing Trust offices

2005-06 2004-05 2003-04 2002-03

OHS legislative requirements

Number of notifiable occurrences pursuant to OHS&W Nil Nil Nil Nil
Regulations Division 6.6

Number of notifiable injuries pursuant to OHS&W Nil Nil Nil Nil
Regulations Division 6.6

Number of notices served pursuant to OHS&W Nil Nil Nil 1
Act s35, s39 and s40

Injury Management legislative requirements

Total number of employees who participated 19 9 27 13
in the rehabilitation program

Total number of employees rehabilitated 2 1 2 N/A
and reassigned to alternative duties

Total number of employees rehabilitated 5 8 4 N/A
back to their original work

WorkCover Action Limits

Number of open claims as at 30 June 28 25 48 34

Percentage of workers compensation expenditure 0.01% 0.01% 0.01% 0.01%
over gross annual remuneration

Number of claims

Number of new workers compensation claims 23 23 38 34
in the financial year

Number of fatalities Nil Nil Nil Nil
Number of lost time injuries 7 8 18 15
Number of injuries requiring medical treatment only 16 15 20 19

Total number of whole working days lost (new claims) 95 717 662 260

Total number of whole working days lost (all claims) 1278 1542 1173 1003

Cost of workers compensation

Cost of new claims for financial year $46 854 $244 819 $246 024 $88 991

Cost of all claims excluding lump sum payments $355 977 $486 353 $396 944 $297 810

Amount paid for lump sum payments s42 $92 069 $160 000 $160 000 $66 514
(under sections s42, s43, s44 of the Act) s43 $61 439 $47 688 $61 429 $22 569

s44 - - - -

Total amount recovered from external sources (s54) $27,492 Nil $92,530 $85,482

Budget allocation for workers compensation $750 000 $750 000 $750 000 $750 000

Trends

Injury frequency rate for new lost-time injury/disease 3.83 3.38 5.67 5.23
for each 100 FTEs

Most frequent cause (mechanism) of injury Sprain/ Sprain/ Sprain/ Sprain/

Strain Strain Strain Strain

Most expensive cause (mechanism) of injury Mental Mental Mental Mental
Stress Stress Stress Stress

Occupational health, safety and welfare
The following statistics provide information about occupational health, safety and welfare (OHS&W) issues.

DFC central office

2005-06 2004-05 2003-04 2002-03

OHS legislative requirements

Number of notifiable occurrences pursuant to OHS&W Nil Nil
Regulations Division 6.6

Number of notifiable injuries pursuant to OHS&W Nil Nil
Regulations Division 6.6

Number of notices served pursuant to OHS&W Nil Nil
Act s35, s39 and s40

Injury Management legislative requirements

Total number of employees who participated in the 11 6
rehabilitation program

Total number of employees rehabilitated and Nil 1
reassigned to alternative duties

Total number of employees rehabilitated back to 5 3
their original work

WorkCover Action Limits

Number of open claims as at 30 June 10 7

Percentage of workers compensation expenditure N/A N/A
over gross annual remuneration

Number of claims

Number of new workers compensation claims 10 6
in the financial year

Number of fatalities Nil Nil
Number of lost time injuries 3 1
Number of injuries requiring medical treatment only 7 5

Total number of whole working days lost (new claims) 7 98

Total number of whole working days lost (all claims) 537 351

Cost of workers compensation

Cost of new claims for financial year $37 210 $46 660

Cost of all claims excluding lump sum payments $134 134 $68 537

Amount paid for lump sum payments s42 $27 940 -
(under sections s42, s43, s44 of the Act) s43 $11 510 $74 147

s44 - -

Total amount recovered from external sources (s54) Nil Nil

Budget allocation for workers compensation N/A N/A

Trends

Injury frequency rate for new lost-time injury/disease 2 3.2
for each 100 FTEs

Most frequent cause (mechanism) of injury Sprain/ Stress
Strain

Most expensive cause (mechanism) of injury Stress Stress

2004-05 was the first year of operation for the DFC Central Office, therefore no data is available for
previous financial years.



We are accountable for spending public money

wisely. Resources need to be deployed effectively

to build individual capacities and strong

communities across the State. We draw on shared

knowledge of what works well, on new thinking
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and emerging evidence to achieve value for money

in matching resources to need. This section of our

Annual Report details the sources from which we

have received funding and how we have used this

money to serve the community.

“We are committed to continuing to strengthen our operational financial services to develop and
implement high level budget strategies.”
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Families SA offices

2005-06 2004-05 2003-04 2002-03

OHS legislative requirements

Number of notifiable occurrences pursuant to OHS&W 3 Nil Nil Nil
Regulations Division 6.6

Number of notifiable injuries pursuant to OHS&W Nil Nil 2 2
Regulations Division 6.6

Number of notices served pursuant to OHS&W Nil Nil Nil Nil
Act s35, s39 and s40

Injury Management legislative requirements

Total number of employees who participated 132 52 37 47
in the rehabilitation program

Total number of employees rehabilitated and reassigned 15 5 6 18
to alternative duties

Total number of employees rehabilitated back 34 33 28 34
to their original work

WorkCover Action Limits

Number of open claims as at 30 June 197 151 193 158

Percentage of workers compensation expenditure 
over gross annual remuneration - - - -

Number of claims

Number of new workers compensation claims 135 133 121 141
in the financial year

Number of fatalities Nil Nil Nil Nil
Number of lost time injuries 40 35 29 46
Number of injuries requiring medical treatment only 95 98 92 95

Total number of whole working days lost (new claims) 1628 2248 2405 1629

Total number of whole working days lost (all claims) 8401 12 597 10 677 9088

Cost of workers compensation

Cost of new claims for financial year $530 769 $507 656 $607 556 $395 770

Cost of all claims excluding lump sum payments $2 055 749 $2 117 161 $1 948 375 $1 695 705

Amount paid for lump sum payments s42 $365 000 $160 000 $690 432 $137 048
(under sections s42, s43, s44 of the Act) s43 $98 995 $148 178 $324 513 $39 970

s44 - - - -

Total amount recovered from external sources (s54) $120 903 $67 915 $44 263 $47 220

Budget allocation for workers compensation $2 046 209 $2 156 162 $1 725 500 $2 029 401

Trends

Injury frequency rate for new lost-time 7.5 11.05 10.45 12.27
injury/disease for each 100 FTEs

Most frequent cause (mechanism) of injury Sprain/ Sprain/ Sprain/ Sprain/
Strain Strain Strain Strain

Most expensive cause (mechanism) of injury Mental Mental Mental Sprain/
Stress Stress Stress Strain

Joe Ullianich, Director, Financial Services

Account payment performance
Number of % of accounts Value of $A of % of accounts

accounts paid paid (by no.) accounts paid paid by value

Paid by the due date 72 627 71.56% 898 079 056.05 93.28%

Paid late, but within 30 19 504 19.22% 39 897 223.73 4.14%
days of the due date

Paid more than 30 days 9360 9.22% 24 799 592.30 2.58%
from the due date



External consultancies
The Department of Treasury and Finance's Accounting
Policy Statement 13 defines a consultant as 'a person
who is engaged by an entity for a specified period to
carry out a task that requires specialist skills and
knowledge not available in the entity. The objectives
of the task will be achieved by the consultant free
from direction by the entity as to the way it is
performed and in circumstances in which the
engagement of a person under normal conditions is
not a feasible alternative.
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28 consultants were engaged during 2005-06 and
DFC's total expenditure on consultancies in this
financial year was $496,477.

Consultancies below $10,000
There were 19 consultancies in 2005-06 that 
cost less than $10 000, with a total expenditure 
of $92 332.

Consultancies between $10 000 and $50 000
There were 6 consultancies in 2005-06 that cost
between $10 000 and $50 000, with a total
expenditure of $143 384. The consultancies and the
project on which each worked are outlined below.

Financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2006 for the Department for
Families and Communities
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Consultancy Project

Health Outcomes International Pty Ltd Evaluation of Community-based projects

Monica Redden Consultancy Office for Women Planning Process

Sharon McCallum International practice of collaboration between 
statutory child protection services and health services

Department of Education HR Strategy and Consulting Provision of Chums database
and Children's Services

Jenny Pearson Development of an assessment tool for school leavers 
with intellectual disabilities who are not eligible for 
Commonwealth funded disability employment assistance 
programs.

Australian Institute of Health & Welfare Problem Gambling Project

Consultancies above $50 000
There were three consultancies in 2005-06 that cost 
over $50 000, with a total expenditure of $260 760. 
The consultancies and the project on which each 
worked are outlined below.

Consultancy Project

Annexus Using Value - from the perspective of our customers, 
people, partners and government - to guide DFC's 
approach to realising objectives and outcomes

Flinders University and Review of Volatile Substance use
Northern Territory University

Ernst & Young Provider Contracts Review



INDEPENDENT AUDIT REPORT

TO THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE
DEPARTMENT FOR FAMILIES AND COMMUNITIES

SCOPE

As required by section 31 of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1987, I have audited the financial report
of the Department for Families and Communities for the financial year ended 30 June 2006. The
financial report comprises:

• An Income Statement;
• A Balance Sheet;
• A Cash Flow Statement;
• A Statement of Changes in Equity;
• A Program Schedule of Expenses and Income;
• Notes to the Financial Statements;
• An Administered Items Income statement;
• An Administered Items Balance Sheet;
• An Administered Items Cash Flow Statement;
• An Administered Items Statement of Changes in Equity;
• Notes to the Administered Items Financial Statements;
• Certificate by the Cheif Executive and the Director, Financial Services.

The Cheif Executive and the Director, Financial Services are responsible for the financial report. I 
have conducted an independent audit of the financial report in order to express an opinion on it to the
Cheif Executive.

The audit has been conducted in accordance with the requirements of the Public Finance and Audit 
Act 1987 and Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards to provide reasonable assurance whether 
the financial report is free of material misstatement.

Audit procedures included examination, on a test basis, of evidence supporting the amounts and other
disclosures in the financial report and the evaluation of accounting policies and significant accounting
estimates. These procedures have been undertaken to form an opinion whether, in all material
respects, the financial report is presented fairly in accordance with Treasurer’s Instructions
promulgated under the provisions of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1987, Accounting Standards and
other mandatory professional reporting requirements in Australia so as to present a view which is
consistent with my understanding of the Department for Families and Communities’ financial position,
the results of its operations and its cash flows.

The audit opinion expressed in this report has been formed on the above basis.

AUDIT OPINION

In my opinion, the financial report presents farily in accordance with the Treasurer’s Instructions
promulgated under the provisions of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1987, applicable Accounting
Standards and other mandatory professional reporting requirements in Australia, the financial position
of the Department for Families and Communities as at 30 June 2006, the results of its operations and
its cash flows for the year then ended.

K I MacPherson
Auditor-General
29 September 2006
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Statement by the Chief Executive and the Principal Accounting Officer

We certify that:

• The attached General Purpose Financial Report for the Department for
Families and Communities presents fairly, in accordance with the
Treasurer’s Instructions promulgated under the provisions of the Public
Finance and Audit Act 1987, applicable Accounting standards and
other mandatory professional reporting requirements in Australia, the
financial position of the Department for Families and Communities as
at 30 June 2006 and the result of its operations and its cash flows for
the year then ended;

• The attached financial statements are in accordance with the accounts
and records of the Department for Families and Communities and give
an accurate indication of the financial transactions of the Department
for Families and Communities for the year ended 30 June 2006;

• Internal controls over financial reporting have benn effective throughout
the reporting period.

SUE VARDON
Chief Executive
Department for Families and Communities

September 2006

JOE ULLIANICH
Director, Financial Services
Department for Families and Communities

September 2006

9th Floor
State Administration Centre
200 Victoria Square
Adeliade SA 5000

DX 56208

Victoria Square

Tel    +618 8226 9640
Fax   +618 8226 9688

ABN 53 327 061 410

audgensa@audit.sa.gov.au
www.audit.sa.gov.au

Certified statements by the CE and principal finance officer
Audit certificate



Balance sheet as at 30 June 2006

Note 2006 2005
$'000 $'000

Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 18, 34 23,939 18,675

Receivables 19 29,969 17,408

Inventories 20 35 50 

Other 23 488 492

Total Current Assets 54,431 36,625

Non-Current Assets
Receivables 19 181 212

Property, Plant and Equipment 21 104,067 110,349

Capital Works in Progress 22 3,741 1,314

Other 23 157 -

Total Non-Current Assets 108,146 111,875

Total Assets 162,577 148,500

Current Liabilities

Payables 24 22,548 17,142

Employee benefits 25 23,255 17,578

Provisions 27 2,567 2,745

Other 28 89 946

Total Current Liabilities 48,459 38,411

Non-Current Liabilities

Payables 24 5,749 7,475

Borrowings 26 285 -

Employee benefits 25 25,826 23,868

Provisions 27 6,722 7,328

Total Non-Current Liabilities 38,582 38,671

Total Liabilities 87,041 77,082

Net Assets 75,536 71,418

Equity

Contributed Capital 29 10,763 -

Asset Revaluation Reserve 29 13,433 15,730

Retained Earnings 29 51,340 55,688

Total Equity 75,536 71,418

Unexpended Funding Commitments 17

Commitments 31

Contingent Assets and Liabilities 33

The above Balance Sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Income statement for the year ended 30 June 2006
Note 2006 2005

$'000 $'000
Expenses

Employee benefit costs 6 196,525 169,715

Supplies and services 7 71,184 62,087

Depreciation and amortisation 8 2,146 1,905

Grants, subsidies and client payments 9 687,984 675,375

Other 10 2,350 1,199

Total Expenses 960,189 910,281

Income
Rent, fees and charges 11 86,246 66,826

Dividends - HomeStart Finance 2.8 5,000 5,000

Commonwealth Government Grants 12 236,681 226,886

Interest revenue 13 1,227 3,824

Net Gain from Disposal of Non-Current Assets 14 - 7

Other 15 1,381 1,187

Total Income 330,535 303,730

Net Cost of Providing Services (629,654) (606,551)

Revenues from/ Payments to SA Government
South Australian Government Appropriations 16.1 594,325 571,230

Grants from South Australian Government Agencies 16.2 30,646 19,553

Net Result before restructure (4,683) (15,768)

Net Result from Restructuring
Net revenues from restructure 32 335 71,456

Net Result after Restructure (4,348) 55,688

The Net Result after Restructure is attributable to the SA Government as Owner

The above Income Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of changes in equity for the year ended 30 June 2006

Asset
Contributed Revaluation Retained

Note Capital Reserve Earnings Total

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Balance as at 1 July 2004 
(Department established 1 July 2004) -   - - -

Gain on revaluation of property 
during 2004-05 - 15,730 - 15,730

Equity Contribution from the 
South Australian Government -   - - -

Net income/expense recognised 
directly in equity for 2004-05 -   - - -

Net result after restructure for 
2004-05 - -   55,688 55,688

Balance at 30 June 2005 -   15,730 55,688 71,418

Change in Accounting Policy - -   - -

Error Correction - -   - -

Restated balance as at 30 June 2005 -   15,730 55,688 71,418

Gain on revaluation of property 
during 2005-06 - -   - -

Loss on revalution of property 
during 2005-06 - (2,297) - (2,297)

Equity Contribution from the 

South Australian Government 10,763 - - 10,763

Net income/expense recognised 
directly in equity for 2005-06 - - - -

Net Result After Restructure for 
2005-06 - - (4,348) (4,348)

Total movement for 2005-06 10,763 (2,297) (4,348) 4,118

Balance at 30 June 2006 10,763 13,433 51,340 75,536

All changes in equity are attributable 
to the SA Government as Owner

The above changes in Equity Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of cash flows for the year ended 30 June 2006

Note 2006 2005
$'000 $'000

Cash Flows From Operating Activities
Cash Outflows

Employee benefit payments (190,122) (159,944)

Supplies and services (59,383) (57,196)

Grants, subsidies and client payments (698,252) (675,876)

GST payments on purchases (35,523) (40,456)

Other (703)

Cash used in operating activities (983,983) (933,472)

Cash Inflows

Rent, fees and charges 80,093 61,472

Receipts from Commonwealth 236,681 226,886

Dividends received - HomeStart Finance 5,000 5,000

Interest received 1,346 3,438

GST received from customers 32,096 35,662

Other Receipts 609 686 

Cash generated from operating activities 355,825 333,144

Cash Flows from SA Government

SA Government Appropriations 594,325 571,230

Grants from SA Government Agencies 30,646 19,553

Cash generated from SA Government 624,971 590,783

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities 34 (3,187) (9,545)

Cash Flows From Investing Activities
Cash Outflows

Purchase of Property, Plant and Equipment (2,312) (1,025)

Cash used in investing activities (2,312) (1,025)

Cash Inflows

Proceeds from Sale of Property, Plant and Equipment - 315

Cash generated from investing activities - 315

Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities (2,312) (710)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Cash Outflows

Payments Due to Restructuring Activities - (526)

Cash used in financing activities - (526)

Cash Inflows
Capital Contributions from Government 10,763 -

Proceeds from Restructuring Activities - 29,456

Cash generated from financing activities 10,763 29,456

Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities 10,763 28,930

Net Increase/(Decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 5,264 18,675

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 18,675 -

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 18, 34 23,939 18,675

The above Cash Flow Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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88 Notes to and forming part of the

financial statements for the year
ended 30 June 2006

1 Objectives and Functions 
of the Department

The Department for Families and Communities (the
Department) was established on 5 March 2004 to
provide a clear focus for the South Australian
Government's goals for the protection of our children
and young people and to help build the resilience and
well being of families and communities. The vision of
the Department is to be an innovative, effective and
responsive leader in improving the quality of family
and community life in South Australia. The
Department has a broad mandate to work with those
in need who, through circumstance, may be poor,
vulnerable, at risk of harm or isolated and
disconnected.

To achieve this vision, the Department will actively
work towards a community where:

• Enhanced well being is a fundamental right

• Everybody shares the responsibility for building and
supporting stronger families and communities

• Everybody benefits from improved well being

The Department serves the Minister for Families and
Communities, Housing, Ageing and Disability and the
Minister for the Status of Women. For the period 1
July 2005 to 31 March 2006 the Department also
served the Minister for Youth (refer to Note 1.2). The
Department has the responsibility for delivery of
specific programs to the public with respect to
activities assigned to the Department under various
Acts as delegated, by the respective Ministers, to the
Chief Executive of the Department.

In addition, the Minister of Health has delegated to
the Minister for Disability and the Chief Executive
certain powers under the South Australian Health
Commission Act, 1976 for three incorporated
disability health services, namely Julia Farr Services,
Independent Living Centre and the Intellectual
Disability Services Council. The financial affairs of
these incorporated disability health services do not
form part of the Department's financial report as they
are required to maintain separate accounts of their
respective financial affairs and to have them
separately audited by the Auditor-General or an
auditor approved by the Auditor-General.

The Department also functions as a service provider
to the South Australian Housing Trust (SAHT), South
Australian Community Housing Authority (SACHA),
Aboriginal Housing Authority (AHA), HomeStart
Finance and various other non-government
organisations. Similarly, the financial affairs of these
organisations do not form part of the Department's
financial report.

1.1 Administered Items
The Department administered certain income,
expenses, assets and liabilities on behalf of other
government agencies and non government entities.
They are not controlled by the Department and are
consequently not recognised in the Department's
financial statements. The administered transactions
and balances are regarded as significant in relation to
the Department's overall financial performance and in
accordance with Accounting Policy Framework (APF) II
- General Purpose Financial Reporting Framework
issued by the Department of Treasury and Finance,
separate consolidated administered financial
statements and notes to the accounts have been
prepared.

1.2 Administrative Restructures
2005-06
Effective 1 April 2006, the Government proclaimed
the transfer of employees of the Office for Youth in
the Department to the Department for Further
Education, Employment, Science and Technology
(DFEEST). It is taken that the proclamation means the
transfer of assets and liabilities of The Office for
Youth to DFEEST. The liabilities are primarily employee
liabilities.

2004-05
A major restructure resulted in the former Department
of Human Services (DHS) being retitled the Department
of Health (DH) from 1 July 2004. On 5 March 2004,
the Governor established the Department and declared
that for financial accounting and reporting purposes
the establishment of the Department would be taken
to occur on 1 July 2004. Certain assets and liabilities
were transferred from DHS to the Department effective
from 1 July 2004.



2.6 Income and Expenses
Income and Expenses are recognised in the
Department's Income Statement when and only when
the flow or consumption or loss of future economic
benefits has occurred and can be reliably measured.

Income and Expenses have been classified according
to their nature in accordance with APF II General
Purpose Financial Reporting Framework and have not
been offset unless required or permitted by a specific
accounting standard.

Income from fees and charges is derived from the
provision of services to other SA Government
agencies and to the public. This income is recognised
upon delivery of the service to the client's or by
reference to the stage of completion.

Income from disposal of non-current assets is
recognised when control has passed to the buyer.

Resources received/provided free of charge are
recorded as income/expenditure in the Income
Statement at their fair value. Goods and Services
received free of charge are recorded as such with
revenue being separately disclosed. Resources
provided free of charge are recorded at their fair
value in the expense line items to which they relate.

Grants that are received from other entities by the
Department for general assistance or a particular
purpose may be for capital or recurrent purposes and
the name of the category reflects the use of the
grant. These entities may be other SA Government
agencies or Commonwealth Government. The grants
given are usually subject to terms and conditions set
out in the contract, correspondence, or by legislation.

Grants that are paid to other entities by the
Department for general assistance or a particular
purpose may be for capital or recurrent purposes and
the name of the category reflects the use of the
grant. These entities may be other SA Government
agencies, Non Government Organisations or the
public. The grants given are usually subject to terms
and conditions set out in the contract,
correspondence, or by legislation.

2.7 Revenues from/Payments to SA Government
Appropriations for program funding are recognised as
revenues when the Department obtains control over
the funding. Control over the appropriations is
normally obtained upon their receipt and are
accounted for in accordance with Treasurer's
Instruction 3 Appropriation.
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Where money has been appropriated in the form of an
equity contribution, the Treasurer has acquired a
financial interest in the net assets of the Department
and the contribution is recorded as contributed equity.

2.8 Dividends
Dividends are received by the Department from
HomeStart Finance (through the Department of
Treasury and Finance), in compliance with Section
26(8) of the Housing and Urban Development
(Administrative Arrangements) Act, 1995 and
redistributed to portfolio housing entities consistent
with Departmental strategic plans. 

2.9 Current and Non Current Items
Assets and liabilities are characterised as either
current or non-current in nature. The Department has
a clearly identifiable operating cycle of 12 months.
Therefore assets and liabilities that will be realised as
part of the normal operating cycle will be classified as
current assets or current liabilities. All other assets and
liabilities are classified as non-current.

2.10 Cash and Cash Equivalents
For the purposes of the Cash Flow Statement, cash
includes cash at bank and deposits at call that are
readily converted into cash and are used in the
management function on a day-to-day basis. Cash is
measured at nominal value.

In October 2003 the Government introduced a policy
with respect to aligning agency cash balances with
the appropriation and expenditure authority. During
the financial year the Department was not required to
transfer any of its cash balance relating to controlled
items of the Consolidated Account. An amount of
$13.997 million was transferred to Consolidated
Account in respect of Administered Items (Refer to
Note 2 in Administered Items).

2.11 Receivables
Receivables include amounts receivable from trade,
prepayments, and other accruals.

Trade receivables arise in the normal course of selling
goods and services to other agencies and to the
public. Trade receivables are payable within 30 days
after the issue of an invoice or otherwise in
accordance with relevant contractual arrangements.

Other debtors arise outside the normal course of
selling goods and services to other agencies and to
the public.
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On 11 March 2004, the division of the Department
of Administrative and Information Services known as
the Department of Aboriginal Affairs and
Reconciliation (DAARE) transferred to the
Department. For financial accounting and reporting
purposes the transfer was taken to occur on 1 July
2004. On 14 October 2004, the Governor proclaimed
the transfer of the employees of DAARE from the
Department to the Department of the Premier and
Cabinet (DPC). It is taken that the proclamation also
means the transfer of the assets and liabilities of
DAARE to DPC. In accordance with the former
Accounting Policy Statement (APS)13, Form and
Content of General Purpose Financial Reports and
the current APF II General Purpose Financial
Reporting Framework, for financial accounting and
reporting purposes the transfer is taken to occur on
31 October 2004.

1.3 Funding for the Department
Funding for the Department comes mainly from
appropriation funding from State and
Commonwealth Government sources. These funds
are applied to both controlled and administered
activities.

The Department also receives amounts from other
sources including rent, fees, and charges, interest on
cash deposits and dividends from portfolio housing
agencies.

2 Summary of Significant 
Accounting Policies

2.1 Basis of Accounting
The financial report is a general purpose financial
report. The accounts have been prepared in
accordance with:

• Treasurer's Instructions (TIs) and Accounting Policy
Statements (APS) promulgated under the provision
of the Public Finance and Audit Act, 1987

• applicable Australian Accounting Standards 

• other mandatory professional reporting
requirements in Australia.

These Financial Statements are the first statements to
be prepared in accordance with Australian Equivalent
to International Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS).
AASB1 First-time Adoption of Australian International
Financial Reporting Standards has been applied in
preparing these statements. Previous Financial
Statements were prepared in accordance with
Australian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles.

As there are no major impacts as a result of the
transition to AIFRS, note 4 does not contain a
reconciliation explaining the transition to AIFRS as at
1 July 2004 and 30 June 2005, rather a description is
provided regarding minor changes.

The financial report has been prepared in accordance
with historic cost convention, except for certain
assets that were valued in accordance with the
valuation policy applicable.

The Cash Flow Statement within the Financial Report
has been prepared on a cash basis.

The existence of the Department and the ongoing
delivery of current programs and services is
dependent on Government policy and on continuing
appropriations by Parliament.

2.2 Reporting Entity
The Department's financial statements include both
departmental and administered items. The
Department's financial statements include assets,
liabilities, income and expenses controlled or incurred
by the Department in its own right. As administered
items are significant to the Department's overall
financial performance and position, separate financial
statements have been produced for administered
items.

2.3 Comparative Figures
Where practicable, comparative figures have been
adjusted to conform to changes in presentation in
these financial statements.

2.4 Rounding
All amounts in the financial statements have been
rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($'000).

2.5 Taxation
The Department is not subject to income tax. The
Department is liable for payroll tax, fringe benefits
tax, goods and services tax and the emergency
services levy. In accordance with the requirements of
UIG Interpretation 1031 'Accounting for the Goods
and Services Tax (GST)', income, expenses and assets
are recognised net of the amount of GST except that:

• the amount of GST incurred by the Department as
a purchaser that is not recoverable from the
Australian Taxation Office is recognised as part of
the cost of acquisition of an asset or is part of an
item of expenses

• where appropriate, receivables and payables are
stated with the amount of GST included.
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Assets Deemed to be at Fair Value
For those classes of non-current assets where an
independent revaluation has not been undertaken, as
the criteria within APF III Asset Accounting Framework
have not been met, these classes of non-current
assets are deemed to be at fair value as determined
by APF III Asset Accounting Framework as issued by
the Department of Treasury and Finance.

Asset classes that did not satisfy the criteria and are
therefore deemed to be at fair value include: 

• Leasehold Improvements

• Buildings and Improvements in Progress (WIP)

• Computing Equipment

• Other Plant and Equipment

Financial statements

2.15 Depreciation and Amortisation of 
Non Current Assets
All non-current assets, having a limited useful life, are
systematically depreciated/amortised over their useful
lives in a manner that reflects the consumption of
their service potential. Amortisation is used in relation
to intangible assets, while depreciation is applied to
physical assets such as property plant and equipment.

The useful lives of all major assets held by the
Department are reassessed on an annual basis.

The value of leasehold improvements is amortised
over the estimated useful life of each improvement,
or the unexpired period of the relevant lease,
whichever is shorter.

Depreciation/amortisation for non-current assets is
determined as follows:

Receivables are recognised and carried at the original
invoiced amount less a provision for any uncollectible
debts. An estimate for doubtful debts is made when
collection of the full amount is no longer probable.
The Department determines the provision for
doubtful debts based on a review of the balances
within receivables that are unlikely to be collected.

Bad debts will only be written off after all reasonable
effort has been made to collect the debt.

2.12 Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and their
net realisable value. Inventories held for use by the
Department are measured at cost, with cost being
allocated in accordance with the first-in, first-out
method.

2.13 Non Current Asset Acquisition 
and Recognition
Assets are initially recorded at cost plus any incidental
cost involved with the acquisition. Where assets are
acquired at no value, or minimal value, they are
recorded at their fair value in the Balance Sheet. If
however, the assets are acquired at no or nominal
value as part of a restructuring of administrative
arrangements then the assets are recorded at the
value recorded by the transferor prior to transfer. As
stated in Note 1.2, when the Department was created,
certain assets and liabilities were transferred from DHS
to the new Department for Families and Communities,
effective 1 July 2004. These assets were transferred at
the carrying value in the transferor's book and were
deemed to be at fair value.

The Department capitalises all non-current physical
assets with a value of $5,000 or greater in
accordance with APF III, Asset Accounting
Framework.

Works in progress are projects physically incomplete
as at reporting date.

2.14 Revaluation of Non-Current Assets
In accordance with APF III, Asset Accounting
Framework:

• All non-current physical assets are valued at written
down current cost (a proxy for fair value), and

• Revaluation of non-current assets or group of
assets is performed when its fair value at the time
of acquisition is greater than $1 million and
estimated useful life is greater than 3 years. 
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Land and Buildings at Fair Value
The Department has undertaken the first full
revaluation of its land and buildings assets for the
period ending 30 June 2006.  From then on, and in
accordance with Departmental policy, the Department
will revalue its land and buildings every three years.
However, if at any time management considers that
the carrying amount of the asset materially differs
from the fair value, then the asset will be revalued
regardless of when the last valuation took place. Non-
current physical assets that are acquired between
revaluations are held at cost until the next valuation,
where they are revalued to fair value. 

Asset classes that were revalued include:

• Vacant Land

• Site Land

• Vacant Buildings 

• Building and Improvements.

The Department's land and buildings were revalued
using the fair value methodology, as at 30 June 2006,
based on independent valuations performed by: 

• Martin Burns - M.B.A., B.App.Sc. Property
Resource Management, AAPI, Certified Practising
Valuer (CPV), Liquid Pacific Limited 

• Wayne Smith B.Bus (Property) AAPI, Certified
Practising Valuer (CPV), Liquid Pacific Limited.

During the 2004-05 financial year, management
decided to review whether there had been a material
appreciation in land values and a desktop valuation
was carried out on metropolitan land with a value of
$800,000 or greater. As a result of the desktop
valuation, an index of 29.3 % was determined and
applied to metropolitan land assets only. The desktop
valuation was carried out by Rob Taylor, AAPI,
Certified Practising Valuer (CPV), FPD Savills (SA) Pty
Limited.

Class of Asset Depreciation Method Useful Life (Years)

• Buildings and Improvements Straight Line 25-50 years

• Leasehold Improvements Straight Line life of lease

• Computing Equipment Straight Line 3 years

• Other Plant and Equipment Straight Line 3-15 years

2.16 Intangibles
The acquisition or internal development of software is
capitalised when the expenditure meets the definition
and recognition criteria of an asset and when the
amount of the expenditure is greater than or equal to
$5,000, in accordance with Departmental policies. 

Capitalised software is amortised over the useful life
of the asset, with a maximum time limit of three
years. As at 30 June 2006, there was not any
software that had been capitalised.

All research and development costs that do not meet
the capitalisation criteria outlined in AASB 138
Intangible Assets are expensed.

2.17 Payables
Payables include creditors, accrued expenses and
employment on-costs.

Creditors represent the amounts owing for goods and
services received prior to the end of the reporting
period that are unpaid at the end of the reporting
period. Creditors include all unpaid invoices received
relating to normal operations of the Department.

Accrued expenses represents goods and services
provided by other parties during the period that are
unpaid at the end of the reporting period and where
an invoice has not been received.

All amounts are measured at their nominal amount.
Invoices are normally settled within 30 days after the
Department receives an invoice in accordance with TI
11 Payment of Creditors Accounts, para 11.7.3.

Employment on-costs include superannuation
contributions and payroll tax with respect to the
outstanding liabilities for salaries and wages, long
service leave and annual leave.

The Department makes contributions to several
superannuation schemes operated by the State
Government. These contributions are treated as an
expense when they occur. There is no liability for
payments to beneficiaries as the South Australian
Superannuation Board (SASB) has assumed these. The
only liability outstanding at balance date relates to
any contributions due but not yet paid to the SASB.



The actuarial assessment conducted by Taylor Fry
Consulting Actuaries is based on the Payment Per
Claim Incurred (PPCI) valuation method. The
assessment has been conducted in accordance with
AASB 137 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets and the Work Cover Guidelines for
Actuarial Assessments. The liability covers claims
incurred but not yet paid, incurred but not reported
and the anticipated direct and indirect costs of
settling those claims. The liability for outstanding
claims is measured as the present value of the
expected future payments reflecting the fact that all
the claims do not have to be paid out in the
immediate future.

The Disability Health Services participating in the
scheme continue to be directly responsible for the
cost of workers compensation claims and the
implementation and funding of preventative
programs. 

The Department has agreed to specifically fund safety
net funded Disability Health Services for workers
compensation expenditure, lump sum settlements and
for redemption payments. 

In addition, the Department also funds non safety net
funded Disability Health Services for workers
compensation lump sum settlements and for
redemption payments. 

Accordingly, the Department recognises a payable to
the Disability Health Services equivalent to the liability
for these specifically funded items which the Disability
Health Services recognise as a provision in their
financial statements. The value of the liability at 30
June 2006 is $3.61 million (2005 $3.99 million) (Refer
to Note 24).

2.20 Leases
The Department has not entered into any finance
leases. The Department has entered into some
operating leases.

Operating Leases
In respect of operating leases, the lessor retains
substantially the risks and benefits incidental to the
ownership of the leased items. Operating lease
payments are charged to the Income Statement on a
basis which is representative of the pattern of
benefits derived from the leased assets.
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2.21 Government/Non-Government Disclosures
The Department has adopted the requirements of APF II
General Purpose Financial Reporting Framework where
the Department must disclose by way of note whether
transactions are with entities that are within or external
to the South Australian Government. These transactions
are classified by their nature and relate to income,
expenses, financial assets and financial liabilities.

3 Financial Risk Management

The Department has non-interest bearing assets in the
form of cash on hand and receivables, and non-
interest bearing liabilities in the form of payables. The
Department's exposure to market risk is minimal and
cash flow interest risk is negligible. From 1 July 2006,
as a result of policy changes, the Department will not
receive interest on cash balances in the Departmental
operating account. These balances comprise the
majority of the Department's controlled cash.

The Department has no significant concentration of
credit risk. The Department has policies and
procedures in place to ensure that transactions occur
with customers with appropriate credit history.

In relation to liquidity/funding risk, the continued
existence of the Department in its present form and
with its present programs, is dependent on Government
policy and on continuing appropriations by Parliament
for the Department's administration and outputs.

4 Change in Accounting Policy

4.1 Impact of Adopting Australian Equivalents to
International Financial Reporting Standards
The Department has adopted the AIFRS for the first
time for the year ended 30 June 2006. The adoption
of AIFRS has not resulted in any material adjustments
to the Income Statement, Balance Sheet or Cash Flow
statements.

major change is the treatment of accounting policy
changes AIFRS. Where there has been a change in
accounting policy these changes now apply
retrospectively except for specific exemptions in
accordance with another standard.

The estimates applied by the Department under
AIFRS, such as depreciation rates, estimates used in
determining the amount of provisions and certain
assets, are consistent with the estimates applied
under previous Australian Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles, after adjustments to reflect any
difference in accounting policies.
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The provision for Public Liability and Professional
Indemnity Insurance represents liabilities for
oustanding claims in respect of incidents that have
occured. The liabilities include claims incurred and
reported but not paid, claims incurred but not
reported (IBNR), claims incurred but not enough
reported (IBNER) and the anticipated costs of settling
those claims. The claims liabilities are measured as
the present values of the expected future payments.
Claims incurred but not paid and claim settlement
costs that can be directly attributed to particular
claims are assessed by reviewing individual claim files.
In respect of IBNR and IBNER claims, an amount of
$50,000 has been set aside for both the Public
Liability Claims and Professional Indemnity Claims.
These amounts are based upon historical claims
activity and with allowance for prudential margins
and is reviewed annually. Public Liability and
Professional Indemnity Claims relating to periods
prior to the split of DHS, effective 1 July 2004, will be
the responsibility of the Department of Health.

The provision for Property claims represents
outstanding payments for incurred damage to
property. An allowance is also included for (IBNER)
claims. This provision is based upon historical claims
activity and with allowance for prudential margins
and is reviewed annually.

Workers Compensation
The Department is an exempt employer under the
Workers Rehabilitation and Compensation Act, 1986.
Under a scheme arrangement the Department and
participating exempt Health Services are responsible
for the management of workers rehabilitation and
compensation.

The workers compensation liability recognised for the
employees of the Department is based on an
apportionment of an actuarial assessment of the
whole-of-government workers compensation liability
conducted by Taylor Fry Consulting Actuaries based
on 31 May data. Taylor Fry Consulting Actuaries
extrapolate this data to 30 June. For the 2005-06
financial year the Department has reflected a workers
compensation provision of $8.47 million 
(2005 $9.08 million), (Refer Note 27.2).

2.18 Employee Benefits
These benefits accrue for employees as a result of
services provided up to the reporting date, that
remain unpaid.

Sick Leave
No provision has been made for sick leave as all sick
leave is non-vesting and the average sick leave taken
in future years is estimated to be less than the annual
entitlement of sick leave.

Annual Leave
The liability for annual leave reflects the value of total
annual leave entitlements of all employees as at 30
June 2006 and is measured at the nominal amount.

Long Service Leave
The liability for long service leave was determined
through an actuarial assessment undertaken by
William M Mercer Pty Ltd, in accordance with AASB
119 'Employee Benefits'. The following assumptions
were made by the actuary when performing the
assessment:

• Salary increases of 4% per annum based on the
current enterprise bargaining agreement and
short-term forecasts.

• Discounting of 5.78% per annum based on the
pre-tax yield on the 10 year Commonwealth
Government bonds at the valuation date.

Accrued Salaries and Wages
The liability for accrued salaries and wages is
measured as the amount unpaid at the reporting
date at remuneration rates current at reporting date.

2.19 Provisions
Insurance
The Department is a participant in the State
Government's Insurance Program. The Department
pays a premium to SA Government Captive Insurance
Corporation (SAICORP) for professional indemnity
insurance and general public liability insurance and is
responsible for the payment of claim amounts up to
an agreed amount (the deductible). SAICORP
provides the balance of funding for claims in excess
of the deductible.



6 Employee Benefit Costs
2006 2005
$'000 $'000

Salaries and Wages 142,694 120,613

TVSP (refer below) 1,265 -

Long Service Leave 6,873 6,642

Annual Leave 14,808 12,019

Employment On-Costs (Superannuation) 15,602 15,904

Workers Compensation 3,141 3,495

Payroll Tax 9,969 8,540

Other 2,173 2,502

Total Employee Benefit Costs 196,525 169,715

Targeted Voluntary Separation Packages (TVSPs): 2006 2005
$'000 $'000

Amount paid to these employees:
TVSP's 1,265 -

Annual Leave and Long Service Leave accrued over the period 333 -

Recovery from the Department of Treasury and Finance 1,265 -

Number of employees that were paid TVSPs during the reporting period 12 -

Remuneration of Employees 2006 2005
The number of employees whose remuneration received or 
receivable falls within the following bands:

$100,000 - 109,999 27 15
$110,000 - 119,999 6 7
$120,000 - 129,999 8 3
$130,000 - 139,999 4 3
$140,000 - 149,999 6 2
$150,000 - 159,999 5 7
$160,000 - 169,999 2 3
$170,000 - 179,999 - -
$180,000 - 189,999 6 1
$190,000 - 199,999 1 -
$200,000 - 209,999 - -
$210,000 - 219,999 - - 
$220,000 - 229,999 - - 
$230,000 - 239,999 - 1 
$240,000 - 249,999 2 - 
$250,000 - 259,999 - - 
$260,000 - 269,999 - - 
$270,000 - 279,999 - - 
$280,000 - 289,999 - - 
$290,000 - 299,999 - - 
$300,000 - 309,999 - - 
$310,000 - 319,999 1 - 
Total Number of Employees 68 42
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5 Programs of the Department

In achieving its objective the Department provides a
range of services classified into the following
programs:

Program F1: Affordable Housing Choices and
Communities that Prosper
To work with others to expand and improve
affordable housing choices across the State and help
build communities that prosper.

This program encompasses the management of
grants for housing services to low-income
households. This includes grants for the provision of
public housing, urban and community renewal and
private rental services by the South Australian
Housing Trust, the provision of public and community
managed housing by the Aboriginal Housing
Authority, the funding and regulation of community
housing by the South Australian Community Housing
Authority and activities funded by the
Commonwealth State Housing Agreement (CSHA).

Program F2: High Need Housing
To develop and implement better high need housing
and service responses for people at risk or in need.

This program encompasses the management of
grants for housing services and supported
accommodation assistance to people in crisis as well
as providing other services and programs related to
high need housing.

Program F3: Independence and Community
Connection
To enable people to take charge of their lives and
ensure community connection opportunities are
available to all.

The program encompasses the provision of services
related to supporting people with disabilities to live in
the community, managing grants and providing
advice to the Minster for the promotion of health,
social well being and quality of life of the community,
implementing strategies and programs to promote
the participation and support of older people in the
community.
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Program F4: Keeping Them Safe and Connected
To ensure children, young people and families are
safe, supported and connected to the future.

This program encompasses the following services;
child protection, alternative care for those children
and young people not able to be cared for by their
own families, case management and support for
young people under the Guardianship of the Minister,
adoption and post adoption services, youth justice
services as directed by the Youth Court (eg remand,
bail orders, community service orders, supervision and
home detention), provision of secure care facilities for
young people who are detained, emergency financial
assistance, funeral assistance, domestic violence
assistance, anti-poverty preventative programs, and
recovery services for victims of disasters.

Program F5: Effective and Sustainable 
Business Practices
To establish and maintain efficient, effective and
accountable business practices to underpin delivery of
the Connecting to the Future strategic agenda.

This program delivers strategic and overarching
support services such as policy development and
advice, strategic planning and evaluation, continuous
improvement, risk management plans and quality
management, research, financial services, information
management, workforce and infrastructure
development, for the entire Portfolio.

Program F6: Office for Youth
The Office for Youth initiates, advocates and
facilitates policies and strategies that create
opportunities for positive outcomes for young people
in South Australia. This program was transferred from
the Department to DFEEST effective 1 April 2006.

Program F7: Office for Women
Pursuit of the full and equal participation of women
in the social and economic life of the State by
providing innovative and balanced public policy advice
to government. Providing high quality State-wide
information, support and referral services through the
Women's Information Service.

The table includes all employees who received remuneration of $100 000 or more during the year.
Remuneration of employees reflects all costs of employment including salaries and wages, board fees,
superannuation contributions, fringe benefit tax and other salary sacrifice benefits. The total remuneration
received by these employees for the year was $9.1 million (2004-05 $5.4 million).

For the purpose of this note remuneration does not include amounts in payment or reimbursement of out of
pocket expenses incurred for the benefit of the Department.
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7 Supplies and Services
Supplies and services provided by entities within the SA Government 2006 2005

$'000 $'000
Accommodation and Property Related 15,076 10,349

Advertising and Promotions 21 5 

Client Related Expenses 356 189 

Bad and Doubtful Debt (366) 468 

Communication and Computing 10,941 5,706

Contractors and Agency Staff 3,169 4,718

Consultants 52 62

Insurance 573 48 

Interpreter and Translator Fees -  20 

Managed Payments 2,529 2,580

Minor Equipment 102 56 

Motor Vehicles 3,996 3,610

Printing, Stationery, Postage and Periodicals 78 104 

Seminars, Courses and Training 189 173 

Travel and Accommodation 23 36 

Other Administration 80 4,490

Total Supplies and Services (excluding audit fees) - SA Government 36,819 32,614

Audit Fees paid / payable to the Auditor General's Department * 266 152

Total Audit Fees - SA Government 266 152

* Other Services: There were no other services provided by the Auditor-General's Department

Supplies and services provided by entities external to the SA Government 2006 2005
$'000 $'000

Accommodation and Property Related 3,782 7,068

Advertising and Promotions 724 262 

Client Related Expenses 2,681 1,709

Communication and Computing 5,895 3,877

Contractors and Agency Staff 5,807 4,622

Consultants 444 457

Drugs and Medical Supplies 24 4

Insurance 221 1,346

Interpreter and Translator Fees 67 37

Managed Payments 302 44

Minor Equipment 1,212 1,305

Motor Vehicles 279 224 

Printing, Stationery, Postage and Periodicals 2,618 2,135

Seminars, Courses and Training 2,274 1,567

Travel and Accommodation 1,812 1,585

Other Administration 5,957 3,079

Total Supplies and Services - Non SA Government 34,099 29,321

Total Supplies and Services 71,184 62,087

The number and dollar amount of Consultancies 
paid/payable (included in supplies and services) that 
fell within the following band: 2006 2005

No $'000 No $'000
Below $10,000 19 92 30 100

Between $10,000 and $50,000 6 143 11 265

Above $50,000 3 261 2 154

Total Paid/Payable to the Consultants Engaged 28 496 43 519

8 Depreciation and Amortisation
Depreciation 2006 2005

$'000 $'000
Buildings and Improvements 1,595 1,572

Other Plant and Equipment 88 81

Computing Equipment 18 11

Total Depreciation 1,701 1,664

Amortisation
Leasehold Improvements 445 241

Total Amortisation 445 241

Total Depreciation and Amortisation 2,146 1,905

9 Grants, Subsidies and Client Payments
Grants and subsidies paid/payable to entities within the SA Government 2006 2005

$'000 $'000
Recurrent Funding to Incorporated 

Disability Health Services 9.1 133,742 126,943

Housing Assistance 108,137 133,716

Capital Funding to Incorporated Disability Health Services 9.2 2,063 519

SAHT-Tax Equivalent Regime 119,021 102,840

Supported Accommodation Assistance Program 1,061 560

Department of Health - Home and Community Care* - 54,177

Incorporated Health Units - Home and Community Care* 44,927 -

GST Compensation 3,030 3,423

Children's Payments 388 2,937

Family and Community Development 55 71

Alternative Care 566 131

Emergency Financial Assistance 1,129 278

Funds for Seniors 4,824 6,441

Public Trustee - Disability 2,000 -

Strathmont Centre 4,480 -

Other 6,017 10,916

Total Grant, Subsidies and Client Payments-SA Government 431,440 442,952

* In 2004-05 HACC funding was paid to the Department of Health who disbursed funds to Incorporated Health
Units. In 2005-06, this funding was directly provided to the Incorporated Health Units by DFC.
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Grants and subsidies paid/payable to entities external 
to the SA Government 2006 2005

$'000 $'000
Housing Assistance 1,824 74

Funding to Non-Government Organisations 9.3 110,111 131,071

Supported Accommodation Assistance Program 26,998 25,281

Home and Community Care 69,487 36,818

Children's Payments 20,556 15,290

Parks Community Centre (Local Government Grant) 1,886 1,840

Family and Community Development 8,125 7,543

Alternative Care 10,044 8,779

Emergency Financial Assistance 1,177 233

Concessions 431 -

Funds for Seniors 720 2,512

Other 5,185 2,982

Total Grant, Subsidies and Client Payments-Non SA Government 256,544 232,423

Total Grant, Subsidies and Client Payments 687,984 675,375

9.1 Recurrent Funding to Incorporated Disability Health Services 2006 2005
$'000 $'000

Intellectual Disability Services Council * 74,416 95,208

Julia Farr Services * 51,838 25,484

Independent Living Centre * 7,488 6,251

Total Recurrent Funding to Incorporated Disability Health Services 133,742 126,943

*Effective 1 July 2004, the Minister of Health 
delegated to the Minister for Disability responsibility 
for the Incorporated Disability Health Service. 

9.2 Capital Funding to Incorporated Disability Health Services 2006 2005
$'000 $'000

Intellectual Disability Services Council * 1,796 369

Julia Farr Services * 253 150

Independent Living Centre * 14 -

Total Capital Funding to Incorporated Disability Health Services 2,063 519

*Effective 1 July 2004, the Minister of Health delegated to the Minister for Disability responsibility for the
Incorporated Disability Health Service. 
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9.3 Funding to Non-Government Organisations 2006 2005
$'000 $'000

Minda Incorporated 27,681 41,824

Community Accommodation Respite Agency 10,417 10,540

NOVITA 10,049 10,416

Community Support Incorporated* - 7,080

Leveda Incorporated 3,981 3,815

Anglicare SA 2,932 3,674

Centacare 2,919 3,266

Orana 2,033 3,156

Community Access Service 3,101 3,131

Royal Society for the Blind 2,321 2,516

Uniting Care Wesley 2,788 2,320

Guide Dogs Association 1,243 1,913

Lifes for Living 2,000 1,836

Paraplegic & Quadriplegic Assoc 1,278 1,160

Lifestyles Assistance & Accommodation Services 740 1,130

Barkuma Inc 1,045 1,062

Community Living Project 1,090 1,058

Community Living Options 1,394 1,006

Individual Supported Accommodation Services 1,298 1,004

Relationships Australia 963 946

Autism Assoc of Aust 1,102 937

Hills Community Options 996 937

Elizabeth Bowey Lodge 690 914

CAID Inc 923 893

Community Lifestyles Inc 609 865

Community Living for Disabled 1,114 -

Julia Farr Housing Association Inc 8,000 -

Other 17,404 23,672

Total Funding to Non-Government Organisations 110,111 131,071

*During 2005-06, funding for Community Support was provided through Home and Community Care funding.

10 Other Expenses
Other Expenses paid/payable to entities within the SA Government 2006 2005

$'000 $'000
Transferred Assets 3 840

Other 65 -

Total Other Expenses - SA Government 68 840

Other Expenses paid/payable to entities external to the SA Government $'000 $'000
Loss on Revaluation of Non Current Assets 2,281 358

Other 1 1

Total Other Expense - Non SA Government 2,282 359

Total Other Expenses 2,350 1,199
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11 Rent, Fees and Charges
Rent, Fees and Charges received/receivable from 2006 2005
entities within SA Government $'000 $'000
Employee Services * 56,879 52,609

Insurance Recoveries from Health Services 1,018 1,048

Recoveries 7,548 6,987

Business Services 16,945 3,707

Fees, Fines and Penalties 240 149

Rent 465 324

Total Rent, Fees and Charges - SA Government 83,095 64,824

* Represents the recovery of costs for the provision of employee related services to the SAHT, SACHA and AHA.

Rent, Fees and Charges received/receivable from 
entities external to SA Government 2006 2005

$'000 $'000
Employee Services 548 -

Recoveries 1,652 1,153

Business Services 34 17

Fees, Fines and Penalties 798 543

Rent 119 289

Total Rent, Fees and Charges - Non SA Government 3,151 2,002

Total Rent, Fees and Charges 86,246 66,826

12 Commonwealth Government Grants
2006 2005

$'000 $'000
Housing Assistance 72,029 72,043

Commonwealth State Disability Agreement 67,429 62,709

Home and Community Care 73,111 67,619

Supported Accommodation Assistance Program 16,760 16,394

Aged Care Assessment Program 5,232 5,086

Other 2,120 3,035

Total Commonwealth Government Grants 236,681 226,886

13 Interest Revenue
Interest received/receivable from entities within SA Government 2006 2005

$'000 $'000
Interest on Funds Held 1,227 3,824

Total Interest Revenue - SA Government 1,227 3,824
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14 Net Gain/Loss from Disposal of Non-Current Assets
Land and Buildings 2006 2005

$'000 $'000
Proceeds from Disposal - 315

Less: Net Book Value of Assets Disposed - 277

Less: Other Costs of Disposal - 16

Net Gain from Disposal of Land and Buildings - 22

Plant and Equipment

Proceeds from Disposal - -

Less: Net Book Value of Assets Disposed - 15

Net Loss from Disposal of General Plant and Equipment - (15)

Total Assets

Total Proceeds from Disposal - 315

Less: Total Value of Assets Disposed - 292

Less: Total Other Costs of Disposal - 16

Total Net Gain/Loss from Disposal of Non-Current Assets - 7

15. Other Income 
Other Income received/receivable from entities within SA Government 2006 2005

$'000 $'000
Assets Received for Nil Consideration 15.1 579 505

Prior Period Adjustments not Assignable 194 -

Other Income 52 682

Total Other Income - SA Government 825 1,187

Other Income received/receivable from entities external 
to the SA Government 2006 2005

$'000 $'000
Other Income 556 -

Total Other Income - Non SA Government 556 -

Total Other Income 1,381 1,187

15.1 Assets Received for Nil Consideration:
During the reporting period the Department received the following 
assets free of charge or for nominal consideration. 2006 2005

$'000 $'000
Land & Buildings 492 -

Plant & Equipment 87 13

Other - 492

Total Assets Received for Nil Consideration 579 505

16 Revenue from / Payments to South Australian Government
16.1 South Australian Government Appropriations 2006 2005

$'000 $'000
Appropriations from Consolidated Account pursuant to the Appropriation Act
General Appropriation 438,320 405,150
Tax Equivalent Regime Reimbursement - HomeStart Finance 1,500 1,331
Tax Equivalent Regime Reimbursement - SAHT 118,879 103,276
State Housing Assistance Funds 35,626 61,473

Total South Australian Government Appropriations 594,325 571,230



16.2 Grants from South Australian Government Agencies 2006 2005
$'000 $'000

Community Development Fund 3,400 3,400

Department of Treasury and Finance - Contingency Funds 9,396 4,525

TVSP Recoveries 1,265 -

Social Inclusion 5,304 2,882

Other 11,281 8,746

Total Grants from South Australian Government Agencies 30,646 19,553

Total Revenue from South Australian Government 624,971 590,783

Payments to SA Government
There have been no payments to SA Government under the Cash Alignment Policy for the 2005-06 financial
year relating to activities controlled by the Department. Cash of $13.997 million relating to Administered Items
was transferred to the Consolidated Account.

17 Unexpended Funding Commitments
The Department is engaged in a variety of funding programs involving State and Commonwealth sources who
provide monies to the Department on the premise that these funds are expended in a manner consistent with
the terms of the program. As at 30 June 2006 the Department had outstanding funding commitments to the
following programs:

2006 2005
$'000 $'000

Social Inclusion Initiatives - 148

CIRC Special Education Funding - 95

Dry Zone & Inner City Strategy - Inner Indigenous Client Strategies - 48

Keeping Them Safe - Early Intervention Support for High Risk Families - 550

Indigenous Family Tier 3 Program - 120

Secure Care Development Project - 68

Home and Community Care Program 716 2,386

DVA Veteran Home Care Program - 2,282

Moving Ahead - 95

African Communities Innovation Project - 45

Refugee Minors Resettlement Program - Unaccompanied Minors - 160

ILC Disability Equipment Waiting List - 2,600

CSHA Projects 7,487 7,648

AP Lands Bus Service - 100

Parenting Assessment Program - 50

Panyappi Program - 49

Child Death and Serious Injury Committee - 20

Office for the Guardian Fitout - 18

Supported Accommodation Assistance Program 173 2,496

Community Care Innovation Fund 2,229 -

Aged Care Assessment Program 60 -

Positive Ageing Grants 200 -

Financial Counselling - Gamblers Rehabilitation 194 -

Unspent APY Lands Funding from External Agencies 134 -

Total operating 11,193 18,978
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Strathmont Centre 971 -

Youth Training Centre Sustainment 452 -

CYFS Accommodation & Security - 241

SACOSS Children's Facility - 500

CYFS Case Management System - 498

Additional Group Homes - 1,520

Child Protection Review - Staff Accommodation - 966

CYFS Adelaide Office Accommodation - 970

Total capital 1,423 4,695

Total Unexpended Funding Commitments 12,616 23,673

18 Cash and Cash Equivalents
2006 2005
$'000 $'000

Special Deposit Account with the Treasurer 23,632 18,369

Advance Account 304 304

Other Deposits 1 -

Cash on Hand 2 2

Total Cash and Cash Equivalents 23,939 18,675

Special Deposit Account with the Treasurer 

There has been no reduction in the level of cash controlled by the Department as a result of the cash alignment
policy. Cash of $13.997 million relating to Administered Items was transferred to the Consolidated Account.

19 Receivables
Current 2006 2005

$'000 $'000
Debtors 6,996 2,582

Less: Provision for Doubtful Debts (101) (468)

Disability Health Service Budget Over-Runs 3,242 237

Employee Related Services Recoverable 11,178 9,703

Interest 267 386

Overpaid Salaries 108 109

Sundry 58 65

Goods and Services Tax Receivable 8,221 4,794

Total Current Receivables 29,969 17,408

Non-Current
Sundry 181 212

Less: Provision for Doubtful Debts - -

Total Non-Current Receivables 181 212

Total Receivables 30,150 17,620
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Plant and Equipment
Computing Equipment at Cost (Deemed Fair Value) 168 142

Less: Accumulated Depreciation - Computing Equipment at Cost 97 122

Other Plant and Equipment at Cost (Deemed Fair Value) 1,559 1,089

Less: Accumulated Depreciation - Other Plant and Equipment at Cost 874 663

21B Total Plant and Equipment 756 446

Total Property, Plant and Equipment 104,067 110,349

21A Reconciliation of Property and Leasehold Improvements
The following table shows the movement of Land, Buildings and Improvments, and Leasehold Improvements
during 2005-06.

Vacant Site Vacant Buildings Lease Total
Land Land Buildings and hold Property

Improve Improve and
ments ments Leasehold

Improve
ments

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Carrying amount at 4,818 65,882 3,036 34,137 2,030 109,903
the beginning of the year

Purchases - - - - - -

Assets Received for Nil Consideration - 325 - 167 - 492

Disposals - - - - - -

Revaluation Increment/(Decrement) (458) (1,841) - (2,281) - (4,580)

Depreciation and Amortisation 
for the year - - - (1,595) (445) (2,040)

Acquisition/(Disposal) through 
Administrative Restructure - - - - - -

Transfers to or from Other Classes - 1,550 (3,036) 1,486 (33) (33)

Transfers from Works in Progress - - - - 52 52

Other Movements - - - - (483) (483)

Carrying Amount at 30 June 2006 4,360 65,916 - 31,914 1,121 103,311

21B Reconciliation of Plant and Equipment
The following table shows the movement of Plant and Equipment during 2005-06

Computing Other Plant Total Plant and
Equipment and Equipment Equipment

$'000 $'000 $'000

Carrying amount at the beginning of the year 20 426 446

Purchases 69 154 223

Assets Received for Nil Consideration - 87 87

Disposals - - -

Revaluation Increment/(Decrement) - - -

Depreciation and Amortisation for the year (18) (88) (106)

Acquisition / (Disposal) through 
Administrative Restructure - (19) (19)

Transfers to or from Other Classes - 33 33

Transfers from Works in Progress - 95 95

Other Movements - (3) (3)

Carrying Amount at 30 June 2006 71 685 756
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Government/Non Government Receivables 2006 2005
Receivables from SA Government Entities $'000 $'000
Debtors 5,047 1,208

Less: Provision for Doubtful Debts (79) (446)

Disability Health Service Budget Over-Runs 3,242 237

Employee Related Services Recoverable 11,178 9,703

Interest 267 386

Goods and Services Tax Receivable from members in the Group 8,221 4,794

Total Receivables - SA Government 27,876 15,882

Receivables from Non SA Government Entities
Debtors 1,949 1,374

Less: Provision for Doubtful Debts (22) (22)

Overpaid Salaries 108 109

Sundry 239 277

Total Receivables - Non SA Government 2,274 1,738

Total Receivables 30,150 17,620

20 Inventories
2006 2005

$'000 $'000
Stores 35 50

Total Inventories 35 50

21 Property, Plant and Equipment
2006 2005

$'000 $'000
Land, Buildings and Improvements

Vacant Land (Fair Value) 4,360 4,818

Site Land (Fair Value) 65,916 65,882

Vacant Buildings (Fair Value) - 3,036

Less: Accumulated Depreciation - Vacant Buildings - -

Buildings and Improvements (Fair Value) 43,316 70,648

Less: Accumulated Depreciation - Buildings and Improvements 11,402 36,511

Total Land, Buildings and Improvements 102,190 107,873

Leasehold Improvements
Leasehold Improvements at Cost (Deemed Fair Value) 6,671 7,135

Less: Accumulated Amortisation - Leasehold Improvements 5,550 5,105

Total Leasehold Improvements 1,121 2,030

21A Total Property and Leasehold Improvements 103,311 109,903
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22 Capital Works in Progress
Buildings and Improvements in Progress at Cost ( Deemed Fair Value) 3,741 1,314

Total Capital Works in Progress 3,741 1,314

23 Other Assets
Current 2006 2005

$'000 $'000
Prepayments 488 492

Other - -

Total Current Other Assets - SA Government 488 492

Non-Current
Prepayments 157 -

Total Non-Current Other Assets - SA Government 157 -

Total Other Assets 645 492

24 Payables
Current 2006 2005

$'000 $'000
Creditors 16,895 5,833

Disability Health Service Workers Compensation 1,067 1,189

Disability Health Service Budget Under-Runs - 90

Grants to Non-Government Organisations - 1,621

Grants to SAHT - Tax Equivalent Regime 72 5,380

Other Accrued Expenses 1,239 157

Employee Benefit On-Costs 3,036 2,872

Other 239 -

Total Current Payables 22,548 17,142

Non-Current
Disability Health Service Workers Compensation 2,543 2,806

Grants to Non-Government Organisations 797 849

Employee Benefit On-Costs 2,409 3,820

Total Non-Current Payables 5,749 7,475

Total Payables - Non SA Government 28,297 24,617

Government/Non Government Payables 2006 2005
Payables to SA Government Entities $'000 $'000
Creditors 7,137 2,385

Disability Health Service Workers Compensation 3,610 3,995

Disability Health Service Budget Under-Runs - 90

Grants to SAHT - Tax Equivalent Regime 72 5,380

Other Accrued Expenses 388 -

Employee Benefit On-Costs 5,445 6,692

Total Payables - SA Government 16,652 18,542

Payables to Non SA Government Entities
Creditors 9,758 3,448

Grants to Non-Government Organisations 797 2,470

Other Accrued Expenses 851 157

Other 239 -

Total Payable - Non SA Government 11,645 6,075

Total Payables 28,297 24,617
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25 Employee Benefits
Current 2006 2005

$'000 $'000
Annual Leave 13,096 10,162

Long Service Leave 6,684 5,200

Accrued Salaries and Wages 3,140 2,214

Other 335 2

Total Current Employee Benefits 23,255 17,578

Non-Current
Long Service Leave 25,769 23,837

Other 57 31

Total Non-Current Employee Benefits 25,826 23,868

Total Employee Benefits 49,081 41,446

The total current and non-current employee liabilities (i.e. aggregate employee liabilities plus related on-costs) for
2006 is $26,291 and $28,235 respectively.

Costs that are a consequence of employing employees, but which are not employee benefits, such as payroll tax
and superannuation on-costs, are recognised as liabilities and expenses when the employee benefits to which
they relate are recognised. These employee benefit on-costs are recognised as Payables in Note 24 as they do
not accrue to employees.

26 Borrowings
Non-Current 2006 2005
Advance-Treasury Imprest Account 285 -

Total Non-Current Borrowings - SA Government 285 -

Total Borrowings 285 -

27 Provisions
Current 2006 2005

$'000 $'000
Insurance 27.1 272 -

Workers Compensation 27.2 2,295 2,593

Other - 152

Total Current Provisions 2,567 2,745

Non-Current
Insurance 27.1 551 844

Workers Compensation 27.2 6,171 6,484

Total Non-Current Provisions 6,722 7,328

Total Provisions 9,289 10,073

A liability has been reported to reflect unsettled workers compensation claims. The workers compensation
provision is based on an actuarial assessment performed by the Public Sector Occupational Health and Injury
Management Branch of the Department of Administrative and Information Services.
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27.1 Reconciliation of Insurance
The following table shows the movement of Insurance during 2005-06

Public Property Total
Liability

$'000 $'000 $'000

Carrying Amount at beginning of financial year 740 104 844

Increase to Provision due to Revision of Estimates 341 11 352

Reduction due to Payments (73) (265) (338)

Net Revision of Estimates (228) 193 (35)

Carrying Amount at 30 June 2006 780 43 823

The following table shows the movement of Insurance during 2004-05

Public Property Total
Liability

$'000 $'000 $'000

Transfers in at 1 July 2004 169 16 185

Increase to Provision due to Revision of Estimates 5,324 1,416 6,740

Reduction due to Payments (38) (131) (169)

Net Revision of Estimates (4,715) (1,197) (5,912)

Carrying Amount at 30 June 2005 740 104 844

27.2 Reconciliation of Workers Compensation
The following table shows the movement of Workers Compensation during 2005-06

2006
$'000

Carrying Amount at beginning of financial year 9,077
Increase to Provision due to Revision of Estimates 3,179
Reduction due to Payments (3,790)

Carrying Amount at 30 June 2006 8,466

The following table shows the movement of Workers Compensation during 2004-05

2005
$'000

Carrying Amount at 1 July 2004 -

Transfers in 1 July 8,826

Increase to Provision due to Revision of Estimates 3,494

Reduction due to Payments (3,243)

Carrying Amount at 30 June 2005 9,077

28 Other Liabilities
2006 2005

Current $'000 $'000
Unclaimed Monies 5 4

Unearned Revenue 84 20

Other - 922

Total Current Other Liabilities - SA Government 89 946

Total Other Liabilities 89 946
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29 Equity
2006 2005
$'000 $'000

Contributed Capital 10,763 -

Retained Earnings 51,340 55,688

Asset Revaluation Reserve 13,433 15,730

Total Equity 75,536 71,418

30 Financial Instruments
(a) Terms, Conditions and Accounting Policies
Financial Assets
Cash deposits are recognised at their nominal amounts and interest is credited to revenue as it accrues. The
Department invests funds with the Treasurer at call. Interest is earned on the average monthly balance at rates
based on the Department of Treasury and Finance 90 day bank bill rate and interest is paid at the end of each
quarter.
Trade account receivables are generally settled within 30 days, are carried at amounts due and credit terms are
net 30 days. A provision is raised for any doubtful debts based on a review of all outstanding amounts at
balance date and bad debts are written off in the period in which they are identified.
The Department has not entered any loan arrangements.

Financial Liabilities
Trade accounts payable, including accruals not yet billed, are recognised when the Department becomes obliged
to make future payments as a result of a purchase of assets or goods and services at their nominal amounts.
Trade accounts payable are generally settled within 30 days.
The Department of Treasury and Finance has advanced the Department funds for the purpose of an Imprest
Account. The Department has not entered into any other arrangements that are Borrowings.

(b) Interest Rate Risk Exposure
Weighted Fixed Interest Rate

2006 Average Floating 1 Year 1 to 5 More Non Total
Effective Interest or less Years Than Interest

Rate Rate 5 Years Bearing
% $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Financial Assets
Cash and Deposits 5.37% 23,939 - - - - 23,939

Disability Health Service 
Budget Over-Runs N/A - - - - 3,242 3,242

Debtors N/A - - - - 26,908 26,908

23,939 - - - 30,150 54,089

Financial Liabilities
Creditors and Accruals N/A - - - - 24,687 24,687
Borrowings N/A - - - - 285 285
Disability Health Service 
Budget Under-Runs N/A - - - - - -
Disability Health Service 
Workers Compensation N/A - - - - 3,610 3,610

- - - - 28,582 28,582
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2005 Weighted Fixed Interest Rate

Average Floating 1 Year 1 to 5 More Non Total
Effective Interest or less Years Than Interest

Rate Rate 5 Years Bearing
% $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Financial Assets
Cash and Deposits 5.16% 18,675 - - - - 18,675

Disability Health Service 
Budget Over-Runs N/A - - - - 237 237

Debtors N/A - - - - 17,383 17,383

18,675 - - - 17,620 36,295

Financial Liabilities
Creditors and Accruals N/A - - - - 20,532 20,532

Disability Health Service 
Budget Under-Runs N/A - - - - 90 90

Disability Health Service 
Workers Compensation N/A - - - - 3,995 3,995

- - - - 24,617 24,617

(c) Foreign Exchange Risk
The Department has not entered into any foreign exchange contracts.

(d) Credit risk
Credit risk represents the loss that would be recognised if counter parties failed to perform as contracted. The
credit risk on the Department's financial assets which have been recognised in the Balance Sheet, is the carrying
amount, net of any provision for doubtful debts.

31 Commitments

(a) Capital Commitments
Capital expenditure contracted for by the Department at the reporting date, but not recognised as liabilities in
the financial report, are payable as follows:

2006 2005
$'000 $'000

Within one year 555 860

Later than One Year but not Later than Five Years - -

Later than Five Years - -

Total Capital Commitments (Including GST) 555 860

Included in Capital expenditure commitments above is $50,410 (2004-05 $82,000) which is the GST component
of the Capital expenditure commitments.

(b) Other Commitments
Capital expenditure contracted for by the Department on behalf of Disability Health Units, at the reporting date
but not recognised as liabilities in the financial report, are payable as follows:

2006 2005
$'000 $'000

Not Later than One Year 2,416 -

Later than One Year but not Later than Five Years - -

Later than Five Years - -

Total Other Commitments (Including GST) 2,416 -
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Included in Other Commitments expenditure above is $219,676 (2004-05 $0) which is the GST component of
the Other expenditure commitments.
The Department also has commitments to provide funding to various non-government organisations in
accordance with negotiated service agreements.

(c) Operating Lease Commitments
Commitments under non-cancellable operating leases  at the reporting date not recognised as liabilities in the
financial report, are payable as follows:

2006 2005
$'000 $'000

Not Later than One Year 12,799 7,024

Later than One Year but not Later than Five Years 38,506 26,131

Later than Five Years - 170

Total Operating Lease Commitments (Including GST) 51,305 33,325

Included in the operating lease commitments above is $4.664 million (2004-05 $1.915 million) which is the GST
component of the operating lease payments.

The Department has many lease agreements. These leases are for administrative purposes and vary in length.
Lease payments are monthly and predominately paid in advance. Each lease agreement has renewal options for
a determined period, exercisable by both the lessor and lessee.

32 Net Revenues From Restructure 

Net Revenues From Restructure for 2005-06
Transfers out of the Department
On 23 March 2006, the Governor proclaimed the transfer of the employees of the Office for Youth from the
Department for Families and Communities (DFC) to the Department of Further Education, Employment, Science
and Technology (DFEEST). It is taken that the proclamation also means the transfer of the assets and liabilities of
OFY to DFEEST. In accordance with APFII General Purpose Financial Reporting Framework, for financial accounting
and reporting purposes the transfer is taken to occur 1 April 2006.

2006 2006
Office for Total

Youth

Assets: $'000 $'000
Current Assets - -

Non-Current Assets 19 19

Total Assets 19 19

Liabilities:
Current Liabilities 354 354

Non-Current Liabilities - -

Total Liabilities 354 354

NET ASSETS (335) (335)

Increase in Net Assets due to Administrative Restructure in 2006 The net revenues (expenses) relating to the
restructure of administrative arrangements recognised in the Income Statement are the following:

2006 2006
Office for Total

Youth

$'000 $'000

Net Revenue From Restructure 335 335
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Net Revenues From Restructure for 2004-05
Transfers to the Department
On 5 March 2004, the Governor established the Department for Families and Communities (the Department)
and declared that for financial accounting and reporting purposes the establishment of the Department may be
taken to occur on 1 July 2004. The assets and liabilities were transferred from the Department of Health to the
Department effective 1 July 2004. Refer Note 1.2 
On 11 March 2004, the division of the Department of Administrative and Information Services known as the
Department of Aboriginal Affairs and Reconciliation (DAARE) transferred to the Department. For financial
accounting and reporting purposes the transfer was taken to occur on 1 July 2004.

In respect of the activities gained, the following assets and liabilities were transferred into the Department:

2005 2005 2005
DH DAARE Total

Assets:$'000 $'000 $'000
Current Assets 37,229 9,758 46,987

Non-Current Assets 97,765 868 98,633

Total Assets 134,994 10,626 145,620

Liabilities:
Current Liabilities 26,380 1,385 27,765

Non-Current Liabilities 36,108 - 36,108

Total Liabilities 62,488 1,385 63,873

NET ASSETS 72,506 9,241 81,747

Transfers out of the Department

On 14 October 2004, the Governor proclaimed the transfer of the employees of DAARE from the Department to
the Department of Premier and Cabinet (DPC). It is taken that the proclamation also means the transfer of the
assets and liabilities of DAARE to DPC. In accordance with the former Accounting Policy Statement (APS)16, for
financial accounting and reporting purposes the transfer was taken to occur on 31 October 2004.

In respect of the activity relinquished, the following assets and liabilities were transferred out of the Department:

2005 2005
DAARE Total

Assets: $'000 $'000
Current Assets 10,473 10,473

Non-Current Assets 820 820

Total Assets 11,293 11,293

Liabilities:
Current Liabilities 1,002 1,002

Non-Current Liabilities - -

Total Liabilities 1,002 1,002

NET ASSETS 10,291 10,291

Increase in Net Assets due to Administrative Restructure 
in 2005 The net revenues (expenses) relating to the 
restructure of administrative arrangements recognised 
in the Income Statement are the following:

2005
DH DAARE Total

$'000 $'000 $'000

Net Revenue From Restructure 72,506 (1,050) 71,456
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33 Contingent Assets and Liabilities
The Department does not have any known contingent liabilities.

34 Cash Flow Reconciliations
2006 2005
$'000 $'000

Reconciliation of Cash - at year end as per

Cash Flow Statement 23,939 18,675

Balance Sheet 23,939 18,675

- -

Reconciliation of Net Cash Provided By/(Used In) 
Operating Activities to Net Cost of Providing Services

Net Cash Provided By/ (Used In) Operating Activities (3,187) (9,545)

South Australian Government Appropriations (594,325) (571,230)

Grants from South Australian Government Agencies (30,646) (19,553)

(628,158) (600,328)

Add/Less non cash items

Depreciation and Amortisation (2,146) (1,905)

Assets Transferred (3) (840)

Assets Received For Nil Consideration 579 505

Bad and Doubtful Debts 367 (468)

Revaluation Increments/Decrements (2,281) (358)

Prior Period Adjustment TER 194 -

Net Gain From Disposal of Non Current Assets - 7

Changes in Assets and Liabilities
Increase/(Decrease) in Receivables 12,163 10,727

Increase/(Decrease) in Other Assets 138 318

Decrease/(Increase) in Payables (3,893) (6,037)

Decrease/(Increase) in Employee Benefits (7,186) (7,399)

Decrease/(Increase) in Borrowings (285) -

Decrease/(Increase) in Other Liabilities 857 (773)

Net Cost of Providing Services (629,654) (606,551)

35 Events After Balance Date

The Intellectual Disability Services Council (IDSC) and the Independent Living Centre (ILC) were incorporated
under the South Australian Health Commission Act 1976. Effective 1 July 2004, the Minister of Health
delegated responsibility for IDSC and ILC to the Minister for Disability. On 29th June 2006 the Governor
proclaimed to dissolve IDSC and ILC in association with reforms to the governance arrangements within the
South Australian Government with respect to the management of the provision of disability services.  Effective 1
July 2006, the Boards of IDSC and ILC dissolved and the assets and liabilities of IDSC and ILC were transferred
or assigned or were vested in the Minister for Disability.

The Minister for Housing has announced the introduction of the Government's Housing Reform and the
restructure of the South Australian Housing system. To faciliate the implementation of the Government's
housing initiatives, prior to the introduction by the Government of legislative reforms later in 2006-07, the
Board of the South Australian Housing Trust (SAHT) has entered into a service level agreement with the
Department for the Department to provide housing and asset services on behalf of the SAHT, effective from 1
July 2006.
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Administered items income statement for the year ended 30 June 2006

2006 2005

Administered Income Note $000 $'000

Commonwealth Grants 4 - -

Grants and Contributions 9,732 9,890

Revenues from Rent,Fees and Charges" 123 169

Interest 146 203

Other Income 284 34

Total 10,285 10,296

Revenues from/ Payments to SA Government

Revenues from SA Government 4.1 119,909 150,789

Payment to SA Government under 
Cash Alignment Policy 2, 4.2 (13,997) -

Total Revenues from/Payments to SA Government 105,912 150,789

Total Administered Income 116,197 161,085

Administered Expenses

Employee Benefit Costs 264 274

Supplies and Services 6 1,580 2,374

Grants, Subsidies and Client Payments 5 124,306 158,160

Total Administered Expenses 126,150 160,808

Net (Deficit)/Surplus (9,953) 277

All changes in Equity are attributable to the SA Government as Owner

The accompanying notes form part of these statements

Financial statements

36 Financial Statements for Administered Funds

The Revenues, Expenditures, Assets and Liabilities that were administered but not controlled by the Department
have not been included in the financial statements. These administered transactions and balances are regarded
as significant in relation to the Department's overall financial performance and in accordance the APF II, General
Purpose Financial Reporting Framework, separate consolidated administered financial statements and notes to
the accounts have been prepared.
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Administered Items statement of changes in equity For the year 
ended 30 June 2006

Asset
Contributed Revaluation Retained

Note Capital Reserve Earnings Total

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Balance at 1 July 2004 - - 31,169 31,169

Gain on revaluation of property 
during 2004-05 - - - -

Loss on revaluation of plant 
and equipment during 2004-05 - - - -

Transfers from Asset Revaluation - - - -

Net result after restructure for 2004-05 - - 277 277

Prior period adjustment - - - -

Balance at 30 June 2005 - - 31,446 31,446

Gain on revaluation of property 
during 2005-06 - - - -

Loss on revalution of plant and 
equipment during 2005-06 - - -

Transfers from Asset Revaluation - - - -

Net income/expense recognised 
directly in equity for 2005-06 - - -

Restructure - - (53) (53)

Net Result After Restructure for 2005-06 - - (9,953) (9,953)

Prior period adjustment - - - -

Total recognised income 
and expense for 2005-06 - - (10,006) (10,006)

Balance at 30 June 2006 - - 21,440 21,440

All changes in equity are attributable to the SA Government as Owner.

Administered items balance sheet as at 30 June 2006

Note 2006 2005
Current Assets $'000 $'000

Cash 7 21,194 58,998
Receivables 18 205
Other 1,810 1,766
Total Current Assets 23,022 60,969

Non-Current Assets
Property, Plant and Equipment - -
Total Non-Current Assets - -

Total Assets 23,022 60,969

Current Liabilities
Payables 1,558 29,317
Overdraft 18 205
Employee Benefits 4 -
Provisions 2 1
Total Current Liabilities 1,582 29,523

Non-Current Liabilities
Total Non-Current Liabilities - -

Total Liabilities 1,582 29,523

Net Assets 21,440 31,446

Equity
Retained Earnings 21,440 31,446
Asset Revaluation Reserve - -

Total Equity 21,440 31,446

The accompanying notes form part of these statements
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Administered items cash flow statement for the year ended 30 June 2006

Note 2006 2005
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES $'000 $'000

Cash Outflows

Payments to SA Government under Cash Alignment Policy (13,997) -

Employee Benefit Payments (262) (274)

Concessions (135,825) (115,423)

Other grants, subsidies and client payments (16,476) (16,506)

Supplies and Services (1,385) (1,740)

Other Payments - -

Total Cash Outflows (167,945) (133,943)

Cash Inflows

Receipts from SA Government 119,909 150,789

Taxes, Fees and charges 78 150

Grants and Contributions 9,747 9,702

Interest Received 146 92

Other Receipts 499 53

Total Cash Inflows 130,379 160,786

NET CASH INFLOWS/(OUTFLOWS) OPERATING ACTIVITIES 7 (37,566) 26,843

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of property, plant and equipment - -

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment - -

NET CASH INFLOWS/(OUTFLOWS) FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES - -

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Restructuring (53) 952

Cash Overdraft (185) 188

NET CASH INFLOWS/(OUTFLOWS) FINANCING ACTIVITIES (238) 1,140

Net (Decrease)/Increase in Cash Held (37,804) 27,983

Cash at the beginning of the Financial Year 58,998 31,015

Cash at the end of the Financial Year 21,194 58,998

The accompanying notes form part of these statements

Notes to administered items financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2006

1 Accounting Policies
The accounting policies pertaining to the administered items for the Department are contained in Note 2
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies for the Department.

2 Cash Alignment Policy
An amount of $13.997 million was returned to consolidated account under the Cash Alignment Policy. Of the
amount transferred $13.407 million related to Concessions and $0.589 million related to the Alternative Care
Fund.

3 Programs of administered items.

The administered items do not fall within specific programs.

• Concessions

• Minister's Salary

• Supported Residential Facility Fund

• Gamblers Rehabilitation

• Charitable and Social Welfare

• Duke of Edinburgh Trust *

• CRC Trust

• Family Maintenance Orders

• Alternative Care Fund

• Community Service Obligations

* Effective 1 April 2006, (transferred to Department for Further Educaction, Employment , Science and Technology)

4 Revenue from/ Payments to SA Government
4.1 Revenue from SA Government 2006 2005

$'000 $'000
Concessions 110,892 141,772

Community Service Obligations 9,017 9,017

Total Revenue from SA Government 119,909 150,789

4.2 Payments to SA Government 2006 2005
$'000 $'000

Concessions (Cash Alignment Policy transfer) (13,407) -

Alternative Care Fund (Cash Alignment Policy transfer) (590) -

Total Payments to SA Government (13,997) -

5 Grants, Subsidies and Client Payments
2006 2005
$'000 $'000

Gamblers Rehabiliation 3,501 3,313

Concessions 107,830 141,654

Community Service Obligations 9,017 9,017

Duke of Edinburgh 7 -

Charitable & Social Welfare 3,951 4,176

Total Grants, Subsidies and Client Payments 124,306 158,160
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6 Consultancies

The number and dollar amount of Consultancies paid/payable (included in supplies and services) that fell within
the following band:

2006 2005
No $'000 No $'000

Below $10,000 1 5 - - 

Between $10,000 and $50,000 - - - - 

Above $50,000 - - - -

Total Paid/Payable to the Consultants Engaged 1 5 - -

7 Cash Flow Reconciliations
2006 2005

$'000 $'000
Reconciliation of Cash - at year end as per:
Cash Flow Statement 21,194 58,998

Balance Sheet 21,194 58,998

- - 

Reconciliation of Net Cash Inflows/(Outflows) from 
Operating Activities to Net (Deficit)/Surplus
Net Cash Inflows / (Outflows) from Operating Activities (37,566) 26,843 

Add/Less non cash items
Depreciation and Amortisation - - 

Assets Transferred for Nil Consideration - - 

Assets Received for Nil Consideration - - 

First Time Recognition - - 

Gain on Sale of Assets - - 

Changes in Assets and Liabilities
Increase/(Decrease) in Receivables (187) 299 

Increase/(Decrease) in Other Assets 45 1,766 

Decrease/(Increase) in Payables 27,759 (29,818)

Decrease/(Increase) in Employee Benefits (4) 3

Decrease/(Increase) in Other Liabilities -   1,184

Net (Deficit)/Surplus (9,953) 277

N/A 24,891 N/A

OBJECTIVE 1 - AFFORDABLE HOUSING CHOICES AND COMMUNITIES THAT PROSPER
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Affordable Housing 
Choices and Communities 
that Prosper
% of partner investment 
and debt finance into 
affordable housing supply 1.

Affordable Homes
Number of councils 
including affordable 
housing policy modules 
in development plans 2.

Affordable Homes
% of housing outcomes 
under NGO management 3.

Affordable Homes (Rental)
Number of affordable rental 
properties that Affordable 
Housing Innovations Unit 
has generated 4.

Affordable Homes (Rental)
Number of households 
provided with affordable 
social housing through 
a rent subsidy 5.

Affordable Homes (Rental)
Number of households 
approved for financial 
assistance to access
affordable private rental 
accommodation 6.

50.0% 53.5% N/A

0 0 N/A

(a) 13.8% N/A

129 141 N/A

N/A 38,439 N/A
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OBJECTIVE 1 - AFFORDABLE HOUSING CHOICES AND COMMUNITIES THAT PROSPER
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Aboriginal and Torres 
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(a) 2005-06 actual establishes baseline for future reporting.

(b) Target by 30 June 2007.

(c) Preliminary figure subject to final end of year data download.

1 Excludes feasibility costs unless capitalised into project and calculated as equity.

2 Excludes the number of councils in the process of amending development plans.

3 Excludes Supported Residential Facilities.

4 Affordable Rental Properties: Properties subject to an Affordable Housing Innovations Program Facilitation Agreement under which affordable rental outcomes are specified.

5 Households: Refers to all people living with the head tenant.

Rent Subsidy: Refers to a reduced rent received by eligible tenants who are on low incomes.

6 Financial Assistance: Refers to bond guarantees, rent in advance and rent in arrears.

7 Low Income: Less than or equal to 79% of Average Weekly Earnings (as reported by ABS).
Moderate Income: Between 80% and 120% of Average Weekly Earnings (as reported by ABS).

8 Eligible Households: Low and moderate income earners (refer above).
Successful: Combination of tenants entering the property lease at an affordable rent (less than or equal to 30% rent to income), and not being evicted.

9 Developed: Drafted for the approval of Housing Executive Committee.
Implemented: Endorsed by Housing Executive Committee.

10 5 Star Energy Rating: As defined in the Australian Building Codes.
Constructed: Completed and available for tenancy.

11 Constructed: Completed and available for tenancy.

12 Social Rental Housing: Public, Community and Aboriginal Housing.

13 Assisted into Private Rental: Provided assistance through Private Rental Assistance Program (bond assistance; rent in advance/arrears) and Private Rental Liaison
Office where assistance results in a lease agreement.

OBJECTIVE 1 - AFFORDABLE HOUSING CHOICES AND COMMUNITIES THAT PROSPER

KPI Target Actual Bench Graph
(Jun 06) (Jun 06) Mark

(a) 1,366 N/A

65 85 N/A

(a) 8.2% N/A
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OBJECTIVE 2 - HIGH NEED HOUSING

KPI Target Actual Bench Graph
(Jun 06) (Jun 06) Mark
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(a) 40.4% N/A

(b) 49.0% N/A

(b) 21.9% N/A

100 64 (c) N/A

N/A (d) 101 N/A

Appendix - Balanced scorecard

OBJECTIVE 2 - HIGH NEED HOUSING

KPI Target Actual Bench Graph
(Jun 06) (Jun 06) Mark
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(a) This figure had no target set in 2005-06 as it has previously only been reported in the Commonwealth-State Housing Agreement Bilateral Annual Report 

(Report on Government Services).

(b) In the DFC Portfolio Statements, the combined allocation target for Cat 1 & 2 is 65%, but this has not been further defined.

(c) The Target for the movement of people sleeping rough being supported into long-term housing was set with the assumption that the Street to Home Project would
be fully operational this financial year, whereas the Project has had continuing issues establishing links with support services for rough sleepers. This is unlikely to
affect next year's services, as the Project is now considered fully operational.

(d) The Private Rental Liaison Officers (PRLO) and Supported Tenancy Programs have not previously had set targets, beyond recommended levels of assistance in
percentages. An evaluation of the PRLO project is expected to be completed in August 06. An expectation out of the evaluation is that target figures for the project
will be set to cover Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander and non- Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander clients using the service.

(e) The number of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander South Australians assisted by the Private Rental Liaison Officers Program exceeded its target significantly,
primarily due to the expansion into regional areas with higher density Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander populations.

(f) The Supported Tenancy Scheme does not have targets as it is reliant on the availability of Housing SA regional stock and applications from non-government agencies
for properties that meet their service and funding requirements.

(g) Crisis Accommodation Program expenditure does not have targets set as it is reliant on the allocation of funds from the Australian Government, application for crisis
housing from non-government agencies and Ministerial approval for priority crisis projects.

1 Greatest Need Allocation: Where the tenant was homeless, their life or safety was at risk in their accommodation, their health condition was aggravated by their
housing, their housing was inappropriate to their needs, &/or they had very high rental housing costs. Excludes Special Needs Housing Allocations.

2 Category One: Applicants in urgent need of housing. Excludes Special Needs Housing Allocations.

3 Category Two: Applicants who have a high housing need and are unable to access or maintain other long-term housing. Excludes Special Needs Housing
Allocations.

4 People Sleeping Rough: People living on the streets, in squats or cars. Excludes rough sleepers outside the inner city.

5 Assumes that Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander clients who receive assistance through the Private Rental Liaison Program may not have been able to secure private
rental accommodation without such assistance.

6 Assumes that Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander clients who receive assistance through the Supported Tenancy Program may not have been able to secure private
rental accommodation without such assistance.

7 Supported Tenancy Scheme: Non-profit incorporated organisations or government departments lease properties from Housing SA to provide emergency 
or short/medium term supported transitional accommodation for people in acute crisis or who are at risk of becoming homeless.

8 The prime objective of the Crisis Accommodation Program is to fund infrastructure involving the construction, acquisition and upgrading of crisis accommodation
and related expenditure for the homeless and those at risk of homelessness. Excludes recurrent expenditure, administration and non-capital costs.

Appendix - Balanced scorecard1
OBJECTIVE 3 - INDEPENDENCE AND COMMUNITY CONNECTION

KPI Target Actual Bench Graph
(Jun 06) (Jun 06) Mark
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-7.7% -4.5% N/A

5.8% 2.1% N/A

1.0% (a) 1.0% (a) N/A

88,590 (b) N/A

210 213 N/A

30 30 N/A



155154

Appendix - Balanced scorecard1

Volunteers
% of DFC volunteers 
relative to total DFC 
workforce.

OBJECTIVE 3 - INDEPENDENCE AND COMMUNITY CONNECTION

KPI Target Actual Bench Graph
(Jun 06) (Jun 06) Mark

Actual
0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

(a) Estimated Target and Actual.

(b) Reporting delayed - awaiting release of official data.

1 Funded Places: The number of places funded under the Commonwealth, State/Territory Disability Agreement in accommodation support using the NMDS codes ie.
Institutions = service type 1.01, 1.02 & 1.03; community accommodation = 1.04.

2 Services for In-Home Support & Alternative Care: Services for clients provided under NMDS service types 1.05 to 1.08.

3 HACC Support: Includes personal care, assistance with transport and living at home.

N/A 17.0% N/A

Appendix - Balanced scorecard1
OBJECTIVE 4 - KEEPING THEM SAFE

KPI Target Actual Bench Graph
(Jun 06) (Jun 06) Mark
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OBJECTIVE 4 - KEEPING THEM SAFE

KPI Target Actual Bench Graph
(Jun 06) (Jun 06) Mark
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Appendix - Balanced scorecard1
1 Substantiation: A child protection notification made to Families SA which is investigated and it is concluded that there was reasonable cause to believe that the

child had been, was being or was likely to be abused or neglected or otherwise harmed. Excludes substantiations that involve staff members, foster carers and
volunteers that are investigated by the Special Investigations Unit.

2 Legislative Amendments: Amendments to the Children's Protection Act, 1993 (Keeping Them safe).

3 Excludes Keeping Them Safe initiatives implemented by Families SA in previous financial years and Keeping Them Safe initiatives implemented by other 
government agencies.

4 Child Protection notifications: A report by a mandated notifier or a community member alleging that a child has been or is being, or is at risk of being abused 
or neglected. Families SA has statutory responsibility to receive and assess child protection notifications.

5 Financial Counselling: Individuals and families who receive counselling to assist the sustained and independent management of their household finances.

6 Guardianship of the Minister: Where the Minister has duty of care for clients until 18 years old. Excludes youth over 18 years of age and Children/Youth who have
been or are under the Guardianship of the Minister for less than 12 months.

7 Alternative Care: A system involving a range of services for children, young people and families, supplementing the care provided by families or at times
substituting for that care. The services provided included intensive family support services and alternative care placements.

8 Juvenile Offending: Young people between the ages of 10 and 18 years who break the law. Includes all juvenile sentences excepting all remand and bail orders.

9 Aboriginal Child Placement Principle: An Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander child who is being placed in alternative care must be placed with the first in order of
priority of the following persons who is available to provide the care:

(i) a member of the child's family, as determined by reference to the appropriate kinship rules;

(ii) a member of the child's community who has a relationship of responsibility for the child, as determined by reference to the appropriate traditional law 
or custom;

(iii) a member of the child's community, as determined by reference to the appropriate traditional law or custom;

(iv) a person with the same cultural background as the child;

(v) a non-Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander person who is able to ensure that the child maintains significant contact with the child's birth family, community 
and culture.
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Government
% of Portfolio and DFC
Scorecard KPIs achieved 
annually 1.

Achieving South Australia's 
Strategic Plan Targets
% of divisional and agency 
business plans that 
contribute to achieving 
targets of the South 
Australia's Strategic Plan.

Adoption and 
Implementation of 
Whole-of-Government
Strategies
% change in energy 
consumption.

Adoption and 
Implementation of 
Whole-of-Government
Strategies
% change in water 
consumption.

Adoption and 
Implementation of 
Whole-of-Government
Strategies
% change in waste 
consumption.

OBJECTIVE 5 - EFFECTIVE BUSINESS PRACTICES - GOVERNMENT

KPI Target Actual Bench Graph
(Jun 06) (Jun 06) Mark
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(a) Targets for 2006-07 will be set using the 2005-06 actuals as a baseline, hence no target for 2005-06.

(b) Target is 5% per financial year during 2006-10.

(c) Program commences 2006-07.

1 Excludes KPIs which do not have targets, actuals or both available. Also KPIs that appear in both the Portfolio Statements and DFC Scorecard are only included 
once to avoid duplication.

(a) 46.0% N/A

75.0% 78.3% N/A

5.0% (b) N/A (c) N/A

5.0% (b) N/A (c) N/A

5.0% (b) N/A (c) N/A

Appendix - Balanced scorecard1

Our People Development
% of staff who are satisfied 
working for DFC 1.

OBJECTIVE 5 - EFFECTIVE BUSINESS PRACTICES - OUR PEOPLE DEVELOPMENT

KPI Target Actual Bench Graph
(Jun 06) (Jun 06) Mark
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(a) 67.3% N/A

(a) 52.0% N/A

(a) 64.5% N/A

(a) 63.0% N/A

(a) 67.3% N/A



161160

1 Appendix - Balanced scorecard1

Helping our People 
through Change
% of staff who report 
leaders manage 
organisational change 
and continuous 
improvement well. Actual
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People
% of staff who report 
they receive regular 
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immediate manager for 
a job well done. Actual
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(a) The actuals shown are taken from a survey sent to all DFC staff. This is the first survey undertaken and as a result targets were not set for 2005-06. 
Targets for 2006-07 will be set using the results of the initial survey as a baseline.

1 Satisfaction: Comprises a range of factors incorporating safety, career opportunities, management effectiveness, inclusiveness, fair decision-making etc.

(a) 60.0% N/A

(a) 63.3% N/A

OBJECTIVE 5 - EFFECTIVE BUSINESS PRACTICES - OUR PEOPLE DEVELOPMENT

KPI Target Actual Bench Graph
(Jun 06) (Jun 06) Mark

Appendix - Balanced scorecard

Partner Performance
% of Non-Government 
Organisations engaged in 
the Service Excellence 
Framework or equivalent.

Compliance & Standards
% of all contracts for 
Goods and Services 
awarded within the across 
government average 
timeframe 1.

OBJECTIVE 5 - EFFECTIVE BUSINESS PRACTICES - PARTNERS

KPI Target Actual Bench Graph
(Jun 06) (Jun 06) Mark
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1 Contracts: Formal agreements entered into with external organisations following a public tender.
Government average timeframe: Average number of days across government and collated by the Department for Administrative and Information Services 
contract services.
Goods and services: All goods and services excluding community services.

60.0% 92.0% N/A

60.0% 85.0% N/A

60.0% 61.0% N/A
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Service Culture
% of staff who report they 
are supported to do their 
work.

OBJECTIVE 5 - EFFECTIVE BUSINESS PRACTICES - OUR CUSTOMERS

KPI Target Actual Bench Graph
(Jun 06) (Jun 06) Mark
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(a) The actuals shown are taken from a survey sent to all DFC staff. This is the first survey undertaken and as a result targets were not set for 2005-06. 
Targets for 2006-07 will be set using the results of the initial survey as a baseline.

(a) 76.0% N/A

Appendix - Balanced scorecard1

Business Capability
The Business Excellence self 
assessment score improves 
over time.

(a) The actuals shown are taken from a survey sent to all DFC staff. This is the first survey undertaken and as a result targets were not set for 2005-06. 
Targets for 2006-07 will be set using the results of the initial survey as a baseline.

1 Net cost of Services: Net cost of Services from Ordinary Activities adjusted for Provision for Doubtful Debts expense, revaluation of fixed assets, 
revaluations of Long Service Leave liability and net gain/loss from asset disposals.

OBJECTIVE 5 - EFFECTIVE BUSINESS PRACTICES - BUSINESS CAPABILITY

KPI Target Actual Bench Graph
(Jun 06) (Jun 06) Mark
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(a) 75.0% N/A

(a) 72.0% N/A

±2.0% -1.4% N/A

400 395 N/A



164

Appendix2

165

1 432

1

5

&

Special Investigation Unit

Manager
Steve Edgington

Foster Care Relations

Director
Carmel O'Loughlin

Chief Executive

Sue Vardon

Minister for the
Status of Women

Hon Jennifer Rankine MP

Families SA

Executive Director
Beth Dunning

Office for Women

Director
Sandy Pitcher

Risk Management and
Internal Audit

Director
Chris Firth

Recovery

Director
Ronnie Faggotter

Chief Executive's 
Office

Manager
Judy Davies

Disability Services SA

A/Executive Director
Lynn Young

Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander Services

Director
Chris Larkin

Volunteering

Director
Stephen Blight

Community Connect

Director
Leeanne Head

Office for the Ageing

Director
Anne Gale

Office for Disability and 
Client Services

Director
David Caudrey

= Connecting to the Future objective

Social Inclusion, 
Strategy and Research

Director
Liz Wilson

Organisational
Development

Director
Peter Bull

Financial Services

Director
Joe Ullianich

Chief Information
Officer

Phil Hogg

Housing Policy & Strategy

General Manager
Sue Crafter

Asset Services

General Manager
Malcolm Downie

Housing SA

General Manager
Helen Fulcher

HomeStart Finance

Chief Executive Officer
Gary Storkey

SA Housing Trust and SA
Affordable Housing Trust

General Manager
Philip Fagan-Schmidt

Office of the Guardian 
for Children and 

Young People

Guardian for Children and 
Young People
Pam Simmons

Deputy Chief Executive

Peter Smith

HomeStart Board

Minister for Families and Communities
Minister for Housing
Minister for Ageing

Minister for Disability

Hon Jay Weatherill MP

The Department for Families and Communities' new organisational structure 
as at 1 July 2006
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